

AN INVESTIGATION INTO THE EFFECT OF GLUCOSAMINE ON REPRODUCTIVE OUTCOMES IN THE MOUSE

Research Centre for Reproductive Health School of Paediatric and Reproductive Health University of Adelaide, Australia

May 2012

A thesis submitted to the University of Adelaide to fulfill the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Contents

1	.0 Chapter 1 14	
	1.1 Summary	15
	1.2 Hyperglycemia and pregnancy	16
	1.3 The effect of diabetes on oocyte and pre-implantation embryo development	17
	1.4 Distribution of GLUT transporters	19
	1.5 Metabolism of glucose in COCs and pre-implantation embryos	21
	1.6 Glucose Metabolic Pathways in COCs and Pre-implantation Embryos	23
	1.7 GlcN as a hyperglycemic mimetic	28
	1.8 GlcN entry into the cell	30
	1.9 Effects of GlcN on blood glucose and insulin levels	31
	1.10 Similarities and differences between the effects of GlcN and high glucose	35
	1.11 Effects of GlcN on reproductive outcomes	36
	1.12 Patterns of consumption of GlcN	37
	1.13 Trends in the utilization of other supplements	38
	1.14 Conclusion	39
	1.15 Hypotheses and aims	40
2	2.0 Chapter 2:	
	2.1 Summary	44
	2.2 Introduction	45
	2.3 Methods and Materials	47
	2.4 Statistical Analysis	52
	2.5 Results	53
	2.6 Discussion	59
	2.7 Conclusion	62
3	3.0 Chapter 3	
	3.1 Summary	64
	3.3 Methods and materials	66
	3.4 Statistical Analysis	70
	3.5 Results	70

3.6 Discussion	75
3.7 Conclusion	78
4.0 Chapter 4	79
4.1 Summary	80
4.2 Introduction	81
4.3 Materials and Methods	82
4.4 Statistical Analysis	83
4.5 Results	84
4.6 Discussion	87
4.7 Conclusion	89
5.0 Chapter 5	90
5.1 Summary	91
5.2 Introduction	92
5.3 Methods and Materials	94
5.4 Statistics	99
5.5 Results	101
5.6 Discussion	126
5.7 Conclusion	131
6.0 Chapter 6	. 132
6.1 Summary	133
6.2 Introduction	134
6.3 Methods and Materials	135
6.4 Statistics	138
6.5 Results	139
6.6 Discussion	146
6.7 Conclusion	150
7.0 Chapter 7	. 151
7.1 The effect of exposing mouse COCs to GlcN during in vitro maturation	154
7.1.7 Apoptosis	160
7.1.8 Gene Expression	160
7.2 Reproductive consequences of In vivo, peri-conceptional GlcN administration	161
7.3 Additional future investigations	164
7.4 Conclusion	169
Appendix	. 170

References	199
8.14: Mean (± SEM) area under the curve for glucose clearance rates (mM/ 12 that received a LF or HF diet. (Chapter 5)	0 minutes) for mice 198
8.13: Supplemental sample size data	194
8.12 Supplementary mating results	193
8.11 Supplementary statistical information	
8.10 Nutritional profile of food given to mice for LF vs HF feeding	
8.9 Glucose solution (1000 mg/ml)	
8.8 Avertin	
8.7 ROS stain	
8.6 BCB stain (100 mM stock)	
8.5 BADGP (100 mM stock)	
8.4 GlcN solutions	
8.3 IVM \rightarrow embryo culture system 2	176
8.2 IVM \rightarrow embryo culture system 1	172
8.1 General Stock Solutions	170

Abstract

It is well established that conditions experienced in utero by the developing fetus can elicit permanent effects on the post natal period. Although not as well understood, a growing body of research also suggests that this can also occur in response to peri-conceptional insult. Glucosamine (GlcN) is a popular dietary supplement that is also used experimentally as a hyperglycaemic mimetic. The work contained in this thesis tests the hypothesis that pre and peri-conceptional exposure to GlcN has adverse effects on reproductive outcomes in the mouse.

Preliminary experiments (Chapter 2) confirmed that the inclusion of GlcN into the in vitro maturation (IVM) media used for mouse cumulus oocyte complex (COC) maturation, reduced oocyte developmental potential. Subsequent experiments (Chapter 3) demonstrated that the inhibition of O-linked glycosylation of unknown proteins reversed the effects of GlcN. It was also shown that GlcN exposure during IVM altered Pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) activity within the oocyte.

As predicted, preliminary in vivo experiments performed in Chapter 4 showed that maternal, peri-conceptional GlcN administration compromised fetal development. This was seen by a decreased mean implantation rate and litter size as well as an increase in the proportion of fetal resorptions on gestational day 18 (d18), and provided the impetus to examine the in vivo effects of GlcN exposure more carefully.

It was subsequently hypothesized that these adverse effects would be heightened if given to mice with overweight-induced metabolic pathologies. In contrast to Chapter 4 outcomes, GlcN elicited no effects on d18 implantation, resorption or litter size parameters, but did reduce fetal weight. Furthermore, birth defects were higher in mice given GlcN and maintained on a low fat (LF) diet. An additional cohort of mice was allowed to give birth, and offspring were assessed for 16 weeks. There was an unexpectedly high death rate in the offspring of mice maintained on a high fat (HF) diet but not given GlcN, therefore preventing optimally controlled post natal analyses to occur. Of the remaining mice, a number of physiological differences were detected within GlcN-exposed groups.

Since the principle difference between mice in Chapters 4 and 5 was maternal age, an addition experiment investigating the effects of peri-conceptional GlcN exposure in 8 week and 16 week old mice was undertaken (Chapter 6). Consistent with previous results, GlcN treatment reduced mean implantation rate and litter size only in 8 week old mice and reduced fetal weigh and length solely in 16 week old mice. Increased birth defects were also detected in the HF group given GlcN.

Collectively these results provide important insights into the importance of optimal conditions during the peri-conceptional period to facilitate successful subsequent development. They also provide evidence that GlcN is a simple but effective tool that can be used to further elucidate the impact of hyperglycaemic exposure during the early developmental period. This is of key importance given the escalating instances of diabetes and obesity in current day Western society, and the associated complications that these conditions elicit on reproductive parameters.

Declaration

This work contains no material which has been accepted for publication for the award of any other degree or diploma in any other University or other tertiary institution to Cheryl Schelbach, and to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis when deposited to the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

The author acknowledges that copyright of published works contained within this thesis (as listed below) resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works.

- Schelbach, C.J., Kind, K.L., Lane, M. and Thompson, J.G. (2009) "Mechanisms contributing to the reduced developmental competence of glucosamine exposed mouse oocytes." <u>Reproduction, Fertility and Development.</u> 22(5): 771–779.
- Schelbach, C. J., Robker, R. L., Bennett, B. D., Gauld, A. D., Thompson, J. G. & Kind, K. L. (2012). "Altered pregnancy outcomes in mice following treatment with the hyperglycaemic mimetic, glucosamine, during the periconception period." <u>Reproduction, Fertility & Development (in press)</u>.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, vis the Universities digital research suppository, the Library catalogue, the Australasian Digital Thesis Program (ADTP) and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Cheryl Schelbach

Publications arising from this thesis

Papers

Paper arising from work presented in chapters 2 and 3

Schelbach, C.J., Kind, K.L., Lane, M. and Thompson, J.G. (2009) "Mechanisms contributing to the reduced developmental competence of glucosamine exposed mouse oocytes." <u>Reproduction, Fertility and Development.</u> **22**(5): 771–779.

Paper arising from work presented in chapters 4 - 6

Schelbach, C. J., Robker, R. L., Bennett, B. D., Gauld, A. D., Thompson, J. G. & Kind, K. L. (2012). "Altered pregnancy outcomes in mice following treatment with the hyperglycaemic mimetic, glucosamine, during the periconception period." <u>Reproduction, Fertility & Development (*in press*).</u>

Media Releases

Schelbach, C. J. and Thompson, J. G. (2007) Interview with ABC radio "The effects of glucosamine on fertility".

<u>Schelbach, C. J., Thompson, J. G. and Stankawicz, M</u>. (2006) Interview with Channel 10 news "The impact of glucosamine on fertility".

Conference Presentations

Schelbach, C.J., Kind, K. L. & <u>Thompson, J. G</u>. Perturbations in fetal development follow short-term, in vivo glucosamine administration in mice. Proceedings from the 41st Annual Meeting of the Society for the Study of Reproduction; 2008 May 27 -30; Kailua- Kona, Hawaii,

<u>Schelbach, C, J.</u>, Kind, K.L., Lane M & Thompson, J. G.*The Perturbation in Fetal Outcomes that follows in vivo Glucosamine Exposure is Heightened by Obesity.* Proceedings from 1st The University of Adelaide 2007 Post Graduate Research Expo; 2007 ; Adelaide, South Australia.Adelaide, The University of Adelaide.

<u>Schelbach, C, J.</u>, Kind, K.L., Lane M & Thompson, J. Mechanisms involved in the reduced embryo development rate that follows glucosamine exposure to eggs. Proceedings from the 2007 ASMR scientific meeting; 2007 June 6 Adelaide, South Australia

.<u>Schelbach, C, J</u>., Kind, K.L., Lane M & Thompson, J. G. *Improved development of murine embryos derived from COCs matured with the O-linked Glycosylation inhibitor BADGP.* Proceedings from the 2006 ESA/SRB scientific meeting; 2006 August 20 - 23, Gold Coast, Queensland.

<u>Schelbach, C, J</u>., Kind, K.L., Lane M & Thompson, J. G. *Abberant Murine Embryonic development following Glucosamine exposure during IVM or embryo Culture.* Proceedings from the 2005 ESA/SRB scientific meeting; 2005, August 4 - 7; Perth, Western Australia.

<u>Schelbach, C, J</u>., Kind, K.L., Lane M & Thompson, J. G. *Abberant Murine Embryonic development following Glucosamine exposure during IVM or embryo Culture.* Proceedings from the 2005 ASMR scientific meeting; 2005 June 2 ; Adelaide, South Australia.

Acknowledgements

I would first and fore mostly like to thank my supervisors Assoc. Prof. Jeremy Thompson and Dr Karen Kind for the opportunity to undertake this PhD. You both show such a remarkable level of tenacity and dedication to your research pursuits, and your commitment to sharing your knowledge and vision was omnipresent. In addition to the countless discussions and all of the invaluable feedback and advice that you both provide, I also owe a big thank you to Karen for her copious feedback on what seemed like at times the 'Never Ending Story' of chapter versions.

In addition, I would also like to extend my gratitude to a number of other people who provided me with assistance. Dr Michelle Lane and Dr Rebecca Robker were particularly helpful with providing technical advice and shaping the direction of the research that was undertaken. Rebecca Kelley, Ashley Gould and Brenton Bennett all provided me with an extra pair of hands when I needed it, Dave Froiland was the Confocal whiz, and Annie Whitty and Sandy Piltz worked behind the scene to help keep the lab running. Although there are too many to mention individually, I would also like to thank my fellow students for their support and advice, and of course also for all of the laughs that we had along the way.

I also need to say a special thank you to all of my family and friends for everything from recruiting everyone around you to collect the 'mouse houses', to putting up with my erratic schedule and finally in the end helping me out immensely with babysitting.

And last but not least, I also need to say a big thank you to my wonderful partner John for his patience and support. I am dedicating this thesis to you John and our daughter Genevieve. Now that these chapters are completed I'm looking forward to moving forward into the next chapter of our lives, and you can finally have your pH – free party!

I can no other answer make, but, thanks, and thanks.

William Shakespeare

Abbreviations

- Abdo abdominal
- Akt protein kinase B
- ANOVA analysis of variance
- ATP adenosine triphosphate
- BADGP benzyl-2-acetoamido-2-deoxy-α-D-galactopyranoside
- BCB brilliant cressyl blue
- BMI body mass index
- BSA bovine serum albumin
- CAM complementary and alternative medicine
- cAMP cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- CC cumulus complex
- CDCFDA 5,6-carboxyl-2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
- CL corporo lutea
- COC cumulus oocyte complex
- D14.5 day 14.5
- D18 day 18
- DCDHFDA 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
- eCG equine chorionic gonadotrophin
- EtOH ethanol
- FBS fetal bovine serum
- FFA free fatty acids
- FSH follicle stimulating hormone
- G6PDH glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase
- G-6-phosphate glucose-6-phosphate
- GFPT glutamine fructose-6-phosphate transaminase
- GlcN glucosamine
- GlcN-6-P glucosamine-6-phosphate

- GLUT glucose transporter
- GRP 78 glucose-regulated protein 78
- GSH reduced glutathione
- GSSG oxidized glutathione
- H₂O₂ hydrogen peroxide
- HAS hyaluronic acid synthase
- HBP hexosamine biosynthetic pathway
- hCG human corionic gonadotrophin
- HF high fat
- HF+GlcN high fat with glucosamine
- HF-GIcN high fat without glucosamine
- HSA human serum albumin
- IGF-1 insulin like growth factor 1
- IP intraperitoneal
- IRS insulin receptor substrate
- IVF in vitro fertilisation
- IVM in vitro maturation
- JNK c-Jun N-terminal kinase
- LF low fat
- LF+GlcN low fat with glucosamine
- LF-GlcN low fat without glucosamine
- MCT proteins H⁺-monocarboxylate cotransporter proteins
- mRNA messenger ribonucleic acid
- NADH nicotinamide adenosine dinucleotide
- NADPH nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NADPH nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NEFA non-esterified fatty acids
- O-GlcNAcase β-N-acetylglucosaminidase

- OGT β -linked-O-GlcNAc transferase
- PA palmitic acid
- PAI plasminogen activator inhibitor
- PBS phosphate buffered solution
- PEP phosphoenolpyruvate
- PI3-kinase phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
- PPP Pentose Phosphate Pathway
- PRPP 5-Phosphoribosyl-1-Pyrophosphate
- RDI recommended daily intake
- Retro retroperitoneal
- RIA radioimmunoassay
- ROS reactive oxygen species
- SAS statistical analysis system
- SEM standard error of the mean
- SPSS statistical package for the social sciences
- T2DM Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
- TQEH the Queen Elizabeth Hospital
- UDP-N-GlcNAc N-acetylglucosaminyl-1-phosphotransferase

1.0 Chapter 1

GlcN-induced alterations in glucose metabolic pathway activity are detrimental for reproductive outcomes

1.1 Summary

The link between hyperglycemia and adverse reproductive outcomes has been well documented. However, relatively little is known about the impact of hyperglycemia during the peri-conceptional phase of pregnancy. Similarly, there is a pronounced absence of information available regarding the effects of many complementary and alternative medicines (CAMs) on reproduction. Glucosamine (GlcN) is a popular dietary supplement commonly taken to alleviate the symptoms associated with joint tissue degeneration. In addition, it is used experimentally as a hyperglycemic mimetic. This review will focus on the to-date recognised impact of peri-conceptional hyperglycemic exposure on reproductive performance and developmental competence, as well as the role that GlcN may have in inducing such effects.

1.2 Hyperglycemia and pregnancy

Prior to the introduction of insulin therapy early in the 20th century, instances of diabetic pregnancies were few and far between, with the first reported pregnancy being described by Beddewitz in 1824 (in: Skipper, 1933). Over time there has been a progressive reduction in the rates of complications and abnormalities associated with diabetic pregnancies (Small et al. 1986; McElvy et al. 2000; Johnstone et al. 2006; Bell et al. 2008). Regardless, many studies show that despite a general reduction in adverse outcomes, complication rates are still greater than in normoglycemic pregnancies (Dunne et al. 2003; Penney et al. 2003; Jensen et al. 2004; Macintosh et al. 2006). This is a significant concern, given that the prevalence of diabetes in many populations is escalating *(*King et al. 1998), thereby increasing the number of women at risk of experiencing a diabetes-related pregnancy complication (Bell et al. 2008).

While early research papers primarily focussed on the immediately observable effects of diabetic pregnancy on the mother, fetus and newborn (Walker, 1928; Bigby and Jones, 1945; White, 1948), there is now a growing focus on the long term effects for the offspring of exposure to hyperglycemia in utero. These long term effects include, diabetes (Dabelea et al. 2000(a); Dabelea et al. 2000(b); Clausen et al. 2008; Dabelea et al. 2008), impaired glucose tolerance (Pettitt et al. 1993; Silverman et al. 1995; Silverman et al. 1998; Cho et al. 2000; Malcolm et al. 2006), obesity (Pettitt et al. 1983; Pettitt et al. 1987; Rizzo et al. 1997; Silverman et al. 1991; Pettitt et al. 1993; Rizzo et al. 1997; Silverman et al. 1998; Vohr et al. 1999; Cho et al. 2000; Kostolova et al. 2001; Gillman et al. 2003; Malcolm et al. 2006; Hillier et al. 2007), poorer intellectual performance (Silverman et al. 1991; Silverman et al. 1998), reduced psychomotor development (Silverman et al. 1998), elevated blood pressure (Cho et al. 2000; Tam et al. 2008) and renal disease (Nelson et al. 1998).

There has also been some focus on the long term consequences of a diabetic pregnancy on maternal outcomes. There is a growing body of evidence linking gestational diabetes with the later onset of maternal Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) (as reviewed by Ratner, 2007). According to an analysis performed by Cheung and Byth (2003), approximately one third of parous women with diabetes have had a gestational diabetic pregnancy. Hence it is apparent that gestational diabetes has long term detrimental consequences on the health of both the offspring and mother.

Another stream of research is examining the importance of the degree of glucose elevation on outcomes. Maternal and offspring outcomes have been shown to be poorer in women that have blood glucose levels that are not high enough to be classified as gestationally diabetic, but are in the upper spectrum of the normoglycemic range (Jensen et al. 2001; Ju et al. 2008). This is consistent with the notion that criteria for the diagnosis of diabetes may fail to capture all pregnancies at risk of suffering from hyperglycemic complications (Magee et al. 1993; Deerochanaowong et al. 1996; Bonomo et al. 1998; Bevier et al. 1999; Ferrara et al 2002; Gokcel et al. 2002; Hedderson et al. 2003; Ertunc et al. 2004; Ferrara et al. 2007).

In addition, the effects of the timing of hyperglycemic exposure require consideration. It has been found that outcomes are worse in pregnancies defined by pre-gestational diabetes than in those in which diabetes develops during the gestational period (Casson et al. 1997; Nelson et al. 1998; Shand et al. 2008). This is likely to be attributed to, at least in part, aberrant glycemic activity during the pre and early pregnancy period (Miller et al. 1981; Hanson et al. 1990; Steel et al. 1990; Rosenn et al. 1991; Kitzmiller et al. 1991; Hawthorne et al. 1997; Nielsen et al. 1997; McElvy et al. 2000; Temple et al. 2002). In fact, a study conducted by Suhonen et al. (2000) found that even slight elevations in blood glucose levels at the beginning of pregnancy in women with Type 1 diabetes also increases adverse pregnancy outcomes. As the body of research surrounding hyperglycemia during pregnancy and in particular the pre- and early pregnancy period broadens, it is becoming increasingly apparent that glucose-stimulated modifications that occur throughout development can lead to long term modifications in both the mother and her progeny.

1.3 The effect of diabetes on oocyte and pre-implantation embryo development

Growing evidence suggests that exposure of the developing oocyte and pre-implantation embryo to an altered environment can have consequences during fetal, neonatal and adult life. It has become increasingly apparent that diabetes alters the environment of the oocyte, and elicits an adverse impact on oocyte development. Relative to the oocyte, there is less information regarding the impact of diabetes on embryonic development. Outlined in table 1 are the experimentally determined, to-date, recognised effects of exposing oocytes and/or pre-implantation embryos to hyperglycaemic conditions.

Structure	Effect
Oocyte	Inhibited ovulation (Kirchick et al. 1978; Colton et al. 2002), Reduced ovulation (Cheiri et al. 1969; Jawerbaum et al. 1996), Impaired oocyte maturation (Diamond et al. 1989; Colton et al. 2002; Colton et al. 2003; Chang et al. 2005; Ratchford et al. 2007), Increased follicular atresia (Chang et al. 2005) Reduced follicular size (Chang et al. 2005), Reduced oocyte size (Chang et al. 2005), Reduced communication between the oocyte and cumulus cells (Colton et al. 2003; Ratchford et al. 2008), Reduced Connexin-43 (cumulus cells) (Chang et al. 2005), Reduced Cx26 (Ratchford et al. 2008), Increased apoptosis (Chang et al. 2005), Abnormal metabolic activity (Colton et al. 2003; Ratchford et al. 2007; Wang et al. 2009) Meiotic defects (Wang et al. 2009).
Embryo	Impaired development (Moley et al. 1991; Colton et al. 2002), Abnormal metabolic activity (Moley et al. 1996), Reduced intracellular glucose concentrations in 2-cell embryos and blastocysts (Moley et al. 1998(b)), Increased apoptosis (Moley et al. 1998(a); Keim et al. 2001), Increased fetal congenital malformations (Wyman et al. 2008), Fetal growth retardation (Wyman et al. 2008)

1.3.1 Table 1: The to-date recognised effects of exposing oocytes or pre-implantation embryos to diabetic conditions

Of important note is the novel work performed by Wyman et al. (2008). Here, the authors transferred both zygotes and blastocysts from streptozotocin- induced diabetic mice to normoglycemic mice. Rates of growth retardation and developmental defects, including neural tube, abdominal wall and limb defects, were increased in fetuses developed from oocytes or embryos from diabetic mice. In vitro exposure from the 2-cell through to blastocyst stage to hyperglycaemia, followed by embryo transfer into normoglycemic recipients also increased fetal growth retardation. Although there was no accompanying increase in instances of abdominal wall and limb defects following in vitro exposure of the pre-implantation embryo to hyperglycaemic conditions, the implantation rate of the embryos was reduced, and the rates of embryonic resorption increased. Taken together, these results provide evidence that transient exposure during the peri-conceptional period to hyperglycemic stimuli has long- term developmental consequences.

1.4 Distribution of GLUT transporters

Also of importance from the findings of Wyman et al. (2008), was the observation that developmental defects were different when exposure had occurred under in vivo vs in vitro conditions. While it is possible that these differences may be reflective of differences between in vivo vs in vitro exposure, they may in part be attributed to by development-associated changes in the expression of glucose transporters (GLUTs), membrane bound proteins that passively transport glucose molecules. As GLUT expression varies throughout oocyte and various stages of pre-implantation embryo development, this may contribute to the differences observed in outcomes following exposure to elevated glucose. A list of GLUTs in association with the reproductive cells or tissues that they have been identified in is provided in table 2, and their corresponding biological functions have been outlined in table 3.

Structure	Transporter	Species
	GLUT 1	Rat (Kol et al. 1997), Human (Rudlowski et al. 2004)
Ovary	GLUT 3	Rat (Kol et al. 1997; Ballester et al. 2007), Human (Rudlowski et al. 2004)
Follicle	GLUT 1	Bovine (Nishimoto et al. 2006), Ovine (Williams et al. 2001), Rat (granulosa cells) (Kodaman & Behrman, 1999), Mouse (Zhou et al., 2000)
FUIICIE	GLUT 3	Bovine (Nishimoto et al. 2006)
	GLUT 4	Bovine (Nishimoto et al. 2006), Ovine (Williams et al. 2001)
_	GLUT 1	Human (Dan-Goor et al. 1997), Mouse (Morita et al. 1992; Aghayan et al. 1992; Zhou et al. 2000), Ovine (Leoni et al. 2007) Bovine (Schultz et al. 1992; Lequarre et al. 1997; Augustin et al. 2001; Brevini <i>e</i> t al. 2002; Lonergan et al. 2003)
Oocyte	GLUT 3	Bovine (Augustin et al. 2001)
	GLUT 4	Bovine (Augustin et al. 2001; Lonergan et al. 2003)
	SGL 1	Bovine (Augustin et al. 2001)
Cumulus	GLUT 1	Mouse (Zhou et al. 2000)
cells	GLUT 4	Human (Robker et al. 2009)
	GLUT 1	Bovine (1 cell) (Lequarre et al 1997), Bovine (morula) (Niemann & Wrenzycki et al. 2000; de Oliveira et al. 2005), Bovine (blastocyst) (Wrenzycki et al 1998; Lazzari et al. 2002; Rief et al. 2002; Harvey et al. 2004; de Oliveira et al. 2005; Pedersen et al. 2005; Oliveira et al. 2006; Rho et al. 2007; Rizos et al. 2007; Sagirkaya et al. 2007; Palasz et al. 2008), Human (2 cell) (Dan-Goor et al. 1997); Mouse (2 cell) (Hogan et al. 1991; Aghayan et al. 1992; Moley et al. 1998(b)); Mouse (8 cell) (Hogan et al. 1991), Mouse (morula) (Hogan et al. 1991; Pantaleon et al. 1997; Moley et al. 1998(b)); Mouse (blastocyst) (Hogan et al. 1997; Moley et al. 1998(b)); Carayannopoulos et al. 2000; Kind et al. 2005; Rieger et al. 2007), Rat (blastocyst) (Takao et al. 1993); Rabbit (blastocyst) (Navarrete Santos et al. 2004)
Embryo	GLUT 2	Mouse (8 cell) (Schultz et al. 1992; Hogan et al. 1991) Mouse (morula) (Hogan et al. 1991; Moley et al. 1998(b)); Mouse (blastocyst) (Hogan et al. 1991; Aghayan et al. 1992, Moley et al. 1998(b); Leppens-Luisier et al. 2001; Kind et al. 2005)
	GLUT 3	Mouse (morula) (Pantaleon et al. 1997; Moley et al. 1998(b)); Bovine (blastocyst) (Lazzari et al. 2002; Morton et al. 2007), Mouse (blastocyst) (Smith and Gridley 1992; Pantaleon et al. 1997; Moley et al. 1998(b)), Rat (blastocyst) (Takao et al. 1993); Rabbit (blastocyst) (Navarrete Santos et al. 2004)
	GLUT 4	Bovine (<i>blastocysts</i>) (Lazzari et al. 2002); Rabbit (<i>morula</i>) (Navarrete Santos et al. 2004); Rabbit (<i>blastocyst</i>) (Navarrete Santos et al. 2004)
	GLUT 5	Bovine <i>(blastocyst)</i> (Palasz et al. 2008)
	GLUT 8	Mouse <i>(blastocysts)</i> (Carayannopoulos et al. 2000); Rabbit <i>(blastocyst)</i> (Navarrete Santos et al. 2004)

1.4.1 Table 2: Distribution of glucose transporters in select reproductive structures

Туре	Family	Transporter	Function
	Class 1	Glut 1	Passively transports glucose (Mueckler et al, 1985), mannose and galactose (Gould et al. 1991)
		Glut 2	Passively transports glucose (Fukumoto et al. 1988), mannose, galactose and fructose (Gould et al. 1991). Involved in glucose sensing (Marty et al. 2005).
Facilitative glucose transport		Glut 3	Passively transports glucose (Kayano et al. 1988), mannose and galactose (Gould et al. 1991).
		Glut 4	Passively transports glucose in response to insulin signalling (James et al. 1988).
	Class 2	Glut 5	Passively transports fructose (Burant et al. 1992)
	Class 3	Glut 8	Passively transports glucose (Doege et al. 2000)
Sodium coupled glucose transport	SGLT (Sodium dependant glucose transporter)	SGL1	Uses active transport to co-transport glucose and sodium (Wu & Lever, 1987).

1.4.2 Table 3 Biological functions of the glucose transporters that have been identified in reproductive structures.

1.5 Metabolism of glucose in COCs and pre-implantation embryos

Biggers et al. (1967) initially established that the oocyte does not metabolize significant amounts of glucose. Their work demonstrated that while denuded mouse oocytes do not undergo spontaneous maturation when cultured in media containing glucose, maturation can be initiated by the incorporation of pyruvate or oxaloactetate into media with maturing, denuded oocytes or alternatively by the incorporation of glucose only with oocytes with intact cumulus vestments. This provided early evidence for the role of cumulus cells as the principal consumers of glucose, which in turn is metabolized into usable substrates for the oocyte, and this has been subsequently confirmed (Donahue & Stern, 1968; Leese and Barton, 1985).

Similarly, the early embryo has a minimal yet essential requirement for glucose, with the zygote relying heavily on pyruvate for its metabolic needs. It was found that oxaloactetate also supported development to the 2-cell stage, albeit to a lesser extent then pyruvate (Biggers et al. 1967). Early work conducted on the energy requirements of 2-cell mouse embryos also established that the incorporation of glucose into simple medium was inadequate for supporting subsequent embryo development. Hammond (1949) showed that the incorporation of glucose in simple medium was inadequate for supporting blastocyst development when exposure occurred to the 8 cell embryo.

Subsequent research showed that development from the 2 cell stage proceeded when pyruvate, lactate DL, oxaloacetate or phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) were included in the media (Brinster, 1965). Furthermore, it confirmed by measuring radiolabelled CO_2 from isotopic-labelled glucose, that very little glucose was metabolised by the early embryo, with progressively more being utilised from the 8-cell stage in the mouse. By the time the embryo reached the late blastocyst stage of development, however, glucose was being utilised as an energy source at approximately equivalent rates as pyruvate and lactate. Although markedly higher than glucose, lactate production was initially lower and markedly increased from the morula stage. The predominant energy source of the early embryo was found to be pyruvate (Brinster, 1967(a); Brinster, 1967(b)).

Although a negligible amount of glucose is metabolised by the early embryo, glucose exposure is none-the-less an integral part of embryo culture to ensure subsequent development. This has been demonstrated by Brown and Whittingham (1991) who found that whilst mouse embryos deprived of glucose but given lactate and pyruvate could develop into morula, blastocyst development only occurred when glucose was included in the culture medium in either the first, second or third 24-hour period of culture. Chatot et al. (1994) then demonstrated that even a one minute exposure of glucose, was sufficient to reverse the observed pattern of failed blastocyst development. In agreement, Pantaleon et al. (2010) demonstrated that whilst mouse zygotes cultured in the absence of glucose failed to reach the blastocyst stage, this phenomenon could be reversed by either continual or a 1 - 3 hour pulse of glucose exposure via its incorporation into embryo culture media from the zygote stage. Furthermore, Jansen et al. (2006) showed that embryos deprived of glucose did not express mRNA of H⁺-monocarboxylate cotransporter (MCT) proteins, which are involved in the facilitated diffusion of pyruvate/lactate. An inversely proportional relationship between MCT protein immunoreactivity and embryo development to the morula stage was observed. Such perturbed effects were not observed in embryos that had received short term exposure to glucose. These are important findings as they provide evidence for a role of glucose as a signalling molecule rather than a substrate during early embryo development.

Hence it is apparent that glucose is an integral factor for cumulus-oocyte complex (COC) and embryo development. Furthermore, it is also evident that the needs of COCs and embryos for glucose are static and stage dependent, given that the expression of GLUT transporters and the metabolic requirements for glucose varies throughout oocyte and embryo development.

1.6 Glucose Metabolic Pathways in COCs and Pre-implantation Embryos

Glucose can be metabolised by several different metabolic pathways. These pathways are depicted in Figure 1 and are outlined below.



1.6.1 Figure 1: Glucose metabolic pathways affected by GlcN. The introduction of GlcN leads to an increase in GlcN-6-Phosphate. In turn, this induces an increase in the production of Hexosamine metabolic pathway intermediates, as well as a reduction in PPP product formation.

1.6.2 Glycolysis

In glycolytic reactions, the conversion of glucose to pyruvate yields adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and reduced nicotinamide adenosine dinucleotide (NADH), energy molecules that are both integral for a variety of metabolic processes. Glycolysis is the dominant glucose metabolic pathway found in COCs. Downs and Utecht (1999) demonstrated that most glucose is metabolised via glycolysis in equine chorionic gonadotrophin (eCG) -primed mouse COCs. By assessing the production of the glycolytic end product L-lactate, it has also been shown that most glucose is metabolised by glycolysis in bovine COCs undergoing in vitro maturation (IVM) (Sutton et al. 2003; Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006). However, it has also been demonstrated that during the final stages of bovine IVM, an increasing amount of glucose is utilized by an alternative pathway(s) (Sutton et al. 2003). These authors suggested that this is likely the Hexosamine pathway (discussed below), for the generation of hyaluronin for the expanding cumulus matrix.

In contrast, glycolytic activity in the early embryo is very low. It has been repetitively shown that hexokinase, the enzyme which converts glucose to glucose-6-phosphate at the start of the glycolytic pathway, initially has low levels of activity during early embryonic development but that this increases substantially from the morula stage (Ayabe et al. 1994; Saito et al. 1994; Moley et al. 1998(b)). This is not surprising, given that glucose is not a significantly metabolised substrate during early embryo development (Hammond et al. 1949; Brinster, 1967(a); Brinster, 1967(b)).

1.6.3 The Polyol Pathway

The Polyol (or Sorbitol) pathway becomes activated when glucose is converted to sorbitol via aldose reductase, which in turn is converted to fructose by sorbitol reductase. Fructose can be transported to the glycolytic pathway via the conversion of fructose to fructose-6-phosphate by the enzyme hexokinase. However, under hyperglycemic conditions Polyol pathway activity surpasses fructose conversion and the resultant imbalance ultimately leads to reductions in REDOX reactions, the importance of which is discussed in the Pentose Phosphate Pathway (PPP) section below. Although little attention has been paid to the effects of hyperglycemia on the Sorbitol pathway in reproductive cells and tissues, a series of experiments performed by Colton and Downs (2004) provides important information regarding the Sorbitol pathway in oocytes of diabetic mice. Briefly, it was shown that activation of the Sorbitol pathway resulted in reduced de novo purine synthesis as well as

cell-cell communication between the oocyte and the cumulus cells, and compromised FSHmediated cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production. Furthermore, it was also shown that the suppression of FSH-induced meiotic maturation that occurs in oocytes of diabetic mice could be inhibited by the introduction of inhibitors of aldose reductase (Colton and Downs, 2004), an intermediate in the Polyol pathway that is generated in the presence of excess glucose and which converts glucose to sorbitol (Gabbay, 1973; Oates, 2002). This led the authors to conclude that the reduced rates of FSH-stimulated meiotic maturation that characterises diabetes- affected oocytes may be contributed to by elevated levels of glucose fluxing through the Sorbitol pathway.

The effect of hyperglycemia on the Sorbitol pathway in embryos has also been examined. Moley et al. (1996) exposed one-cell mouse zygotes to one of several glucose concentrations for 96 hours, and intra-embryonic Sorbitol levels were subsequently determined at the completion of culture. It was found that embryos cultured under hyperglycemic conditions (52 mM glucose) had significantly greater levels of Sorbitol than their control counterparts (matured with 2.8 mM glucose). The authors also demonstrated that there were glucose concentration-dependent, developmental stage differences in the embryos. The embryos exposed to 52 mM glucose, and that had the highest levels of Sorbitol, also arrested at a very early (2-cell) stage of development. Collectively, these studies demonstrate that embryonic development can be perturbed by hyperglycemia via stimulation of the Sorbitol pathway.

1.6.4 The Hexosamine Pathway

The flux of glucose through the Hexosamine pathway is non-reversible, owing to the fact that the intermediate Glutamine Fructose-6-Phosphate Transaminase (GFPT) can only metabolise substrate in a unidirectional way. The Hexosamine pathway is thought to be an energy sensing pathway through which approximately 1 - 3% of glucose typically fluxes (Marshall et al. 2005(b)). However, Gutnisky et al. (2007) demonstrated that the incorporation of an inhibitor of hyaluronic acid synthase (HAS) (which inhibits the production of hyaluronin) into bovine oocyte in vitro maturation (IVM) media results in approximately 23% less utilization of glucose by COCs. This finding provided further support for the claim by Sutton-McDowall et al. (2004) that during the final stages of COC maturation a significant proportion of glucose is used for the production of hyaluronin, a principal component of the expanding cumulus cell matrix (Eppig 1979; Ball et al. 1982; Talbot 1984; Suchanek et al.

1994). Therefore it appears that the metabolism of glucose through the Hexosamine pathway seems to be significantly higher in maturing COCs than in the majority of somatic tissues.

The end-product of the Hexosamine metabolic pathway is UDP-*N*-acetylglucosamine, which is increased by high glucose stimulation (Sayeski and Kudlow, 1996; Kolm-Litty et al. 1998; Du et al. 2000; Han et al. 2000; Goldberg et al. 2006). In turn, UDP-*N*-acetylglucosamine serves as a substrate for several physiological functions including the synthesis of matrix compounds (e.g. hyaluronic acid), glycoproteins (Chen and Lennarz, 1977; Waetcher and Harford, 1977), glycolipids (Waetcher and Harford, 1977) as well as the N-linked and O-linked glycosylation of proteins (Torres and Hart, 1984).

In 1984 Torres and Hart described O-linked glycosylation as a post-translational form of protein modification that occurs on serine and threonine residues of nucleocytoplasmic proteins. The number of proteins known to be O-link glycosylated is constantly expanding, and to date is known to include transcription factors, metabolic enzymes as well as signalling and cytoskeletal components (as reviewed by Wells and Hart, 2003). Furthermore, O-link glycosylated proteins are known to be involved in a number of pathologies including various cancers (Hull and Carraway, 1988; Nawrocki et al. 1988; Boland and Deshmukh, 1990), Alzheimer's disease (Refolo et al. 1989; Yao and Coleman, 1998) and hyperglycaemic conditions (Nishio et al. 1995; Patti et al. 1999; Akimoto et al. 2001; Kaneto et al. 2001; Vosseller et al. 2001).

Recently, it has become apparent that O-linked glycosylation of proteins is also important for embryo development (Pantaleon et al. 2008, 2010). Azaserine, an inhibitor of GFPT, was added to the culture media of mouse zygotes. At the completion of embryo culture a reduction in blastocyst production as well as a reduction in the expression of GLUT 3 in the blastocyst was observed, indicating that retarded Hexosamine activity is detrimental for developing mouse embryos (Pantaleon et al. 2008). Subsequently Pantaleon et al. (2010) showed that this was, at least in part, mediated by suppression of O-linked glycosylation. When mouse zygotes were cultured with an inhibitor of the O-linked glycosylation enzyme OGT regulators (β-linked-O-GlcNAc transferase) and O-GIcNAcase (B-Nacetylglucosaminidase), a significant reduction in blastocyst development was observed. In an alternative study, these authors also went on to show that excess flux through the Hexosamine pathway in embryos, induced via the incorporation of excess glucose into the culture media, also led to reduced blastocyst development and cell number (Pantaleon et al. 2010). Thus, these studies suggest that successful development of the preimplantation embryo is dependent upon an optimal level of activity of the hexosamine pathway.

1.6.5 The Pentose Phosphate Pathway

The PPP is an important glucose metabolic pathway for several reasons. It is important for the REDOX balance of NADPH, a metabolic intermediate that is required for the reduction of oxidised glutathione (GSSG) to its reduced form GSH, a reductant for reactive oxygen species (ROS). In addition, the end products of PPP metabolism – purines and nucleic acids – play important roles in the acquisition of oocyte meiotic maturation (Downs et al. 1989; Downs, 1997; Downs et al. 1998; Downs and Utecht, 1999; Downs, 2000; Colton et al. 2003). Previously it has been shown that the first rate limiting enzyme of the PPP, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH), is inhibited by the Hexosamine intermediate GlcN-6-Phosphate (Bessell and Thomas, 1973; Kanji et al. 1976), thereby implicating hyperglycemic stimulation as a perturbing influence on PPP activity.

In 2003 Colton et al. demonstrated that PPP activity was reduced in oocytes from diabetic mice. This followed on from earlier work which demonstrated that the presence of elevated levels of glucose in media during in vitro maturation of bovine COCs, reduced GSH levels, increased ROS and reduced oocyte developmental competence (Hashimoto et al. 2000). In the porcine model, denuded oocytes exposed to ROS undergo higher instances of meiotic arrest, degeneration and apoptosis (Tatemoto et al. 2000). In human ovarian follicles, elevated production of ROS within granulosa cells is associated with a reduced number of oocytes present in follicular aspirate (Jancar et al. 2007). Furthermore, both the in vivo and in vitro introduction of antioxidants, which counter the effects of ROS, has been shown to improve reproductive outcomes. Chromosomal abnormalities that present in the mouse oocyte following exposure to oxidative stress can be reduced in vitro by the incorporation of antioxidants into IVM media, and in vivo by daily consumption of antioxidants from weaning (Tarin et al. 1998).

Similarly, embryos can be negatively affected by oxidative stress and ROS. In vitro produced bovine and mouse embryos that arrest have higher intracellular ROS levels, compared to normally developed embryos (Nasr-Esfahani et al. 1990; Noda et al. 1991; Goto et al. 1993; Favetta et al. 2007). In addition, oxidative stress induced by heat shock in bovine embryos following IVF, increases levels of ROS and decreases rates of blastocyst development (Sakatani et al. 2004; Sakatani et al. 2008). In agreement, the culture of mouse 2-cell embryos in hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) containing media has also been linked to reduced blastocyst development along with increased rates of perturbed morphological development (Cebral et al. 2007). Alternatively, reduced embryo development (at the 2-cell and blastocyst stages) and elevations in intraembryonic concentrations of H2O2 can be

generated by the incorporation of elevated glucose concentrations on day one in porcine embryo culture media (Karja et al. 2006). Furthermore, elevated ROS levels have been implicated in embryonic apoptosis, with increased H₂O₂ concentrations found in apoptotic, fragmented human embryos (Yang et al. 1998). Thus, it is apparent that sub optimal patterns of PPP activity can contribute to poor developmental outcomes in embryos as well as oocytes.

1.7 GlcN as a hyperglycemic mimetic

GlcN is a simple amino sugar that is used therapeutically for functionally compromised joint tissues (as reviewed by Reginster et al. 2007) as well as in experimental systems as a hyperglycemic mimetic (Rossetti et al. 1995; Hawkins et al. 1997; Horal et al. 2004; Yki-Jarvinen et al. 1998; Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki and Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Rumburger et al. 2003; Marshall et al. 2004). Under experimental conditions, the role of GlcN as a hyperglycemic mimetic is well acknowledged. However, despite the vast amount of literature, reports regarding its therapeutic efficacy are quite varied (Reginster et al. 2007; Sawizitzke et al. 2008). Significantly, however, there is very little data available regarding the effects of GlcN on reproduction from either experimental models or retrospective studies. This is despite the fact that this GlcN has been shown to directly modify glucose metabolic activity.

1.7.1 The effects of GIcN on Hexosamine activity

GlcN is converted to GlcN-6-phosphate (Marshall et al. 2005(a)), an intermediate of the Hexosamine metabolic pathway. Flux through this GFPT is non-reversible. Hence, the introduction of GlcN leads to an increase solely in the substrate level and activity of the Hexosamine pathway (Rossetti et al. 1995; Hawkins et al. 1997; Yki-Jarvinen et al. 1998; Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki and Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Rumburger et al. 2003; Marshall et al. 2004).

Of particular importance are the findings of Sutton-McDowall et al. (2006). In this study, the authors demonstrated that bovine and porcine blastocyst development was reduced when COCs were matured in vitro with GlcN prior to fertilisation. Kimura et al. (2008) subsequently

confirmed that the incorporation of GlcN into bovine in vitro maturation (IVM) media reduced developmental competence. Sutton-McDowall et al. (2006) also demonstrated that the effects of GlcN exposure during IVM on embryo development could be reduced by the addition of an inhibitor of O-linked glycosylation, BADGP (benzyl-2-acetoamido-2-deoxy-α-D-galactopyranoside) to GlcN-containing IVM medium. Essentially, these results demonstrate that GlcN induces an elevation in O-linked glycosylation which has adverse effects on the maturing COC.

GlcN also has a significant influence on embryo development. While exposure of the bovine embryo to GlcN from the one-cell to 8-cell stage elicited no measurable developmental effects, inclusion of GlcN in the culture media from the 8-cell to blastocyst stage reduced blastocyst development. Of the surviving blastocysts, an increased proportion of male embryos were observed. Addition of BADGP into GlcN- containing culture media from the 8cell to blastocyst stage corrected the skewed sex ratio in the bovine embryos, implicating GlcN-stimulated elevations in O-linked glycosylation in abnormal embryo development (Kimura et al. 2008). Using the mouse model, Pantaleon et al. (2008) showed that both continuous as well as short term incorporation of GlcN into glucose-free embryo culture media, corrected the blocked embryo development that was observed when embryos were glucose-deprived. This is an important finding, as it demonstrates that a complete lack of Hexosamine pathway activity during embryo development has a perturbing impact. These authors also demonstrated that elevations in Hexosamine activity achieved by the addition of GIcN into mouse embryo culture media reduced blastocyst development and cell number (Pantaleon et al. 2010). While it appears that there are species-specific differences in the developmental stages at which embryos are affected by GlcN, it is apparent that mouse and bovine embryos experience developmental perturbations if sufficiently exposed in vitro to GIcN.

1.7.2 The effects of GIcN on PPP activity

As previously stated, the first rate limiting enzyme of the PPP, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH), is inhibited by GlcN-6-phosphate (Bessell and Thomas, 1973; Kanji et al. 1976). This implicates the introduction of GlcN as leading to an increase in levels of GlcN-6-phosphate (a HBP intermediate), which in turn, reduces G6PDH, and ultimately inhibits PPP activity. However, there is no data available on the effects of GlcN on PPP activity in reproductive cells and tissues. Given that exposure of embryos to ROS has been linked to perturbed outcomes (Nasr-Esfahani et al. 1990; Noda et al. 1991; Goto et al. 1993;

Sakatani et al. 2004; Karja et al. 2006; Cebral et al. 2007; Favetta et al. 2007; Sakatani et al. 2008; Yang et al. 2008), effects on the PPP is a potential pathway through which the effects of GlcN on embryo development may be mediated.

1.7.3 The effects of GIcN on glucose transport

According to work performed by Uldry et al. (2002), GlcN can be transported into cells by GLUT1 and 4 (which have a higher affinity for glucose) as well as GLUT 2 (which has a higher affinity for GlcN). It is possible that GlcN could, therefore, enter cells that contain GLUT 1, 2 or 4. As can be seen from the distribution of GLUTs outlined in table 2, this includes the COC and pre-implantation embryo.

GlcN has been shown to have an inhibitory effect on GLUT 4 translocation (Robinson et al. 1993; Chen et al. 1997; Filippis et al. 1997; Nelson et al. 2000; Kralik et al. 2002). Since GLUT 4 has been detected in blastocysts (bovine) (Lazzari et al. 2002), it is possible that GlcN could affect COC and post compaction embryo development by interfering with glucose transport. This also applies to ovine (Williams et al. 2001) and bovine (Nishimoto et al. 2006) ovarian follicles exposed to GlcN. In contrast to GLUT 4, GLUT 1 translocation has not been shown to be affected by GlcN (Robinson et al. 1993; Filippis et al. 1997).

1.8 GIcN entry into the cell

A small number of studies have confirmed that GlcN label does enter ovarian and follicular tissue as well as the COC, and have demonstrated that this uptake is influenced by the accompanying hormonal environment. When [³H] glucosamine is administered to mice in combination with equine chorionic gonadotrophin (eCG), GlcN label is localised to the follicular fluid of both large (Fowler and Guttridge 1987; Fowler, 1988) and small antral follicles and the zona pellucida of oocytes within these follicles (Fowler and Guttridge 1987). However, when mice are treated with labelled GlcN, eCG and hCG, GlcN labelling can additionally be observed in the thecal layers of the ovary, the oocyte of pre- ovulatory follicles (Fowler and Guttridge 1987; Fowler 1988) pre-antral and pre-ovulatory follicles, interstitial layers of the ovary, (Fowler and Guttridge 1987), granulosa cells and cumulus cells (Fowler et al. 1988). This suggests that that uptake of GlcN may be increased in mature cumulus cells, when compared to earlier maturational time points. Importantly, however, Fowler and Guttridge (1987) have demonstrated that labelling can also be detected in the zona pellucida

and follicular fluid of large antral follicles of immature, non-stimulated mice. This demonstrates that follicles can take up GlcN label regardless of the presence or absence of hormonal stimulation, suggesting that the COC can be affected by GlcN at multiple points of development.

In a follow up to previous work, Fowler and Barratt (1989) injected [³H] Glucosamine into female mice at the time of mating and confirmed that GlcN label could be detected within the ovary and perivitelline space of the oocyte. However, radio-labelled GlcN was also detected in zygotes and to a limited extent in 2-cell embryos, despite the presence of negligible quantities of labelled GlcN in the oviducts. It was concluded that label was being passed from cumulus cells into the oocyte.

In agreement with the findings from mice, porcine oocytes flushed from eCG and hCG treated pre-pubertal donors and incubated in vitro in [³H] glucosamine have also stained positive for GlcN label. More specifically, cumulus cell enclosed oocytes demonstrate label in the ooplasm, perivitelline space, corona cells and zona pellucida projections, whilst denuded oocytes display cytoplasmic and perivitelline space labelling (Fléchon et al. 2003). Collectively, the work from Fowler and Barratt, (1989) and Fléchon et al. (2003) respectively suggests that GlcN may elicit its perturbing effects on oocyte developmental competence directly or by entering the oocyte via cumulus cells.

1.9 Effects of GIcN on blood glucose and insulin levels

There is a large body of literature surrounding the effects of GlcN on glucose and insulin metabolism. The addition of GlcN into a variety of cell culture media has been shown to elicit a broad spectrum of effects, including altering a host of functions relating to glucose and insulin activities (refer to Table 4). Similarly, GlcN infusion has been shown to elicit perturbing effects on glucose and insulin metabolic profiles. Most of these studies have been performed in murine models and are summarised in Table 5. However, a study in humans also demonstrated that a 5 hour infusion of 5 μ M GlcN resulted in a significant reduction in the responsiveness of insulin to glucose (Monouni et al. 2000). Whilst these infusion-based studies are useful for demonstrating the metabolic effects of GlcN and Hexosamine pathway up regulation, the supraphysiological levels of GlcN involved renders the relevance of these findings to physiological conditions as questionable.

Despite the large volume of work demonstrating an effect of GlcN on metabolic parameters, a range of conflicting data exists. For example, Rossetti et al. (1995) demonstrated that infusion of GlcN induced insulin resistance in normoglycemic, but not chronically hyperglycemic rats. In contrast, Ciaraldi et al. (1999) reported that the effects of GlcN on responsiveness and sensitivity of skeletal muscle cells to insulin were equivalent, regardless of whether the cells were derived from normoglycemic or T2DM (Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus) sources. It is possible that these differences are reflective of model based differences (i.e. GlcN administered via in vivo infusion or during cell culture) or different severities of hyperglycemic status.

In addition, many studies have failed to show any effect of glucosamine on metabolic parameters in both animal and human models. Nine weeks of oral administration of GlcN at a dose estimated to be approximately 3 - 5 that of the human RDI (1500 mg) failed to modify blood glucose measurements (Echard et al. 2001). An early study in humans showed that the consumption of 500 mg GlcN per day for 6-8 weeks elicited no changes on blood glucose parameters (Pujalte et al. 1980). Similarly, an alternative study utilizing the full RDI of 1500 mg p/day in patients with osteoarthritis also showed a lack of effect on blood glucose levels (Drovanti et al. 1980). Since then it has been found that the consumption of the RDI of GlcN by both lean and obese people induces no change in serum glucose, lipoprotein, insulin or insulin sensitivity after 4 weeks (Yu et al. 2003), or in insulin resistance after 6 weeks (Muniyappa et al. 2006). In a longer term study (3 years), the daily consumption of 1500 mg GlcN had no effect on fasting glucose levels (Reginster et al. 2001). Furthermore, in contrast to the findings of Monouni et al. (2000), Pouwels et al. (2001) reported that a 5 hour infusion of GIcN does not affect insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (Pouwels et al. 2001). Hence it is apparent that GlcN - induced metabolic effects cannot be predicted in a simple manner by the duration or mode of exposure.

Cell line origin	Effect
Adipocytes	Decreased glucose transport (Marshall et al. 1991; Chen et al. 1997; Thomson et al. 1997; Heart & Sung, 2002), Insulin resistance (Marshall et al. 1991; Heart et al. 2000; Nelson et al. 2000; Nelson et al. 2002), Increased cell surface O-linked glycosylation (Chen et al. 2003), Decreased GLUT4 levels (Chen et al. 1997; Thomson et al. 1997), Decreased insulin stimulated GLUT4 translocation (Heart et al. 2000; Nelson et al. 2000; Chen et al. 2003), Activation of PI3-kinase (Filippis et al. 2002), Impaired insulin stimulation of Akt (Heart et al. 2000), Impaired insulin stimulation of P70s6 kinase (Heart et al. 2000), Increased G6PDH levels (Marshall et al. 2004), Increased UDP-N- GlcNAc levels (Marshall et al. 2004), Inhibited glucose uptake (Marshall et al. 2005(b)), Decreased ATP concentration (Hresko et al. 1998; Marshall et al. 2004)
Astroglial	Increased Akt phosphorylation (Matthews et al. 2007), Increased expression of endoplasmic reticulum stress marker GRP 78 (Matthews et al. 2007)
Diaphragm	Insulin resistance (Robinson et al.1993; Han et al. 2003), Impaired GLUT4 translocation (Robinson et al. 1993; Han et al. 2003), Decreased ATP concentration (Han et al. 2003)
Epitrochlearis	Decreased insulin responsiveness to glucose transport (Heart et al. 2000)
Fibroblast	Insulin resistance (Robinson et al. 1993), Impaired GLUT4 translocation (Robinson et al. 1993)
Liver	Decreased IGF-1 receptor phosphorylation (Sakal & Clemmons, 2003), Decreased insulin stimulated glucose uptake (Bailey & Turner, 2004)
Pancreatic Islets	Decreased insulin stimulated glucose uptake (Balkan & Dunning, 1994), β cell dysfunction (Yoshikawa et al. 2002)
Skeletal muscle	Decreased glucose transport (Ciaraldi et al. 1999), Insulin resistance (Ciaraldi et al. 1999), Decreased glucose phosphorylation (Ciaraldi et al. 1999), Increased JNK activity (Srinivasan et al. 2009), Impaired insulin stimulated glucose uptake (Srinivason et al. 2009), Increased UDP- GlcNAc levels (Srinivason et al. 2009), Increased expression of endoplasmic reticulum chaperone proteins (Viz, GRP 78, Calcireticulum, Calnexin) (Srinivason et al. 2009)

1.9.1 Table 4: The effects of the incorporation of GlcN in the culture media on a variety of cell lines.

Physiological outcome	Reference
Insulin resistance	Balkan & Dunning, 1994; Rossetti et al. 1995; Miles et al. 1998; Baron et al. 1999; Kim et al. 1999; Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki & Yki Jarvinen, 1999; Yoshino et al. 1999; Stampinato et al. 2003; Wallis et al. 2005; Einstein et al. 2008
Impaired insulin receptor signalling	Patti et al. 1999; Stampinato et al. 2003
Decreased insulin secretion	Balkan & Dunning, 1994; Giaccari et al. 1995; Shankar et al. 1998; Virkamaki and Yki Jarvinen, 1999; Akimoto et al. 2006
Decreased insulin stimulation of glycolysis	Giaccari et al. 1995
IRS (Insulin receptor substrate) 1 & 2 modification	Patti et al. 1999
Decreased glucose uptake	Hawkins et al. 1996; Virkamaki et al. 1997; Shankar et al. 1998; Hawkins et al. 1999; Holmang et al. 1999; Patti et al. 1999
Decreased exercise-induced glucose uptake	Miles et al. 2001
Decreased glucose-6-phosphate	Giaccari et al. 1995
Decreased lactate	Holmang et al. 1999
Increased UDP-N-acetylglucosamine	Wang et al. 1998; Patti et al. 1999
Perturbed GLUT4 translocation &/or trafficking	Baron et al. 1999
Enhanced transcription factor glycosylation	Akimoto et al. 2006; Einstein et al. 2008
Impaired PI3- kinase activation	Hawkins et al. 1999; Kim et al. 1999; Miki et al. 2002
Increased adipose tissue gene expression of	Wang et al. 1998; Einstein et al. 2008
tat- derived peptides (PAI, angiotensinogen,	
Decreased hind limb muscle blood flow	Holmang et al. 1999
Inhibited insulin stimulated increases in femoral artery blood flow and capillary recruitment	Wallis et al. 2005

1.9.2 Table 5: A list of the effects of GlcN infusion in rats.

However, examination of the effects of GlcN exposure in people with pre-existing bloodglucose related perturbations reveals some interesting findings. Tapadinhas et al. (1982) found no adverse effects of GlcN in diabetic patients. Importantly, however, the outcome measured related to perceptions of pain, and did not involve routine clinical laboratory testing such as blood glucose or insulin tests. In contrast, an earlier study found that in diabetic patients, glucose levels during a glucose tolerance test did not approach baseline values following an injection of GlcN (Weiden and Wood, 1958). More recently, GlcN consumption has been associated with significantly elevated levels of blood glucose in patients with impaired glucose tolerance (Biggee et al. 2007). In addition Pham et al. (2007) have shown that in people with pre-existing insulin metabolism abnormalities, short-term exposure to the RDI of GlcN can induce insulin resistance. It is therefore possible that GlcN may elicit no short-term effects on glucose metabolism in healthy people, but may exacerbate the pathologies of pre-existing blood glucose and/or insulin related abnormalities.

1.10 Similarities and differences between the effects of GlcN and high glucose

Some reports have questioned the validity of the use of GlcN as a hyperglycaemic mimetic, and suggest that GlcN only mimics select metabolic aspects of hyperglycaemia. For example, when Marshall et al. (2004) exposed rat adipocytes to either glucose or GlcN, it was found whilst UDP GlcNAc was elevated 2 fold by glucose, it was elevated 4-5 fold by GlcN. Furthermore, while GlcN exposure rapidly induced a marked increase in G6PDH, levels were undetectable with glucose treatment. Conversely, however, G-6-phosphate was quickly elevated by glucose, and unchanged by GlcN treatment. Perhaps most importantly though, adipocytes that had been exposed to GIcN showed pronounced reductions in ATP levels, a phenomenon which had previously been attributed to Hexosamine stimulated elevations in G6PDH production (Hresko et al. 1998; Han et al. 2003). Furthermore, Nelson et al. (2000) reported that whilst both high concentrations of glucose and GlcN cause insulin resistance of glucose transport, this is achieved with GlcN via inhibition of GLUT 4 translocation and with high glucose by impairing GLUT 4 activity. In a follow up study, it was also shown that whilst the pre-incubation of adipocytes with GlcN elicited no effects on Akt translocation, this was reduced by 25% or 50% with pre-incubation with low or high levels of glucose respectively (Nelson et al. 2002). Finally, Han et al. (2003) noted that actinomycin D had no effect on GlcN-induced insulin resistance in cultured rat muscle cells. This contrasts with the findings of Kawanaka et al. (1999), who demonstrated that inclusion of actinomycin D in culture media prevented high glucose induced insulin resistance in muscle cells.

Schelbach

Differences in the effects of GlcN and glucose have also been identified in in vivo models. At the completion of a 9-week study involving oral GlcN or glucose administration in rats, it was found that unlike instances of glucose-induced insulin resistance, rats that had been given GlcN had a significantly lower systolic blood pressure than control animals (Echard et al. 2001). In another study the administration of Troglitazone, a recognised hypoglycemic agent, was able to prevent the onset of hyperglycemia induced insulin resistance but not GlcN induced insulin resistance in rats (Miles et al. 1998).

Differences in the efficacy of glucose and GlcN may be attributed to compensatory mechanisms that are activated by the glucose stimulation of pathways that are not affected by GlcN. This does not mean that GlcN is a poor mimetic of high glucose, but rather, that it may only stimulate select components of glucose metabolic pathways. Therefore, the hyperglycemic mimetic potential of GlcN should be considered within the context of its known effects on the Hexosamine pathway and PPP. Likewise, additional insights into potential metabolic similarities and differences between glucose and GlcN may prove useful in further understanding the molecular nature of clinical glucose pathologies.

1.11 Effects of GIcN on reproductive outcomes

The limited range of data that has been collected on the impact of GlcN on reproductive outcomes provides credence for performing further investigations. As previously stated, exposure of maturing bovine (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Kimura et al. 2008) and porcine (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006) COCs to GlcN prior to fertilisation has been shown to reduce blastocyst development. Similarly, exposure of mouse (Pantaleon et al. 2008; Pantaleon et al. 2010) and bovine (Kimura et al. 2008) embryos to GlcN had adverse effects on blastocyst development. In an alternative study, pregnant mice given a subcutaneous injection of GlcN on days 7.5 - 10.5 of gestation increased the number of fetuses with neural tube defects, which affected the closure of both the midbrain and hindbrain (Horal et al. 2004).

In contrast, two other studies failed to find evidence for an effect of GlcN on pregnancy outcomes. In the first, no adverse impact of intraplacental or intra-amnionic GlcN administration to pregnant mice on days 11 - 13 of gestation were observed (Didock et al. 1956). However, outcomes measured in this study were restricted to maternal parameters, such as vaginal bleeding and abdominal palpitations, and not embryo development. To date only one report has been published that looks at the effect of GlcN on human pregnancy. Although this study did not show an effect of GlcN exposure on pregnancy outcomes, it was
conducted on a very small sample size and with women taking various doses of GlcN (Sivojelezova et al. 2007). However, further investigation of the effects of GlcN exposure on reproductive outcomes is warranted given the documentation of adverse outcomes.

1.12 Patterns of consumption of GIcN

There is an incomplete understanding of the number of people that take GlcN as a complementary medicine. Kaufman et al. (2002) estimated GlcN consumption in the USA between 1988 - 1989 to be as follows: total proportion of population = 1.9%, (Men) 18 - 44 years of age = <1%, 45 - 64 years of age = 2%, 65+ years of age = 4%, (Women) 18 - 44 years of age = <1%, 45 - 64 years of age = 5% and 65+ years of age = 4%. In a follow up study, data collected over a 5 year period ending in 2002 in the US showed that GlcN consumption amongst a representative population of adults over the age of 18 had steeply increased, and was estimated to be 4.7% for men and 8.2% for women (Hopman et al. 2006). A subsequent study, compiled with data collected in 2005, showed that, overall, 4% of the population consumed some form of GlcN. This figure was calculated from the following gender and age distributions: (Men) 18 - 44 years of age = 1%, 45 - 64 years of age = 8.7%, (Women) 18 - 44 years of age = 1%, 45 - 64 years of age = 5.4% and 65+ years of age = 7.7% (A Report from the Slone Survey, 2005).

Consumption patterns are known to be greater in more defined populations. In a study conducted in the UK it was estimated that up to 15.9% of the population over the age of 55 and suffering from osteoarthritis of the knee consumed some form of GlcN (Jordan et al. 2004). Another study which reviewed the use of complementary medicine by people aged 60-99 in the USA revealed that GlcN was the most commonly consumed of dietary supplements (Wold et al. 2005). An Australian study that looked at dietary supplement use amongst 49 - 89 year olds found that 24% took GlcN (Wilkinson and Jelinek 2009). However it is not only age that is a predictive factor for increased frequency of GlcN consumption. Amongst people that frequently consume multiple supplements, GlcN has been reportedly taken by 57.3% of men and 59.3% of women (Block et al. 2007). In another survey that looked at non-vitamin dietary supplement use in conjunction with prescription medication, it was found that between 3.1% and 16% of people took GlcN (Gardiner et al. 2006).

1.13 Trends in the utilization of other supplements

There is currently limited data pertaining to the consumption of dietary supplements by women that are pregnant or attempting to become pregnant. Small selections of studies have demonstrated a high rate of CAM (complementary and alternative medicine) utilization by this group. Gadsby et al. (1993), for example, reported that 30% of respondents residing in Britain had sought out and utilized some form of CAM in the absence of physician approval for the alleviation of morning sickness symptoms. In Canada, usage may be considerably higher, with one study showing that 61% of pregnant women had used some form of CAM for the alleviation of morning sickness. Perhaps most alarmingly, it was found that only 8% had consulted their physician or pharmacist (Hollyer et al. 2002). Utilization in Australia also appears to be high, with one study finding that 40% of pregnant women used at least one CAM during pregnancy. This figure was largely constituted by vitamin use (24%) and herb use (12%) (Pinn & Pallett, 2002). Subsequently, Stankiewicz et al. (2007) reported that 66% of patients attending a fertility centre in South Australia reported using supplements at initial consultation. An alternative study also conducted in Australia found that 68% of obstetricians and 78% of midwives had recommended patients seek out CAMs (Gaffney & Smith, 2004). This might suggest that perceptions that CAMs are safe and pose a relatively minor risk (Allaire et al. 2000; MacLennan et al. 2002; Koh et al. 2003; Naidu et al. 2005; MacLennan et al. 2006) are held by the general public as well as healthcare providers.

There is good reason to be suspicious of potential adverse effects of dietary supplements on reproductive outcomes, given that several have already proven to yield toxic consequences. According to data gathered from human and animal studies, gestational exposure to high doses of Vitamins A (Cohlen et al. 1953(a); Cohlen et al. 1953(b); Cohlen et al. 1954; Rothman et al. 1995), D (Friedman and Roberts, 1966; Konety et al. 1999; Norman et al. 2002), E (Martin and Hurley 1977; Viana et al. 2003; Boskovic et al. 2005) and E and C combined (Poston et al. 2006; Aris et al. 2008) increases the prevalence of developmental defects.

However, it is not just exposure to supraphysiological doses of compounds which yields adverse effects on pregnancy. For example Blue Cohosh, a plant extract which contains agents capable of stimulating uterine contraction (Ganzera et al. 2003) has been associated with infantile cardiovascular complications (Jones and Lawson, 1998; Finkel and Zarlengo, 2004) and multi-organ hypoxia (Gunn and Wright, 1996). Additionally, liquorice consumption has been demonstrated to increase rates of shorter gestational periods (born between 37-40 weeks gestation) (Strandberg et al. 2001) and premature birth (born before 37 weeks

gestation) (Strandberg et al. 2002). Furthermore, a Norwegian study reported that 39% of pregnant women had consumed herbal supplements that were classified as either harmful to, or having an incomplete level of understanding surrounding, pregnancy (Nordeng and Havnen, 2004). This is probably not an isolated phenomenon, as a study looking at the use of complementary medicines in pregnant Italian women found that only 15.2% of respondents were able to accurately name all complementary products used, and perhaps more alarmingly, 59.1% were unable to recall any (Lapi et al. 2008). Hence it is apparent that an increased level of understanding is required on the effects of CAMs on reproductive outcomes, including GlcN.

1.14 Conclusion

Gaining further understanding of the effects of manipulating glucose metabolic pathways in reproductive processes would potentially prove to be beneficial for two important reasons. In the first instance, further GlcN-based research on the oocyte and pre-implantation embryo would also be useful for providing additional insight into the immediate as well as longer term consequences of peri-conceptional alterations in glucose metabolic pathway activity. This is important given the increasing number of people that are developing diabetes (King et al. 1998) as well as the increasing amount of data available regarding the perturbing effect of high glucose exposure on the oocyte and pre-implantation embryo. In turn, this may also serve a secondary function of contributing to the current knowledge gap that has been generated regarding the impact of dietary supplements on reproductive outcomes

1.15 Hypotheses and aims

1.15.1 General Hypothesis

Peri-conceptional GlcN exposure perturbs reproductive outcomes in the mouse.

1.15.2 Specific hypotheses and aims

This general hypothesis was tested through the execution of both in vitro and in vivo experiments which were based on the following hypotheses and aims:

Hypothesis 1

GlcN exposure to mouse COCs during in vitro maturation (IVM) reduces developmental competence.

Aims

- To assess the impact of various concentrations of GlcN exposure during IVM on rates of embryo development.
- To determine the role of glucose in GlcN-mediated perturbations that occurs during IVM.
- To develop an appropriate culturing system to assess the effects of GlcN exposure during IVM on subsequent embryo development.

Hypothesis 2

The perturbing effects on mouse embryo development that follow GlcN exposure during IVM, occurs via both structural and metabolic processes in the COC.

Aims

• To assess the impact of GIcN on the HBP by inhibiting O-linked glycosylation.

- To determine the role of the cumulus cells and the oocyte in GlcN-mediated changes in O-linked glycosylation.
- To assess the impact of GlcN on the PPP by examining G6PDH activity and ROS production.

Hypothesis 3

In vivo peri-conceptional GlcN exposure perturbs rates of successful fetal development.

Aims

• To assess the effects of different doses and durations of exposure of in vivo, periconceptionally administered GlcN on pregnancy rates, litter size, fetal size, placental size and abnormalities on gestational d18.

Hypothesis 4

The perturbing effects of in vivo, peri-conceptional GlcN exposure on fetal development are heightened in the presence of maternal metabolic perturbations induced by excessive body mass.

Aims

- To assess the effects of a HF (22%) diet on maternal weight as well as insulin and glucose levels.
- To assess the effects of in vivo, peri-conceptional GlcN that is administered to overweight mice on pregnancy rates, ovulation rates, litter size, fetal size, placental size and abnormalities on gestational d18.
- To assess the effects of in vivo, peri-conceptional GlcN that is administered to overweight mice on the post natal development of offspring.

Hypothesis 5

In vivo, peri-conceptional GlcN exposure in mice of different ages elicits non-consistent effects on subsequent fetal development.

Aims

- To assess the role of maternal age on GlcN- mediated perturbations in pregnancy outcomes including pregnancy rates, litter size, fetal size, placental size and abnormalities, on gestational d18.
- To assess the impact of in vivo, peri-conceptional GlcN exposure on oocyte G6PDH activity.

2.0 Chapter 2:

The reduced developmental competence of mouse oocytes following in vitro GlcN exposure is mediated by accompanying levels of glucose

2.1 Summary

GlcN has recently been shown to reduce the developmental competence of in vitro maturing bovine (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Kimura et al. 2008) and porcine oocytes (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006). Here, it has been assessed whether various doses of GlcN also elicit perturbing effects on in vitro maturing mouse oocytes by assessing proportions of 2 cell embryos and blastocysts formed. Addition of 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN to IVM media containing 5 mM or 5.56 mM glucose had no effect on subsequent development when oocyte maturation occurred at a ratio of 10 µl IVM media/ COC. In subsequent experiments, however, it was shown that embryo development was impaired when levels of available glucose were increased. Addition of 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN to IVM media containing 20 mM glucose, in a volume of 10 µl IVM media/ COC, caused a reduction in blastocyst development (when expressed as a proportion of oocytes matured or as a proportion of 2cell embryos). Furthermore IVM was performed using media with a glucose concentration of 5 mM, but at a ratio of 100 µl IVM media/ COC and with the addition of 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN. These conditions also reduced blastocyst development (as a proportion of oocytes matured or of 2-cell embryos). Finally, it was shown that when glucose levels were raised even higher, by the use of media with a glucose concentration of 25 mM and a ratio of 100 µl IVM media/ COC, there was an additive deleterious effect of glucose in the presence of GlcN. Taken together, these results confirm that in vitro exposure of maturing mouse COCs to GIcN does have a detrimental effect on subsequent development, and also show that this effect is dependent upon accompanying levels of glucose in the culture media.

2.2 Introduction

The approaches in performing IVM of immature COCs have undergone minimal change over the past six decades. This is reflective of a limited increase in the understanding of the requirements of the maturing COC, and is evidenced by the fact that in vivo matured COCs still prove to be of a higher quality and exhibit greater developmental success when compared to their in vitro matured counterparts (van de Leemput et al. 1999; Enright et al. 2000; Rizos et al. 2002; Khatir et al. 2007(a); Khatir et al. 2007(b)). One of the few contributing factors examined so far is the elevated concentration of glucose that is present in most historical IVM media formulations relative to the follicle (Orsi et al. 2005; Harris et al. 2005; Sutton-McDowall et al. 2004; Iwata et al. 1998; Nandi et al. 2008). It has been documented that in vitro matured COCs consume significantly more glucose than their in vivo matured counterparts (Harris et al. 2007).

Glucose availability for individual COCs in culture environments is influenced by the concentration of glucose in the media, and the volume of media provided per COC. However, there is still a great deal of variation between different systems in terms of the amount of glucose that is available for each COC. For example, although mouse IVM commonly occurs in a glucose concentration of 5 - 5.56 mM, the number of COCs cultured per drop can vary considerably (Roberts et al. 2004; Roberts et al. 2005; Dunning et al. 2007; Pries et al. 2005; Pries et al. 2007; Banwell et al. 2007). This occurs despite the fact that developmental outcomes have proven to be inconsistent when glucose concentrations (Downs 1994; Sutton-McDowall et al. 2005) as well as culture volumes (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2004) during IVM are varied.

One of the metabolic routes that glucose may flux through is the Hexosamine biosynthetic pathway (HBP) (Figure 1), which has been speculated to be an integral energy-sensing pathway in the metabolism of many tissues (Marshall et al. 1991(a)). Somatic cells typically metabolize 1 - 3% of glucose through the Hexosamine pathway (Marshall et al. 1991(b)). However, Sutton et al. (2003) showed that bovine COCs flux differential glucose concentrations through the HBP during maturation, in response to the ovulatory signaling pathway (Sutton et al. 2003; Sutton-McDowall et al. 2004), with a peak flux estimated to be around 24% of glucose uptake (Gutnisky et al. 2007). This additional flux is required for the expansion of the cumulus matrix (Sutton McDowall et al. 2004), specifically for the production of hyaluronin, a major end product of the hexosamine pathway (Eppig 1979; Ball et al. 1982; Talbot 1984; Suchanek et al. 1994).

Schelbach



2.2.1 Figure 1: The effect of GlcN on Glucose metabolic pathways. GlcN is converted to the Hexosamine intermediate, GlcN-6-Phosphate. An elevation in GlcN-6-Phosphate has the dual role of increasing the flux of metabolic activity through the Hexosamine pathway, as well as inhibiting the rate limiting enzyme Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase, and therefore depressing, the Pentose Phosphate Pathway.

The aminosaccharide GlcN has been shown to be transported into cells via glucose transporters (Uldry et al. 2002), and converted to the HBP intermediate, glucosamine-6-phosphate (GlcN-6-P) (Marshall et al. 2005(b)). GlcN-6-P is positioned downstream of the non-reversible, rate-limiting enzyme GFPT (Figure 1). This in turn leads to an increase in (non-reversible) flux through the HBP and subsequently an increased formation of end products of the Hexosamine pathway.

Sutton-McDowall et al. (2004) proposed that addition of GlcN to bovine IVM media would stimulate an elevation in Hexosamine pathway activity, and potentially permit a reduction in the glucose concentration of the media. It was subsequently found that maturation, fertilization and early embryo development in porcine and bovine models proceeded as normal, but that ensuing development was significantly hindered (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006). These findings served as the first evidence that exposure of the maturing COC to GlcN had a detrimental impact on the subsequent developmental competence of the oocyte.

The experiments outlined in this chapter have been designed to test the hypothesis that GlcN exposure during in vitro maturation will reduce the developmental competence of mouse oocytes. In addition, the relationship between glucose and glucosamine and their effects on

developmental competence of mouse oocytes have been examined by assessing GlcN exposure in conjunction with varying levels of glucose.

2.3 Methods and Materials

Except where otherwise stated, all chemicals were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St Louis, USA).

2.3.1 Animals

Pre-pubertal (21-23 day old) CBA x C57Bl/6 F1 female mice (CBAB6F1) were obtained from Laboratory Animal Services at the University of Adelaide or from an in-house breeding colony maintained at The Queen Elizabeth Hospital (TQEH), Woodville, South Australia. Mice were caged on a 14:10 hour light: dark cycle in the animal housing facilities at TQEH and maintained on a standard mouse chow diet.

2.3.2 COC Collection

Mice received a single 0.1 ml intraperitoneal (IP) injection of 5 IU eCG (Folligon; Intervet, Boxmeer, Holland). Forty-six h after eCG injection, mice were killed via cervical dislocation and ovaries were dissected out and placed into 37° C handling media. In experiments one and two, ovaries were collected in 1 ml 37° C Hepes- buffered α MEM (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) supplemented with 50 µg/ml streptomycin sulphate, 75 µg/ml penicillin G and 5% FBS (Invitrogen). In experiments 3 - 7, ovaries were collected into 1 ml 37° C MOPS G2.2 (Lane and Gardner, 2004) supplemented with 1 mg/ml fetuin. Two to four ovaries were placed into 35 mm Falcon 1008 culture dishes (Becton-Dickinson Labware, Franklin Lakes, USA) in 1- 2 ml warmed handling media (α MEM or MOPS G2 as indicated), and COCs were obtained by rupturing swollen follicles with a 30 gauge needle. Immature COCs surrounded completely by cumulus cells were washed in fresh, 37° C handling media three times.

2.3.3 In Vitro Maturation

Washed COCs were placed into IVM media. For experiments one and two, the IVM media used was α MEM supplemented with 50 µg/ml Streptomycin, 75 µg/ml Penicillin G, 5% FBS and 50 mlU/ml recombinant human Follicle Stimulating Hormone (FSH) (Puregon; Organon, Sydney, Australia). Since α MEM is a generic tissue culture media, media designed for in vitro oocyte maturation of mouse oocytes (modified G2.2) was used for experiments three – seven. Modified G2.2 was supplemented with 50 mlU/ml recombinant human FSH and 1 mg/ml fetuin. For all experiments, media was overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated in 35 mm Falcon dishes (37°C in 6% CO₂:5% O₂:89% N₂) for 4 – 18 h (Lane and Gardner, 2004). All COCs were incubated for 17 h prior to fertilization and embryo culture unless otherwise stated.

Across all experimental groups COCs were matured with exposure to varying levels of glucose availability, achieved by altering either the glucose concentration or the volume of IVM media that maturation occurred in. These parameters are described in Table 1. Reference to increasing levels of glucose availability is relative to experiments 1 and 2, where maturation occurred in a volume of 10 μ L/ COC with a glucose concentration of 5 – 5.56 mM.

Experiment	Glucose Concentration (mM)	Volume of media per COC (μL)	GIcN Concentration (mM)
1	5.56	10	0, 1.25, 5
2	5	10	0, 1.25, 5
2	20	10	0 1 25 5
3	5.56	10	0, 1.25, 5
4	5	100	0, 1.25, 5
5	5	100	0, 1.25, 2.5
6	25	100	0, 1.25, 2.5
7	5	10	0, 1.25, 5
	5	50	
	5	100	

2.3.3.1 Table 1: Glucose availability during IVM in Experiments 1 - 7.

2.3.4 Developmental competence of oocytes matured ± GlcN

2.3.4.1 Experiment 1

 α MEM media (with a basal glucose concentration of 5.56 mM) was prepared and placed into 100 µL drops supplemented with a) 0 mM GlcN, b) 1.25 mM GlcN or c) 5 mM GlcN. Ten washed COCs were placed into each drop, at a ratio of 10 µL media per COC. Three 100 µL drops were prepared per treatment, so that a total of 30 COCs were matured per treatment, per replicate. A total of six replicates of IVM were performed.

2.3.4.2 Experiment 2

Modified G2.2 media (with a basal glucose concentration of 5 mM) was prepared and placed into 100 μ L drops supplemented with a) 0 mM GlcN, b) 1.25 mM GlcN or c) 5 mM GlcN. Thirty washed COCs were placed in each drop, at a ratio of 10 μ L media per COC. Three 100 μ L drops were prepared per treatment, so that a total of 30 COCs were matured per treatment, per replicate. A total of five replicates of IVM were performed.

2.3.5 Developmental competence of oocytes matured \pm GlcN \pm greater glucose availability by way of increasing the glucose concentration in the media

2.3.5.1 Experiment 3

αMEM media (with a basal glucose concentration of 5.56 mM) was prepared and placed into 100 μL drops supplemented with a) 0 mM GlcN + 14.44 mM Glucose, b) 1.25 mM GlcN + 14.44 mM Glucose, c) 5 mM GlcN + 14.44 mM Glucose or d) 5 mM GlcN. The addition of 14.44 mM glucose elevated the glucose concentration of the IVM media to 20 mM. 20 mM glucose is supraphysiological relative to mouse follicular glucose concentrations (0.01 – 2.4 mM) (Harris et al. 2005), although it is still lower than the 23 mM glucose concentration of the commonly used Waymouth culture media. Ten washed COCs were placed in each drop, at a ratio of 10 μL media per COC. Three 100 μL drops were prepared per treatment, so that a total of 30 COCs were matured per treatment, per replicate. A total of five replicates of IVM were performed.

2.3.6 Developmental competence of oocytes matured \pm GlcN with greater glucose availability by way of an increase in the volume of maturation media

2.3.6.1 Experiment 4

Modified G2.2 media (with a basal glucose concentration of 5 mM) was prepared and placed into 3000 μ L drops supplemented with a) 0 mM GlcN, b) 1.25 mM GlcN or c) 5 mM GlcN. Thirty washed COCs were placed in each drop, at a ratio of 100 μ L media per COC. A total of 30 COCs were matured per treatment, per replicate and one replicate of IVM was performed.

2.3.6.2 Experiment 5

Modified G2.2 media (with a basal glucose concentration of 5 mM) was prepared and placed into 3000 μ L drops supplemented with a) 0 mM GlcN, b) 1.25 mM GlcN or c) 2.5 mM GlcN. Thirty washed COCs were placed in each drop, at a ratio of 100 μ L media per COC. A total of 30 COCs were matured per treatment, per replicate. A total of 6 replicates of IVM were performed.

2.3.7 Developmental competence of oocytes matured \pm GlcN with greater glucose availability by way of increased glucose concentration in the media and an increase in the volume of maturation media

2.3.7.1 Experiment 6

Modified G2.2 media (with a basal glucose concentration of 5 mM) was prepared and placed into 3000 μ L drops supplemented with a) 0 mM GlcN, b) 2.5 mM GlcN, c) 0 mM GlcN + 20 mM glucose or d) 2.5 mM GlcN + 20 mM glucose. Where glucose supplementation occurred (groups c and d), a total glucose concentration of 25 mM was achieved. Thirty washed COCs were placed in each drop, at a ratio of 100 μ L media per COC. A total of 30 COCs were matured per treatment, per replicate. A total of 4 replicates of IVM were performed.

2.3.8 A direct comparison of the developmental competence of oocytes matured ± GlcN with varying levels of glucose availability

2.3.8.1 Experiment 7

Modified G2.2 media (with a basal glucose concentration of 5 mM) was prepared and supplemented with either 0 mM GlcN or 2.5 mM GlcN. These two IVM media were distributed in 300 μ L, 1500 μ L or 3000 μ L drops, so that maturation occurred in ratios of 10 μ L, 50 μ L or 100 μ L of media per COC. Thirty washed COCs were placed in each drop per replicate, and a total of five replicates of IVM were performed.

2.3.9 IVF

Eight- 24-week-old CBAF1 males of proven fertility, and who had not mated within the previous 48 hours, were killed via cervical dislocation 16 hours after the initiation of IVM. Both epididymides and vas deferens were immediately removed, and placed into 1 ml α MEM supplemented with 50 µg/ml streptomycin, 75 µg/ml penicillin G (Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO)) and 3 mg/ml bovine serum albumin (BSA) (ICPbio, Auckland, New Zealand), overlaid with mineral oil. Sperm was released by squeezing the epididymides and vas deferens with fine, sterile forceps. Sperm was allowed to capacitate for one hour. Dishes containing 90 µL drops of α MEM supplemented with 3 mg/ml BSA equilibrated for 12-18 hours, were used for IVF. At the completion of the one hour capacitation period, which corresponded to the completion of the 17 hour IVM period, 10 µL sperm was added to each 90 µL drop of α MEM supplemented with 3 mg/ml BSA, and overlaid with mineral oil.

Matured COCs were assessed at the completion of the 17-hour IVM period, and viable COCs were removed and quickly washed through approximately 0.5 ml 37°C handling media. In experiments 1 and 2, the handling media was Hepes-buffered α MEM, and in experiments 3 - 5 the handling media was MOPS supplemented with 1 mg/ml fetuin. COCs were then quickly moved to a second wash drop comprised of 90 µL α MEM supplemented with 3 mg/ml BSA. Following the second wash, COCs were quickly transferred to the 90 µL drops of α MEM supplemented with 3 mg/ml BSA with 10 µL sperm and overlaid with mineral oil. Thirty COCs were added to each IVF drop. Dishes were then transferred back to the incubator for 4 hours to allow COCs to be fertilized.

2.3.10 Embryo Culture

All embryo culture was performed at 37° C in 6% CO₂, 5% O₂, 89% N₂. All media drops were equilibrated for 4-18 h before use.

2.3.10.1 Experiments 1 & 3

Following fertilization, presumptive zygotes were transferred to a 40 μ L drop of KSOM culture media that was overlaid with mineral oil. Zygotes were then quickly transferred to 10 μ L drops of KSOM, at a ratio of 5 zygotes per drop and were cultured for 20 hours. Embryos were assessed for rates of 2-cell development, as indicated by the presence of 2-cell embryos. Cleaved embryos were then transferred to fresh 10 μ L drops of KSOM (5 per drop), overlaid with mineral oil. Seventy-two hours later embryos were assessed for rates of 5 per drop, compensation was made by adding either one less or one more to drops.

2.3.10.2 Experiments 2 & 4 - 7

Following fertilization, presumptive zygotes were transferred to a 40 μ L drop of G1 (Lane and Gardner (2004)) culture media that was overlaid with mineral oil. Zygotes were then quickly transferred to 10 μ L drops of G1 in the same dish as the wash drop, at a ratio of 5 zygotes per drop. Twenty h later, embryos were assessed for rates of 2-cell development, as indicated by the presence of 2-cell embryos. Cleaved embryos were then transferred to fresh 10 μ L drops of G1 (5 per drop), overlaid with mineral oil. Twenty-four h later embryos were assessed for rates of 4-cell development. They were then transferred to 10 μ L drops of G2.2 (Lane and Gardner, 2004) culture media that was overlaid with mineral oil. Forty-eight h later embryos were assessed for rates of blastocyst development.

2.4 Statistical Analysis

Data was arcsine transformed to allow statistical testing utilizing tests (such as analysis of variance) associated with normally distributed data, rather than proportional data, and analyzed with Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 13.0. A One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to analyze rates of 2-cell development, blastocyst

development from 2-cell embryos and blastocyst development from oocytes matured for experiments 1, 2, 3 and 5. A Two-way ANOVA was used to analyze rates of 2-cell development, blastocyst development from 2-cell embryos and blastocyst development from oocytes matured for experiments 6 and 7. Post hoc testing was performed with the Bonferroni correction owing to the test's high resistance to Type 2 errors.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Developmental competence of oocytes matured ± GlcN

2.5.1.1 Experiments 1 and 2

For COCs matured in the presence of 5.56 mM glucose (with α MEM as the base medium) and in a ratio of 10 µL media per COC, the incorporation of either 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN did not alter the rates of development of 2 cell embryos or blastocysts (from 2-cell embryos or from oocytes matured), when compared to oocytes matured without GlcN (Figure 2). Similarly, no effect on embryo development was observed for oocytes matured with either 0 mM, 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN in a ratio of 10 µL media per COC and with mG2.2 (glucose concentration = 5 mM) as the base media (Figure 3). Collectively these results reveal that the addition of GlcN to IVM systems with a relatively low amount of available glucose does not affect developmental competence of oocytes.



2.5.1.1.1 Figure 2: Experiment 1: 2-cell and blastocyst development rates from oocytes exposed to 0 mM, 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN in conjunction with 5.56 mM glucose (α MEM) during in vitro maturation (mean ± SEM). IVM was performed in a ratio of 10 μ L media per COC. Blastocyst rates are expressed as a proportion of 2-cell embryos or oocytes



2.5.1.1.2 Figure 3: Experiment 2: 2-cell and blastocyst development rates from oocytes exposed to 0 mM, 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN in conjunction with 5 mM glucose (MG2.2) during in vitro maturation (mean \pm SEM). IVM was performed in a ratio of 10 µL media per COC. Blastocyst rates are expressed as a proportion of 2-cell embryos or oocytes.

2.5.2 Developmental competence of oocytes matured \pm GlcN \pm greater glucose availability by way of increasing the glucose concentration in the media

2.5.2.1 Experiment 3

There were no effects of GlcN or glucose (20 mM vs 5.56 mM) on rates of 2-cell development (Figure 4). However, significantly fewer blastocysts developed from 2 cell embryos that were derived from COCs matured with either 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN and 20 mM glucose, relative to those matured without GlcN, irrespective of glucose concentration (P<0.05). GlcN treatment also reduced blastocyst development rates when expressed as a proportion of oocytes matured. However, when rates of blastocyst development were assessed as a proportion of oocytes matured an effect of glucose, in the absence of GlcN, was observed, with higher development rates seen when oocytes were matured in 5.56 mM glucose, compared to 20 mM glucose (P<0.05). This could show that GlcN addition to IVM media does perturb developmental potential when levels of accompanying glucose are elevated. The results also suggest that development (i.e. blastocyst development as a proportion of oocytes matured) is reduced in the presence of higher levels of glucose, irrespective of GlcN treatment.



2.5.2.1.1 Figure 4: Experiment 3: 2 cell and blastocyst development rates from oocytes exposed to 0 mM, 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN in conjunction with 20 mM glucose (glucose supplemented α MEM) or 0 mM GlcN and 5.56 mM glucose (base α MEM) during in vitro maturation (mean ± SEM). IVM was performed in a ratio of 10 µL media per COC. Blastocyst rates are expressed as a proportion of 2-cell embryos or oocytes. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups, within each developmental stage.

2.5.3 Developmental competence of oocytes matured \pm GlcN with greater glucose availability by way of an increase in the volume of maturation media

2.5.3.1 Experiments 4 and 5

At the completion of one replicate of IVM, it was determined that the exposure of oocytes to media containing 5 mM GlcN and 5 mM glucose at a ratio of 100 μ L IVM media/ COC was toxic (experiment 4, data not shown). Cumulus cells exposed to this treatment were dark, sticky and clumped in dark patches, suggestive of apoptosis. Many oocytes had also lysed. As a result, the effects of 5 mM GlcN were not investigated further and a concentration of 2.5 mM GlcN was used as the highest dose in the subsequent study (experiment 5). Here, it was shown that GlcN exposure did not alter rates of 2- cell development. However, exposing oocytes to GlcN significantly reduced blastocyst development from 2-cell embryos (P<0.001) as well as from oocytes matured (P<0.001) (Figure 5). This shows that when levels of glucose become elevated, not by increasing the glucose concentration but instead by increasing the culture volume, GlcN elicits a detrimental effect on developmental outcomes.



2.5.3.1.1 Figure 5: Experiment 5: 2-cell and blastocyst development rates from oocytes exposed to 0 mM, 1.25 mM or 2.5 mM GlcN in conjunction with 5 mM glucose (MG2.2 media) during in vitro maturation (mean \pm SEM). IVM was performed in a ratio of 100 µL media per COC. Blastocyst rates are expressed as a proportion of 2-cell embryos or oocytes. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups, within each developmental stage.

2.5.4 Developmental competence of oocytes matured \pm GlcN with greater glucose availability by way of increased glucose concentration in the media and an increase in the volume of maturation media

2.5.4.1 Experiment 6

When glucose levels became further elevated in the presence of 2.5 mM GlcN, there were concomitant further reductions in development competence (Figure 6). Rates of 2-cell development were reduced by a high concentration of glucose (25 mM) (P<0.05) as well as by GlcN regardless of the concentration of glucose (either 5 mM or 25 mM), although there was no interactive effect of GlcN and glucose. Similarly, 25 mM glucose (P<0.04) and GlcN in the presence of both 5 mM and 25 mM glucose (P<0.05) significantly reduced blastocyst development from 2-cell embryos, but there was no interaction between GlcN and glucose treatments. However, blastocyst development from oocytes was shown to be reduced by GlcN (P<0.02), 25 mM glucose (P<0.05) as well as an interaction between GlcN and glucose treatments, regardless of the concentration (P<0.05).





2.5.5 A direct comparison of the developmental competence of oocytes matured \pm GlcN with varying levels of glucose availability

2.5.5.1 Experiment 7

From Table 2, the volume of incubation medium per COC alone had no effect on early cleavage or blastocyst development from 2-cell embryos. In contrast, the presence of 2.5 mM GlcN had detrimental effects on development from 2-cell to blastocyst, but only when the volume of medium per COC was increased to 50 or 100 μ L/COC, in comparison to 10 μ L/COC. Furthermore, early cleavage was also reduced when oocytes were matured in 100 μ L/COC in the presence of GlcN (P<0.04). Collectively, these results (shown in Table 2) would suggest that the effects of GlcN may be heightened with greater availability of glucose.

Treatment	% 2 cell/ Oocyte	% Blastocyst/ 2 cell	% Blastocyst/ Oocyte
10 μL, 0 GlcN	89.7 ± 4.0	78.6 ± 4.1	70.3 ± 5.1
10 μL, 2.5 GlcN	83.6 ± 3.3	72.1 ± 6.6	60.5 ± 7.3
50 μL, 0 GlcN	88.2 ± 4.2	83.5 ± 6.5	73.2 ± 6.4
50 μL, 2.5 GlcN	83.4 ± 2.9	46.2 ± 11.2 *	37.6 ± 10.3 *
100 μL, 0 GlcN	87.4 ± 5.6	72.2 ± 7.8	63.8 ± 8.1
100 μL, 2.5 GlcN	68.7 ± 8.2 *	38.8 ± 12.3 *	27.9 ± 12.7 *

2.5.5.1.1 Table 2: Development rates following exposure to 5 mM glucose + either 0 mM or 2.5 mM GlcN during IVM. Maturation was performed in a ratio of either 10, 50 or 100 μ L media per COC. Blastocyst rates are expressed as a proportion of 2-cell embryos or oocytes. * denotes significant differences to the "10 μ L, 0 GlcN" treatment (P < 0.05) for each column.

2.6 Discussion

To date, there is an incomplete understanding of the effects of exposing mouse COCs to elevated levels of Hexosamine activity during IVM. Hexosamine activity has been shown to be up-regulated by the addition of GlcN (Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki and Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Nelson et al. 2000; Marshall et al. 2004; Marshall et al. 2005a; Marshall et al. 2005b). Initial studies in the mouse performed by Chen et al. (1990; 1993) showed that exposure of the maturing COC to GlcN did not affect embryo development, although these studies were limited to analysis of 2-cell development. Subsequently, Sutton-McDowall et al. (2006) demonstrated that this lack of effect on 2-cell development was also consistent in the bovine and porcine models, but that increased rates of embryo death were noted during the post-compaction period.

Although the outcomes from experiments 1 and 2 failed to show an effect of GlcN on mouse COC developmental competence, it cannot be concluded that GlcN does not have a perturbing effect on embryo development. Rather, it seems that GlcN-mediated developmental perturbations are dependent upon accompanying levels of glucose in the culture media. This is evidenced from the finding in Experiment 3 where blastocyst production was significantly reduced when COCs were matured in 10 μ L/ COC media containing 20 mM glucose relative to COCs matured in 10 μ L/ COC media containing 5.56 mM glucose. In addition, developmental competence was further reduced when either 1.25 mM or 5 mM GlcN was added to the 20 mM glucose containing media, thereby implicating an essential role of glucose in GlcN-mediated perturbations.

The role of glucose in this phenomenon was further suggested by the findings of experiments 6 and 7. In experiment 6, it was found that culturing COCs at a ratio of 100 μ L/ COC reduced embryo development when IVM media was either supplemented with additional glucose to elevate glucose concentrations from 5 mM to 25 mM, or by adding 2.5 mM GlcN. Importantly, the combination of 25 mM glucose and 2.5 mM GlcN (matured in media ratios of 100 μ L/ COC) had a synergetic effect and reduced embryo development to levels significantly below either perturbing treatment on its own. Subsequently, experiment 7 showed that the incorporation of 2.5mM GlcN into IVM media containing 5 mM glucose only reduced blastocyst production when COCs had been cultured in media at ratios of 50 μ L/ COC or 100 μ L/ COC, but not 10 μ L/ COC. It does need to be noted however that several factors need to be considered in interpreting these findings. These factors do not change the validity of the outcomes, but could potentially impact upon the mechanistic influences at play.

Firstly, it would have been useful to assess the culture media for various paracrine factors that may have been secreted by the COCs during culture. This is because it is possible that the greater level of dilution of paracrine factors may have contributed towards the additive effects of GlcN addition to a larger culture drop. It is unlikely that this would be the sole contributing factor as it was shown that the combination of GlcN with higher concentrations of glucose led to reduced blastocyst development when culturing occurred in both 10 μ L/COC (experiment 3) and 100 μ L/COC (experiment 6). However, an analysis of embryo culture medium could identify potential signaling differences between the variously sized environments which may contribute to the effects observed.

Secondly, in light of the findings of perturbed development in response to increased concentrations of glucose (Experiments 3 and 6), it has been have inferred that when COCs are matured in larger volumes but with uniform glucose concentrations, there is an increased glucose availability because COC metabolism does not significantly decrease glucose levels in the medium (Experiment 7). It has previously been shown that glucose levels in "spent" maturation medium (following IVM of bovine COCs) is affected by density of COCs per volume of media; when maturation occurred in the presence of 5 mM glucose but in either 5 μ L/COC or 10 μ L/COC (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2005), much less glucose remained in the more dense maturation conditions. Although these results were derived from different species and utilized different IVM volumes to the ones outlined in the current set of experiments, they do none-the-less provide evidence that culture volume can impact upon glucose availability. Specific testing of glucose uptake from different volumes of IVM media outlined in this chapter are never the less warranted.

Such testing could also be extended to examine the effects of GlcN on glucose uptake, since the outcomes of these studies point towards dependence of GlcN on glucose for perturbations to be manifested. When Sutton-McDowall et al. (2005) analyzed the post-IVM glucose concentrations of bovine media, it was found that glucose uptake was reduced by the co-incorporation of GlcN.

Mouse cumulus cells contain Glut 1 (Zhou et al. 2000) which transports both glucose and GlcN (Uldry et al. 2002), and has a negative correlation expression pattern with glucose concentration (Koranyi et al. 1991; Tal et al. 1992). The concentration of glucose in the base media used in the experiments outlined in this chapter were 5.0 mM (MG2.2) and 5.6 mM (α MEM), markedly higher than the 0.1 - 2.4 mM glucose concentration typically found in mouse follicular fluid (Harris et al. 2005) but necessary to prevent glucose depletion in in vitro cultured cells that do not have access to an ongoing supply of substances from the

reproductive tract (Downs et al. 1998). That increased rates of developmental failures were observed in response to GlcN and higher levels of glucose (mediated in the very least by increased glucose concentrations) suggests an increased level of activity in the only known glucose transporter present in mouse cumulus cells - Glut 1. This contrasts the previously recognised pattern of down regulation of Glut 1 in response to elevated glucose concentrations. Thus, it is apparent that current understandings of GLUT activity in response to glucose concentration gradients are incomplete. Activity could be influenced by tissue specific distribution and/or differences in degrees of glycemic exposure.

Thirdly, performing IVM in larger volumes would potentially increase the availability of other substrates apart from glucose. The relative increase in availability of substrates within MG2.2 base media that follows culturing in larger volumes are not likely candidate confounders, owing to the fact that MG2.2 is an optimized mouse IVM media, and culturing in ratio of 100 μ L/ COC lies within the optimized range (Lane and Gardner, 1994). It is however possible that additional GlcN is available in larger culture volumes, and such increased levels of GlcN availability may have been involved in reducing blastocyst development following IVM that was performed in media volumes of 50 μ L/ COC and 100 μ L/ COC (Experiment 7). It is however unlikely that increased GlcN availability would be the sole contributor to these outcomes, given that an additive effect of 2.5 mM GlcN and 20 mM glucose were observed in COCs matured in 100 μ L media/ COC (Experiment 6). However, specific testing such as measuring IVM glucose concentrations throughout maturation or post maturation or assessing labeled glucose and/or GlcN incorporation within the COC, would have been useful.

It has long been known that exposure of somatic systems to GlcN can be mimetic of hyperglycemic conditions (Coulson & Hernandez 1962; Martin & Bambers 1965). To date there has been limited research examining the effects of exposure of the COC or early embryo to hyperglycemic conditions. Studies have shown that ovarian follicles from streptozotocin – induced diabetic mice are smaller and contain a greater number of apoptotic cells (Chang et al. 2005a). Similarly, COCs from diabetic mice exhibit delayed maturation (Diamond et al. 1989; Chang et al. 2005a; Ratchford et al. 2007), less gap junctional communication (Ratchford et al. 2008), perturbed metabolism (Ratchford et al. 2007) and contain oocytes that are smaller in size (Chang et al. 2005a). Recently, detrimental effects of exposing bovine and porcine oocytes to GlcN have also been observed (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Kimura et al. 2008). Therefore, the use of GlcN to examine the effects of elevated Hexosamine flux on oocyte developmental competence should prove to be a very useful tool.

2.7 Conclusion

The results of these studies indicate that an elevated glucose level elicits a perturbing effect on blastocyst development. Furthermore, they also demonstrate that this effect can be further exacerbated by the introduction of GlcN. In the experiments outlined in this chapter levels of Hexosamine activity were not directly measured. However, GlcN is known to cause an up regulation in HBP activity in somatic tissues (Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki and Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Nelson et al. 2000; Marshall et al. 2004; Marshall et al. 2005a; Marshall et al. 2005b). We can therefore predict that the effects of exposing the COC to GlcN are, at least in part, contributed to by an up regulation in HBP activity in the COC. Additional experiments are required, however, to elucidate whether effects are mediated through the oocyte, the cumulus cells, or both and to determine the mechanisms involved. 3.0 Chapter 3

Contributing mechanisms involved in the adverse outcomes that follow exposure of COCs to GlcN during IVM

3.1 Summary

Previously, it has been demonstrated that exposure of cow and pig COCs to GlcN during in vitro maturation results in reductions in oocyte developmental competence. In Chapter 2 this was also shown to occur in mouse COCs when higher levels of glucose were also present. Using the mouse model, some of the mechanisms contributing to the decrease in developmental competence have been elucidated. This study has confirmed that exposure of mouse COCs to GlcN during in vitro maturation perturbs developmental competence. As with cattle oocytes, inhibition of O-linked glycosylation of unknown proteins within the mouse COC significantly reversed the influence of GlcN. This was evidenced by the improvement in blastocyst development that occurred when IVM was performed with 2.5 mM GlcN and either 1 mM or 2 mM of the O-linked glycosylation inhibitor Benzyl-2-acetamido-2-deoxy-α-dgalactopyranoside (BADGP). Furthermore, it was also determined that the influence of GlcN is likely mediated by the cumulus cell vestment. When oocytes were matured in 0 or 2.5mM GlcN ± cumulus cells (CC), blastocyst development was significantly greater when IVM had occurred with cumulus cells and without GlcN. Development was reduced equivalently by performing IVM in 2.5 mM GlcN + CC, 0 mM GlcN – CC or 2.5 mM GlcN – CC indicating that there was no additive effect of GlcN exposure and cumulus cell removal. Within these same groups, significantly fewer oocytes matured with cumulus cells but without GIcN were observed to have blue cytoplasms when visualised following treatment with the G6PDH marker Brilliant Cressyl Blue, suggesting that they underwent more efficient PPP Rates of staining were comparable between the remaining three groups, metabolism. suggesting that not only may GlcN inhibit the pentose phosphate metabolic pathway within the oocyte, but also that this effect could be mediated by cumulus cells in intact COCs. Finally, when oocytes underwent IVM \pm CC \pm 2.5 mM GlcN \pm 2 mM BADGP, it was shown that the highest rates of blastocyst development from oocytes occurred when IVM was performed in 0 mM GlcN + CC or 0 mM GlcN + CC + BADGP. In contrast performing IVM either with GlcN or without cumulus cells yielded consistently poor outcomes with the exception of maturation that was performed with 2.5 mM GlcN + CC + 2.5 mM BADGP. That improvements in developmental outcomes following the addition of BADGP to GlcNcontaining media only occurred in the presence of cumulus cells, implicates cumulus cells in altered O-linked glycosylation processes that occur within COCs in response to GIcN exposure, Collectively, these results demonstrate that GlcN inhibits the developmental competence of in vitro matured mouse oocytes, and suggest that this occurs by cumulus cell mediated mechanisms.

3.2 Introduction

In many different types of somatic cells, GlcN has been shown to affect glucose metabolic pathways. Commonly, this has been shown to occur by stimulating the production of GlcN-6-phosphate and thereby up regulating the HBP (Virkamaki & Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Nelson et al. 2000; Marshall et al. 2004; Marshall et al. 2005(a); Marshall et al. 2005(b)). Still other studies have shown that GlcN has an inhibitory effect on PPP activity, due to GlcN-6-phosphate (the hexosamine intermediate that GlcN is converted to) inhibiting the first rate limiting enzyme of the PPP, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) (Bessell & Thomas, 1973; Kanji et al.1976; Horal et al. 2004).

The metabolic requirements of the maturing COC (which is comprised of one germ cell and thousands of somatic cells) are distinctive from a range of other somatic cells. Unlike somatic cells that flux 1 - 3% of glucose through the HBP (Marshall et al. 1991(a)), bovine COCs flux differential concentrations through the hexosamine pathway at different stages of maturation (Sutton et al. 2003; Sutton-McDowall et al. 2004), with a peak flux estimated to be around 24% (Gutnisky et al. 2007). This is to enable COC expansion (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2004) as expanding COCs have an increasing need for hyaluronin, an end product of the Hexosamine pathway (Eppig 1979; Ball et al. 1982; Talbot 1984; Suchanek et al. 1994). Given that such cellular-specific patterns of glucose metabolism exist within the COC, it is apparent that the COC's metabolic response to GlcN exposure cannot be simply inferred from the response patterns of other somatic cells or tissues.

It is likely that GlcN elicits its effects on mouse COCs during IVM by multiple mechanisms. The first probable mechanism involves an up regulation in protein O-linked glycosylation, which is a type of protein modification that manifests as changes to serine and threonine residues (Torres and Hart, 1984). O-linked glycosylation is emerging as a key feature of many proteins associated with perturbed health states, including conditions characterized by aberrant glucose and insulin metabolism (Patti et al. 1999; Akimoto et al. 2001; McClain et al. 2002; Federici et al. 2002; Vosseller et al. 2002; Fulop et al. 2007). Protein O-linked glycosylation has been identified in numerous models (Patti et al. 1999; Chen et al. 2003; Champattanachai et al. 2007; Park et al. 2007; Champattanachai et al. 2008; Madsen-Bouterse et al. 2008; Xing et al. 2008), including bovine in vitro matured COCs (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006).

A second potential mechanism relates to potential reductions in PPP activity. Activation of the PPP has been shown to be essential for the maturation of oocytes in multiple species (Downs et al. 1996; Downs et al. 1998; Downs & Utecht 1999; Cetica et al. 2002; Herrick et

al. 2006). The mechanisms at play are poorly understood, but are thought to relate to the synthesis of the PPP products - purines (Downs 1994; Downs 1997), 5-Phosphoribosyl-1-Pyrophosphate (PRPP) as well as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) and NADPH- dependent enzymes (Downs et al. 1998). There is also evidence that PPP-mediated lipid metabolism is essential for oocyte maturation (Cetica et al. 2002). Since it is known that GlcN-6-phosphate has an inhibitory effect on the first rate-limiting enzyme of the PPP, G6PDH (Bessell & Thomas, 1973; Kanji et al.1976; Horal et al. 2004), it is therefore likely that GlcN could also reduce PPP activity in COCs.

The experiments performed in this chapter have been designed to elucidate some of the mechanisms involved in perturbing the developmental competence of mouse COCs exposed to GlcN. Specifically, this has been approached by assessing the impact of inhibiting GlcN-mediated increases in O-linked glycosylation, ascertaining the role of cumulus cells in this pathology and assessing the impact of exposing the COC to GlcN on the PPP.

3.3 Methods and materials

Except where otherwise stated, all chemicals were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St Louis, USA)

3.3.1 Animals

Twenty-one to 23-day-old CBAB6F1 mice were obtained from Laboratory Animal Services at the University of Adelaide, or from an in-house breeding colony maintained at The Queen Elizabeth Hospital (TQEH). They received an IP injection of 5IU eCG (Folligon; Intervet, Boxmeer, Holland). Mice were caged for a further 46 hours on a 14:10 hour light: dark cycle, kept in animal housing facilities at either the Queen Elizabeth Hospital (TQEH) in Woodville, South Australia, or at the University of Adelaide Medical School, South Australia.

3.3.2 COC Collection and In Vitro Maturation

Forty-six hours after eCG injection, mice were sacrificed by cervical dislocation and ovaries were placed into 37°C handling medium (MOPS-G2) (Lane and Gardner (2004)) supplemented with 1 mg/ml fetuin. Two to four ovaries were placed into 35 mm Falcon 1008

culture dishes (Becton-Dickinson Labware, Franklin Lakes, USA) with 1 - 2 ml warmed handling medium, and COCs were obtained by rupturing swollen follicles with a 30 gauge needle. COCs with normal morphology and surrounded completely by cumulus cells were washed in fresh, 37°C handling media three times, then 30 oocytes (\pm cumulus cells, as indicated per experiment) per treatment group were placed into 3000 µL IVM media (MG2.2) (Lane and Gardner (2004)) with a glucose concentration of 5 mM and that was supplemented with 50 mlU/ml recombinant human FSH (Puregon; Organon, Sydney, Australia) and 1 mg/ml fetuin, equilibrated in 35 mm Falcon dishes (37° C in 6%CO₂:5%O₂:89%N₂) for 4 - 18 hours) and matured for 17 hours, except where otherwise indicated. Where specified, denuded oocytes were obtained by vortexing unexpanded COCs for consecutive 30 second intervals until cumulus cells were removed.

3.3.3 IVF

Matured COCs or oocytes were quickly washed twice in α MEM (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) supplemented with 50 µg/ml streptomycin, 75 µg/ml penicillin G (Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO)) and 3 mg/ml fatty acid free BSA (ICPBio, Auckland, New Zealand). COCs or oocytes (30 per treatment) were then transferred to 100 µL drops of the same α MEM media prepared as above containing capacitated sperm from a CBAB6F1 male of proven fertility, overlaid with mineral oil and cultured for 4 hours (37°C in 6%CO₂:5%O₂:89%N₂).

3.3.4 Embryo culture

Presumptive zygotes were placed into approximately 2 ml MOPS-G1 and residual cumulus cells were removed by gentle and repetitive pipetting, before being washed through a subsequent MOPS-G1 drop. Zygotes were placed into G1.2 (prepared according to Lane and Gardner (2004) and supplemented with 5% HSA (Vitrolife, Gothenburg, Sweden)) at a concentration of 5 zygotes/ 10 μ L (media overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated for 4-18 hours at 37°C in 6%CO₂:5%O₂:89%N₂)) for 20 hours. Two cell embryos were then transferred to fresh G1.2 drops (prepared as above) at a concentration of 4 - 5 embryos per 10 μ L media drop. Twenty-four hours later, embryos were transferred to G2.2 (prepared according to Lane and Gardner (2004) and supplemented with 5% HSA) at a concentration of 4-5 embryos per 10 μ L drop under mineral oil, equilibrated as described above, and cultured to the blastocyst stage for 48 hours.

3.3.4.1 Experiment 1 – Examining the contribution of O-linked glycosylation following GIcN treatment to perturbed developmental competence

Benzyl-2-acetamido-2-deoxy-α-d-galactopyranoside (BADGP), an inhibitor of O-linked glycosylation, was dissolved in grade 1 ethanol (Sutton- McDowall et al. 2006). COCs were then assigned to one the following seven groups: 0 mM GlcN; 0 mM GlcN + 2 mM EtOH; 0 mM GlcN + 2 mM BADGP; 2.5 mM GlcN; 2.5 mM GlcN + 2 mM EtOH; 2.5 mM GlcN + 1 mM BADGP: 2.5 mM GlcN + 2 mM BADGP. At the completion of maturation and IVF, embryo culture was performed, and rates of 2 cell and blastocyst development were assessed. Five replicates were performed.

3.3.4.2 Experiment 2 – Determining the roles of the cumulus cells and the oocyte in the GlcN- mediated depression of developmental competence

IVM was performed in the presence or absence of 2.5 mM GlcN, using oocytes with or without cumulus cells.

3.3.4.2.1 Part A: Development

Rates of 2 cell and blastocyst development were assessed. Six replicates were performed.

3.3.4.2.2 Part B: Examining the effects of exposing the oocyte to GlcN on activity of the first rate limiting enzyme of the PPP, G6PDH.

IVM was performed for 15.5 hours using the following 4 groups: 0 mM GlcN ± cumulus cells, 2.5 mM GlcN ± cumulus cells. After 15.5 hours of IVM, oocytes or COCs were transferred into IVM media containing 26 µM brilliant cresyl blue (BCB) and matured for the remaining 1.5 hours of IVM. BCB is reduced by G6PDH, the first rate limiting step of the PPP. High levels of cellular G6PDH permit BCB to be metabolised efficiently, meaning the blue stain is not retained in the cytoplasm. G6PDH levels in mouse oocytes were determined using an adaptation of BCB methods described by Pujol et al. (2004). At the completion of IVM, cumulus- enclosed oocytes were denuded with a 100 µL pipette. Denuded oocytes were washed 4 - 6 times in 200 µL drops of warmed MOPS medium until the media was clear of

68

Schelbach

blue stain. Oocytes were immediately visualized using a stereomicroscope (x400 magnification), and were scored as being either deficient of or containing a blue coloured cytoplasm. Three replicates of this assay were performed.

3.3.4.2.3 Part C: Measurement of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

IVM was performed on the following 4 groups: 0 mM GlcN ± cumulus cells, 2.5 mM GlcN ± cumulus cells. At the completion of IVM, intact COCs were denuded and oocyte ROS activity was determined via a 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCDHFDA) fluorescence assay previously described by Wakefield et al. (2008) which has been widely used to measure intracellular levels of H_2O_2 . Briefly, per replicate and treatment group, 5 (control) oocytes were incubated in the dark at 37°C with 5,6-carboxyl-2',7'dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (CDCFDA) (Sigma Chemical Co.). After 20 minutes, oocytes were washed quickly in 37°C MOPS-G1, transferred to microscope slides and fluorescence spectroscopy was used to measure the fluorescence of CDCF product. The average fluorescence per treatment and per replicate was then calculated. Remaining oocytes from each treatment were simultaneously incubated under the same conditions with 1 µM 2',7' dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCDHFDA) for 30 minutes. They were then washed quickly in 37°C MOPS-G1 and fluorescence spectroscopy was used to measure the fluorescence of DHF product. Ratios for individual fluorescence values for each oocyte relative to the mean value of control oocytes were then determined. Fluorescence was expressed as mean fluorescence units, and a total of six replicates were performed.

3.3.4.3 Experiment 3: Determining the roles of the cumulus cells and the oocyte in the BADGP – mediated improvement in oocyte developmental competence following exposure to GlcN

IVM was carried out in the following twelve groups: 0 mM GlcN \pm 2 mM EtOH / 2 mM BADGP/ cumulus cells, 2.5 mM GlcN \pm 2 mM EtOH / 2 mM BADGP/ cumulus cells. At the completion of maturation IVF and embryo culture was performed, and rates of 2 cell and blastocyst development were assessed. Six replicates were performed.

3.4 Statistical Analysis

All data were arcsine transformed and analyzed with SPSS (version 13.0). A One-way ANOVA was used to analyze rates of 2 cell and blastocyst (from 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiments 1 and 3. A Two-way ANOVA was used to analyze rates of 2 cell and blastocyst (from 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes) development for experiment 2 cell embryos as well as from oocytes).

3.5 Results

3.5.1 Experiment 1: Examining the contribution of O-linked glycosylation following GlcN treatment on perturbed developmental competence

Since O-linked glycosylation is an end product of Hexosamine metabolism, and GlcN up regulates Hexosamine metabolism, it was sought to be determined whether inhibiting Olinked glycosylation would improve developmental outcomes following exposure of COCs to GlcN (Figure 1). The results reveal that EtOH, the vehicle that BADGP was dissolved in, had no influence on outcomes. It was shown, in agreement with results generated from experiments in Chapter 1, that the incorporation of GlcN into IVM media had a detrimental effect on 2-cell development (P = 0.002). There was a trend (P < 0.08) for a reduction in the effect of GlcN on 2-cell development following the incorporation of BADGP with GlcN, although this was not significant. Also consistent with results from chapter 1, GlcN had a negative effect on blastocyst development, which was largely reversed by the incorporation of both 1 mM and 2 mM BADGP in regards to blastocyst development from 2 cell embryos (P<0.001) as well as from oocytes matured (P = 0.017). Interestingly, there was also a trend (P<0.066) for improved rates of blastocyst development following the incorporation of 2 mM BADGP in the absence of GlcN, although this was not significant. Collectively, these results provide evidence that the detrimental effects of GlcN exposure on developmental potential of COCs is, at least in part, mediated by an increase in O-linked glycosylation.



3.5.1.1 Figure 1: Rates of 2 cell. blastocyst development from 2 cell and blastocyst development from oocytes, following COC maturation involving exposure to GlcN and the O-linked glycosylation inhibitor, BADGP. (Groups: 1 = 0 mM GlcN, 2 = 0 mM GlcN + 2% Et OH, 3 = 0 mM GlcN + 2 mM BADGP, 4 = 2.5 mM GlcN, 5 = 2.5 mM GlcN + 2% Et OH, 6 = 2.5 mM GlcN + 1 mM BADGP, 7 = 2.5 mM GlcN + 2 mM BADGP). Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups, within developmental stages. Values expressed as mean ± SEM

3.5.2 Experiment 2: Determining the roles of the cumulus cells and the oocyte in the GlcN- mediated depression of developmental competence

3.5.2.1 Part A: Development

Highest rates of development to 2-cell and to blastocyst were observed in the control treatment groups (0 mM GlcN + cumulus cells) (Figure 2). Oocyte developmental competence was reduced by GlcN (P<0.05 for % 2 cell development, P<0.0001 for % blastocyst development from 2 cell embryos and for % blastocyst development from oocytes) as well as cumulus cell absence (all P<0.0001) (Figure 2). However, there was no additive effect of GlcN and cumulus cell removal. This lack of additive effects when oocytes void of cumulus cells are matured with GlcN, indicates that the perturbing effect on oocyte developmental competence that follows GlcN exposure occurs via modifications to cumulus cells.



3.5.2.1.1 Figure 2: Rates of 2 cell, blastocyst from 2-cell and blastocyst from oocyte development following oocyte maturation \pm intact cumulus cells (CC), \pm 2.5 mM GlcN. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups, within developmental stages. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

3.5.2.2 Part B: Examining the effects of exposing the oocyte to GlcN on activity of the first rate limiting enzyme of the PPP, G6PDH.

Increased numbers of oocytes presented with a blue cytoplasm when cumulus cells were removed, or GlcN was added during IVM, compared to the control group matured with cumulus cells in the absence of GlcN (P<0.002) (Figure 3). This indicated that the control oocytes had a higher level of G6PDH activity, and hence were able to metabolize BCB more efficiently. Equivalent effects on G6PDH activity were induced by either performing IVM in the absence of cumulus cells, or in the presence of cumulus cells + GlcN, thereby suggesting that GlcN perturbs the PPP activity of the oocyte via eliciting perturbations to the cumulus cells, which then mediates effects on G6PDH activity in oocytes.

3.5.2.3 Part C: Measurement of the PPP end product, Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

Since either cumulus cell removal or GlcN exposure modified G6PDH activity, levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), a further downstream product of the PPP, were assessed. There were no differences in ROS production, measured as fluorescence intensity, between oocytes matured either intact or denuded, or in the presence or absence of GlcN (Figure 4).


3.5.2.2.1 Figure 3: Proportion of oocytes staining positive for the G6PDH marker, BCB following oocyte maturation \pm intact cumulus cells (CC), \pm 2.5 mM GlcN. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM.



3.5.2.3.1 Figure 4: ROS activity of oocytes matured \pm GlcN, \pm cumulus cells. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

3.5.3 Experiment 3: Determining the roles of the cumulus cells and the oocyte in the BADGP - mediated improvement in oocyte developmental competence following exposure to GlcN

In experiment 3, it was shown that a contributing factor to the adverse outcomes that are experienced by COCs exposed to GIcN is the elevation in O-linked glycosylation. Since it had been shown that GIcN probably exerted its effects on cumulus cells (experiment 2), it was sought to be tested whether GIcN- perturbing effects on O-linked glycosylation were occurring in cumulus cells and/ or the oocyte.

Relative to the groups matured with cumulus cells and without GlcN (0 mM GlcN + cumulus cells (group 1), and 0 mM GlcN + cumulus cells + BADGP (group 3) most other treatments had significantly lower rates of 2 cell development. Only the group that underwent IVM in 2 mM GlcN + 2 mM BADGP in the presence of cumulus cells (group 7) showed signs of improvement, with rates of 2 cell development only being lower than that of group 1 (i.e. the positive control, P<0.05). However, when rates of blastocyst development from 2 cell embryos were assessed, this same group (group 7) was only significantly better than the 0 mM GlcN - CC + 2 mM BADGP (group 4) and the 2.5 mM GlcN + CC groups (group 5). No groups had development rates as high as groups matured with cumulus cells and without GlcN (P<0.05) (groups 1 and 3). A clear picture emerged from analysis of results for blastocyst development from matured oocytes. Here, it was shown that, although still significantly lower than rates for groups matured with cumulus cells but without GlcN (groups 1 and 3), the development rate in the 2 mM GlcN + 2 mM BADGP + CC group (group 7) was significantly higher than all other remaining groups (P<0.05) (Figure 5).

In agreement with the findings of experiment 3, these results show that the elevation in Olinked glycosylation that follows GlcN exposure is a likely cause for poor embryonic development. Furthermore, they also demonstrate that it is primarily the O-linked glycosylation occurring within cumulus cells, and not the oocyte, that mediates this effect.



3.5.3.1 Figure 5: Rates of 2 cell, blastocyst from 2 cell embryos and blastocyst from oocyte development following COC exposure to GlcN \pm BADGP \pm cumulus cell deficiency. **1** = 0 mM GlcN + CC, **2** = 0 mM GlcN - CC, **3** = 0 mM GlcN + CC + 2 mM BADGP, **4** = 0 mM GlcN - CC + 2 mM BADGP, **5** = 2.5 mM GlcN + CC, **6** = 2.5 mM GlcN - CC, **7** = 2.5 mM GlcN + CC + 2 mM BADGP, **8** = 2.5 mM GlcN CC + 2 mM BADGP. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups, within developmental stages. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

3.6 Discussion

The results outlined here are consistent with the findings of Sutton-McDowall et al. (2006), and Chapter 2, and have shown that exposure of the in vitro maturing COC to GlcN, has detrimental consequences on subsequent developmental competence. Also consistent with the findings of others (Chesnel et al. 1994; Chang et al. 2005(a); Luciano et al. 2005), are the findings that the developmental competence of oocytes is reduced when maturation occurs in the absence of cumulus cells (experiment 3a). These studies went further, however, and showed that cumulus cell removal and GlcN exposure significantly reduced developmental competence in an equivalent but not additive manner. This suggests a central role for cumulus cells in the pathology of GlcN effects on the COC, and that the effect of GlcN on oocyte competence is similar to the removal of cumulus cells. This is not to exclusively preclude the oocyte from any direct perturbation, given that GlcN radiolabel has been detected in several locations in mouse (Fowler and Guttridge, 1987; Fowler 1988; Fowler and Barratt (1989), and pig (Fléchon et al. 2003) oocytes, but rather suggests that cumulus cell function is likely greatly perturbed. Furthermore it should also be noted that numerous differences in gene expression between oocytes matured with and without cumulus cells have been documented (Xiang et al. 2010), thereby raising the possibility that differences in

Schelbach

gene expression between intact COCs and denuded oocytes may have also contributed to the findings. This would not compromise the validity of the results that were obtained, but rather might impact upon the mechanistic explanation.

GlcN is known to enter cells via glucose transporters (Uldry et al. 2002). Although GLUT transporters have been found on the oocyte (Diamond et al. 1989; Moley et al. 1991; Moley et al. 1996; Moley et al. 1998(b); Keim et al. 2001; Colton et al. 2002; Colton et al. 2003; Chang et al. 2005(b); Ratchford et al. 2007; Ratchford et al. 2008; Wyman et al. 2008), and glucose metabolic pathway intermediates have been detected in the denuded oocyte (Downs and Utecht, 1999), most glucose is taken up by cumulus cells (Biggers et al. 1967). For significant quantities of GlcN to be detected in the oocyte, an alternative uptake mechanism to glucose transporters would presumably need to exist.

The effects of GlcN on developmental outcomes were inhibited by BADGP, indicating that the effects were mediated through O-linked glycosylation (experiment 1). Further experiments indicated that these effects of O-linked glycosylation modifications on oocyte developmental competence were mediated through cumulus cells (experiment 3). O-linked glycosylation is a relatively recently discovered form of protein modification (Torres and Hart, 1984), and is but one of numerous down-stream consequences of HBP up regulation. It is possible that O-linked glycosylation modifications occur in the oocyte but were not detectable by the employed methods. It is also plausible that there was negligible protein modification within the oocyte. When Sutton-McDowall et al. (2006) examined O-linked glycosylation staining in bovine COCs following GlcN exposure during IVM, they found that staining was limited to cumulus cells.

Expansion of the COC following GlcN exposure does not progress according to the stages described by van der Hyden (1990). More specifically, cumulus cells become sticky and readily separate from the complex with limited physical intervention. They also often dissociate from the complex during IVM (Figure 6). This tendency made it difficult to perform investigative procedures, such as immunohistochemistry, that require many handling stages, and therefore precluded obtaining meaningful data regarding the O-linked glycosylation status or rates of apoptosis of cumulus cells. However, such observations and the developmental data obtained from these experiments, suggest a causal role of disrupted cumulus cell-oocyte communication as a consequence of GlcN treatment, which is akin to denuding oocytes of cumulus cells. Candidate mechanisms that may be involved are both cumulus cell apoptosis and loss of gap-junction connections. Apoptosis has been shown to increase in pancreatic cells in response to elevations in O-linked glycosylation (Liu et al. 2000; Konrad et al. 2000; Park et al. 2007), and was indicated following GlcN treatment of

COCs by the tendency of cumulus cells to become sticky and clump together in dark patches. In addition, the premature loss of gap junction communication is well known to reduce developmental competence during maturation (Thomas et al. 2004).



3.6.1 Figure 6: COCs matured at a ratio of $100 \ \mu$ L IVM media (containing 5 mM glucose and 2.5 mM GlcN) per COC. **(A and B):** The outer layers of the matrix have rapidly expanded to such an extent that they are dissociating from the rest of the very modestly expanded inner cellular layers. **(C and D**): The cumulus cells have expanded so much that they have largely dissociated from the matrix, leaving few intact cells.

In developing the BCB technique, it was initially found that the BCB stain was very heavily taken up by cumulus cells, with or without GlcN exposure. Owing to the intensity of the stain, it was determined that it would not be suitable for detecting differences in PPP activity in the cumulus cells, and analysis was limited exclusively to the oocyte. This was a suitable approach, however, given that the PPP is known to be inhibited by GlcN in other models (Bessell & Thomas, 1973; Kanji et al.1976; Horal et al. 2004), and that evidence for modifications to oocyte protein O-linked glycosylation status was not found within the oocyte.

Low rates of BCB staining (indicative of high amounts of G6PDH activity, and therefore developmental immaturity (Pujol et al. 2004), were observed when maturation occurred in the absence of cumulus cells, irrespective of GlcN levels present. Oocyte PPP activity may be regulated by multiple factors, including glucose metabolic activity, as well as cumulus cells. Perturbations to either of these components may lead to impaired patterns of PPP activity and maturation, which can be detected via G6PDH analysis.

Finally, the results showed no differences in ROS activity in the COC following GlcN treatment. This was surprising, given that Hashimoto et al. (2000) found that in bovine oocytes high levels of glucose reduced rates of meiotic maturation and generated high levels of ROS. This may be reflective of inter- species differences or alternatively different effects of glucose and glucosamine. Given the high level of variability between the samples, it may

also be beneficial to explore more sensitive ROS detection methods, such as the use of the highly selective H_2O_2 probes.

3.7 Conclusion

Overall, these findings have confirmed that GlcN has a perturbing effect on oocyte developmental competence. This has been shown to be mediated by an elevation in cumulus cell O-linked glycosylation, as well as cumulus cell mediated alterations of oocyte PPP activity. Thus it would appear that the detrimental effects elicited by exposure of the maturing COC to GlcN occur through multiple mechanisms, but investigation of these was severely hampered by the hyper-expansion of the cumulus matrix in the GlcN treated oocytes.

In vivo GlcN exposure has a detrimental impact on reproductive outcomes in the mouse.

4.1 Summary

Whilst the exposure of COCs in vitro to GlcN has been associated with adverse developmental outcomes, no data has been published to date looking at the effects of in vivo GlcN exposure of the COC or early developmental period. Here, mice were administered either 0 mg/kg, 20 mg/kg or 400 mg/kg GlcN via IP injection for 4 - 7 days encompassing the peri-conceptional period. GlcN exposure, irrespective of dose or number of days of GlcN administration, reduced mean implantation number (P<0.05) and litter size (P<0.05) at day 18 of gestation, and increased the proportion of implantations that resorbed (P<0.02). No effect of GlcN on fetal weight and length, placental weight or incidence of birth defects was observed. These results provide the first evidence for an adverse effect of in vivo GlcN exposure during the peri-conception period on implantation and embryo development.

4.2 Introduction

Despite the popularity of GlcN-containing products (Kaufman et al. 2002; Wold et al. 2005; Hopman et al. 2006; Singh and Levine, 2006), only one study to date has investigated the effect of GlcN exposure during pregnancy in humans (Sivojelezova et al. 2007). This study reported no impact of GlcN exposure during pregnancy on birth weight, major malformations, gestational age at birth or pregnancy outcome (live births, spontaneous abortions, therapeutic abortions and stillbirths) (Sivojelezova et al. 2007). However, the results cannot be deemed as comprehensive, owing to the fact that a small sample size was utilized (N=54) and conditions surrounding GlcN exposure were not controlled.

Similarly, limited studies have examined the effects of GlcN administration on reproductive outcomes in animal models. An early study examining the effects of GlcN injection in pregnant mice failed to show any effect, although outcome measures were focused on maternal parameters such as vaginal bleeding and abdominal palpitations (Didock et al. 1956). Contrary to this, however, a more recent study showed that acute administration of GlcN to mice on day 7.5 of pregnancy was associated with an increase in the incidence of neural tube defects in the fetuses (Horal et al. 2004). Adverse effects on embryo development have also been observed following exposure of the bovine, porcine and murine COC to GlcN during IVM (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Kimura et al. 2008, Chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis).

GlcN is used under experimental conditions as a hyperglycemic mimetic (Rossetti et al. 1995; Hawkins et al. 1997; Horal et al. 2004; Yki-Jarvinen et al. 1998; Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki and Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Rumburger et al. 2003; Marshall et al. 2004). Hyperglycemia in the mouse (Cockroft and Coppola, 1977; Phelan et al. 1997) and diabetes in humans (Soler et al. 1976; Macintosh et al. 2006) have also been linked to an increased incidence of neural tube defects, resembling the effects of GlcN exposure during pregnancy in the mouse (Horal et al. 2004). Increased neural tube defects, along with abdominal wall and limb deformities, were also observed in mouse fetuses derived from zygotes produced in vivo in a diabetic environment and then transferred into normoglycemic recipients (Wyman et al. 2008). This is an important finding as it demonstrates that hyperglycemic exposure that is limited to the peri-conceptional period is sufficient to induce congenital malformations.

Given the documented effects of GlcN exposure during pregnancy in mice (Horal et al. 2004), and the in vitro effects of GlcN on COC developmental competence in mouse (Chapters 2 and 3), bovine and porcine models (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006, Kimura et al. 2008), the current study was designed to assess if in vivo peri-conceptional GlcN exposure

would also elicit detrimental effects on reproductive outcomes. This is the first study performed to investigate the effects of exposing maturing COCs and early embryos to GlcN in vivo, and was designed to not only document reproductive outcomes that follow in vivo GlcN exposure, but also to assess the plausibility of the use of GlcN as a novel, non-hormonal contraceptive.

4.3 Materials and Methods

Unless otherwise stated, all chemicals were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, USA).

4.3.1 Animals

For all procedures, C57BL6 male and female mice (purchased from Laboratory Animal Services at The University of Adelaide) were used, and kept under 14:00 - 10:00 light-dark conditions in the animal housing facilities at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital (TQEH) in Woodville, South Australia. This strain was selected owing to its increased susceptibility to obesity and diabetes, both conditions in which elevated HBP activity can occur.

For each of 8 replicates, nine 7-week old naturally cycling female mice were weighed and divided into three, weight matched groups. One week later, groups were randomly allocated into one of three groups: 0 mg/kg GlcN, 20 mg/kg GlcN or 400 mg/kg GlcN. Twenty mg/kg GlcN was determined as an approximation of the standard recommended dose for adult humans (i.e. 1500 mg per day), whilst the 400 mg/kg GlcN dose was chosen as a supraphysiological dose. Mice were weighed, and volumes of either saline (0 mg/kg GlcN) or GlcN solution that needed to be administered were calculated. Mice were injected for 4 - 7 days according to the following methodology.

4.3.2 Treatment regime

Five µL solution per gram of body weight (Dulbecco PBS for the 0 mg/kg GlcN, 4 mg/ml GlcN (dissolved in PBS) solution for the 20 mg/kg group and 40 mg/ml GlcN for the 400 mg/kg group) was administered (IP) for 3 consecutive days at 24 hour intervals. Following the third injection, females were housed overnight with males, and overnight mating success was determined via the detection of vaginal plugs early the next morning. Successfully mated females were administered with a final injection, 24 hours after the previous injection.

Females that did not successfully mate were again injected (24 hours after the previous injection), then re-introduced to males for attempted overnight mating. This process occurred until mating was achieved (followed by a final injection 24 hours after the previous injection), or until mating had been attempted for a maximum of 4 days, with those that did not mate being excluded. Males were randomly allocated to females from different treatment groups throughout all replicates.

4.3.3 Pregnancy outcomes

On day 18 of pregnancy, mice were killed via cervical dislocation and post mortem examinations were performed. The number of pregnant mice from those that had successfully mated was recorded. Total fetuses and resorptions were counted in each horn. The total number of viable fetuses was used to define litter size. Resorptions were comprised of either dark clumps within the uterine horn, or conceptuses that had undergone development to a significant enough stage to render them recognizable, but that had died prematurely. Each fetus and its corresponding placenta were weighed and examined briefly for gross morphological appearance and classified as either normal or abnormal. Fetal crown-rump length and placenta length and width were recorded.

4.4 Statistical Analysis

Proportional data was arcsine transformed prior to analysis and all data was analysed with SAS (Statistical Analysis Software) (Version 9.2). Mean litter and fetal outcome – related data were analysed using a one-WAY ANOVA, with and without the incorporation of co-variates, (see Appendix, Table 8.11.1) and using Bonferonni Post-hoc tests. Results stated in the text or presented in the figures are least–squared means, unadjusted for covariates. Proportional data was tested with a Chi-squared analysis. Birth defect data was not analysed owing to an insufficient sample size.

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Pregnancy rates

GlcN treatment did not affect the number or proportion of mice that mated, as indicated by the presence of a vaginal plug. Similarly, there were no differences between treatment groups in the number of mice that were pregnant on day 18, or the proportion of mice that were pregnant relative to starting numbers or relative to those that successfully mated (Table 1).

	0 mg/kg GlcN	20 mg/kg GlcN	400 mg/kg GlcN	
Mated (N)	22	19	18	
Mated (%)	81.5	70.4	66.6	
Pregnant (N)	13	14	12	
Pregnant from total (%)	54.2	58.3	50	
Pregnant from plugged (%)	59.1	73.7	66.7	

4.5.1.1 Table 1: Pregnancy data for mice administered for 4 - 7 days peri-conceptionally with 0 mg/kg GlcN, 20 mg/kg GlcN or 400 mg/kg GlcN.

Significantly more mice that received injections for 4 - 5 days had implantations on day 18 of pregnancy, when compared to mice that received injections for 6 - 7 days (P<0.0001). (Refer to Appendix, Table 8.12.1, for results).

4.5.2 Litter outcomes

Data describing the total implantation number, resorption number and the number of viable d18 fetuses is provided in Table 2. Mean implantation rate and litter size were reduced by GlcN treatment (P<0.05), but there were no differences in mean resorption rates per litter (Figure 1). However, a Chi-squared analysis of the total proportion of implantations that resorbed showed that this rate was significantly higher following GlcN treatment (20 mg/kg

GlcN = 29.4%, 400 mg/kg GlcN = 38.7%), then occurred in controls (mg/kg GlcN = 15.7%) (P = 0.01).

	0 mg/kg GlcN	20 mg/kg GlcN	400 mg/kg GlcN
Total number of implantations	89	51	62
Total number of viable d18 fetuses	75	36	38
Total number of resorptions	14	15	24

4.5.2.1 Table 2: The total number of implantations, viable fetuses and resorptions on d18 of pregnancy (for 8 replicates) for mice administered for 4 - 7 days peri-conceptionally with 0 mg/kg GlcN, 20 mg/kg GlcN or 400 mg/kg GlcN. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups, within developmental

The proportions of implantations that had developed into viable fetuses at day 18 of pregnancy was also calculated from total numbers, but no differences were detected across groups (0 mg/kg GlcN = 85.4%, 20 mg/kg GlcN = 70.6%, 400 mg/kg GlcN = 62.9%).

4.5.3 Fetal outcomes

Mean fetal and placental weights are shown in Figure 2. Peri-conceptional GlcN treatment did not alter fetal or placental weight. Placental weights trended towards being lower in conceptuses from control mothers ($81.2 \pm 2.2 \text{ mg}$) relative to those from mothers treated with GlcN (20 mg/kg GlcN = $88.7 \pm 3.0 \text{ mg}$, 400 mg/kg = $88.3 \pm 3.1 \text{ mg}$), but this was not significant (P = 0.078). Fetal length was not significantly different between groups (0 mg/kg GlcN = $18.0 \pm 0.3 \text{ mm}$ (n = 75); 20 mg/kg GlcN group = $15.9 \pm 0.7 \text{ mm}$ (n = 36) and 400 mg/kg GlcN = $19.9 \pm 0.8 \text{ mm}$ (n = 38)). Birth defects as determined by gross morphological appearance on d18 gestation were minimal. In the control group there was one fetus that presented with one very small eye. In the 20 mg/kg group one fetus had an abdominal hernia, and in the 400 mg/kg group one fetus had a grossly disproportionately large head relative to the rest of its body.



4.5.3.1 Figure 1: Implantation, litter size and resorption data on d18 of pregnancy for mice following peri-conception administration (IP) for 4 - 7 days with 0 mg/kg GlcN, 20 mg/kg GlcN or 400 mg/kg GlcN. Values are expressed as mean ± SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups, within developmental stages.





4.6 Discussion

In vitro studies in bovine and porcine models (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Kimura et al. 2008) and the results reported in Chapter 2 and 3, have provided strong evidence for a perturbing effect of GlcN on oocyte developmental competence. The ability of GlcN to elicit hyperglycemic effects (Rossetti et al. 1995; Hawkins et al. 1997; Horal et al. 2004; Yki-Jarvinen et al. 1998; Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki and Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Rumberger et al. 2003; Marshall et al. 2004) is also a well documented phenomenon. To date, however, very little focus has been directed towards the potential for in vivo effects of GlcN on events surrounding the peri-conceptional period. GlcN label is able to be detected within the oocyte following in vitro incubation (Flechon et al. 2003). GlcN label has also been detected within the ovarian follicle and oocyte following in vivo IP injection (Fowler and Guttridge, 1987; Fowler 1988, Fowler and Barrat, 1989), and GlcN has been shown to regulate follicular development when infused (Muñoz-Gutiérrez et al. 2002; Muñoz-Gutiérrez et al. 2004). This, along with the results outlined in this chapter, provides evidence that in vivo administered GlcN may not be exclusively metabolized externally to the reproductive system.

Litter size was reduced by GlcN treatment in the current study. Whether this decrease in implantation rate and litter size is due to a reduction in ovulation rate, fertilization failure, or reduced viability of the pre-implantation embryos could not be assessed in this study. However, the reduction but not a complete abolition of litter size in the presence of supraphysiological GlcN exposure, would suggest that the potential to use GlcN as a non-hormonal contraceptive is unlikely. Multiple studies have shown an inhibitory effect of diabetes on ovulation rate (Chieri et al. 1969; Kirchick et al. 1978; Jawerbaum et al. 1996; Colton et al. 2002), although the results from these studies may reflect more prolonged periods of hyperglycemic exposure than was used in our model. It is also possible that acute elevations in HBP activity, as potentially occurred from our experimental treatment, may have affected ovulatory processes, although this was not examined.

An alternative possibility is that the perturbing effects of peri-conceptional GlcN exposure are manifested at post-ovulatory events. In vitro, GlcN exposure of maturing mouse COCs altered the morphology of cumulus cell matrix formation (Chapter 2). In preliminary studies (not included), a similar morphology was also observed within in vivo matured COCs collected from females treated with GlcN. Therefore it is possible that IP administration of GlcN perturbs the process of cumulus cell expansion, which may impede sperm penetration and fertilization. In vitro experiments in the mouse (Chapters 2 and 3) as well as in bovine and porcine models (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Kimura et al. 2008) show that post–cleavage embryo development is perturbed when COCs have been exposed to GlcN, which

suggests that in vivo development may also become impaired during post-fertilization events. Perturbations may also have occurred post implantation. Despite the lack of difference in resorption numbers, there were significantly greater proportions of resorptions in mothers treated with GlcN. Hence, the effects of GlcN on implantation rate and litter size on day 18 of gestation may be reflective of events at multiple developmental time points. Further studies are required to specifically test this.

Interestingly, the results outlined in this chapter differ from those obtained in a novel experiment where zygotes flushed from diabetic mice were transferred to healthy surrogates and pregnancy outcomes were assessed on day 14.5 of pregnancy (Wyman et al. 2008). Unlike the current findings, the authors noted no effect on implantation or resorption rate, but they did observe an increase in the rate of fetal malformations and growth retardation, following exposure of the oocyte and zygote to a diabetic environment. Differences between studies in the stage of pregnancy at which the outcomes were assessed could contribute to the discrepancies observed in effects on fetal growth. One possibility is that catch up growth may have occurred between day 14.5 and 18 in fetuses in the current study. However, other differences in outcomes between the studies, such as effects on implantation rates, are unlikely to relate to differences occurring in late gestation.

GlcN is routinely used as a hyperglycemic mimetic, owing to its direct up regulation of the HBP, however, it has been found that GlcN does not completely replicate all of the effects of exposure to elevated concentrations of glucose. For example, in adipocytes, translocation of GLUT 1 (Hresko et al. 1998) and GLUT 4 (Hresko et al. 1998; Nelson et al. 2000) to the plasma membrane is increased by glucose but inhibited by GlcN, despite the fact that both elevated concentrations of glucose as well as GlcN induce insulin resistance (Nelson et al. 2000). Furthermore, Akt phosphorylation in adipocytes is inhibited by exposure to high levels of glucose, but is unaffected by GlcN (Nelson et al. 2002). Although these results were obtained in adipocytes, they demonstrate differences in the mechanisms of action, and outcomes of exposure to elevated levels, of glucose and GlcN. Therefore, the effects of periconceptional GlcN-induced elevations in HBP activity on subsequent fetal development may differ from the effects of the metabolic perturbations associated with peri-conceptional diabetes.

4.7 Conclusion

Collectively, these results demonstrate that in vivo, peri-conceptional GlcN exposure has detrimental effects on pregnancy outcomes in mice by reducing mean implantation rate and litter size. The results highlight the value of GlcN as a tool to study the effects of select hyperglycemia-stimulated pathways, given that GlcN modifies only a selection of metabolic events perturbed by hyperglycemia.

5.0 Chapter 5

Fetal and post natal outcomes following peri-conceptional GlcN Exposure in Lean and Overweight Mice

5.1 Summary

The Hexosamine metabolic pathway can be up-regulated by several factors, including hyperglycemic stimulation that accompanies conditions such as overweight/ obesity and diabetes, as well as by GlcN. In this study it was sought to be tested if the detrimental effects of peri-conceptional GIcN exposure observed in Chapter 4 would be altered in models with dietary-induced obesity. C57BL6 mice were maintained on a low fat (LF) (6%) or high fat (HF) (22%) diet for 11 weeks. At the end of this period there were significant differences in mean body weight, but no difference in glucose and insulin metabolic parameters between the groups. GlcN (0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN) was administered for 4 - 5 days, and mice were mated and then sacrificed on gestational d18 and assessed for a variety of pregnancy outcomes. Peri-conceptional GlcN exposure reduced fetal weight (P = 0.023). Maternal HF diet, from before and throughout pregnancy, reduced fetal weight (P = 0.013) and fetal length (P = 0.02). The number (P = 0.001) and proportion (P = 0.004) of fetuses with recognizable birth defects was increased following maternal LF + GlcN treatment, compared with all other groups. Similarly, a greater number (P = 0.011) and proportion (P = 0.001) of mothers from the LF + GlcN group carried birth defected fetuses, compared to all other groups. An additional cohort of mice was allowed to give birth, and offspring weight and health were tracked for 16 weeks. Female offspring from HF + GlcN mothers were significantly heavier from 10 weeks of age (P<0.05). In contrast, males, from HF + GlcN mothers were significantly lighter from 10-12 weeks of age (P<0.05). A greater number of offspring from the LF + GlcN group showed evidence of birth defects (P= 0.003), consistent with previous assessments of fetal outcomes. Collectively, these results confirm that in vivo periconceptional GIcN exposure has adverse effects on developing conceptuses, which manifest during the fetal as well as post natal development periods. Additionally, the results also show that maternal weight has a significant influence on developmental outcomes.

5.2 Introduction

Schelbach

To date, very little attention has been focused on the effects of GlcN exposure on reproductive outcomes. The only known study looking at the effects of in vivo GlcN exposure during the peri-conceptional period is reported in Chapter 4 of this thesis. Here, it was shown that acute GlcN exposure during the peri-conceptional period led to significant reductions in mean implantation rate and litter size. These results are complimentary to the findings that exposure of maturing mouse COCs to GlcN in vitro has deleterious effects on subsequent embryonic development (Chapters 2 and 3).

The HBP can become elevated through several means, including the introduction of GlcN (Rossetti et al. 1995; Horal et al. 2004; Yki-Jarvinen et al. 1998; Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki and Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Rumberger et al. 2003; Marshall et al. 2004) or an increased flux of glucose (Robinson et al. 1995; Hawkins et al. 1997; Han et al. 2000; Akimoto et al. 2001). Various states of health are known to be associated with elevated hexosamine activity, such as diabetes (Robinson et al. 1995; Akimoto et al. 2000; Kaneto et al. 2001; McClain, 2002; Fulop et al. 2007), abnormal insulin activity (Marshall et al. 1991a; Traxinger and Marshall, 1992; Baron et al. 1995; Giaccari et al. 1995; Hawkins et al. 1997; Rossetti et al. 1995; Patti et al. 1999; Tang et al. 2000; Federici et al. 2002; Vosseller et al. 2002; Andreozzi et al. 2004) and overweight/ obesity (Buse et al. 1997; Considine et al. 2000; Veerababu et al. 2000). Numerous studies have documented the effects of diabetes, altered insulin metabolism and obesity on reproductive success (as reviewed by Franks et al. 1996; Pasquali et al. 1997; Amaral et al. 2008; Zain and Norman, 2008). This is likely, in part, attributed to the detrimental effect of hyperglycemia on oocyte and embryonic development (Diamond et al. 1989; Moley et al. 1991; Veselá et al. 1995; Moley et al. 1996; Moley et al. 1998(a); Keim et al. 2001; Colton et al. 2002; Colton et al. 2003; Chang et al. 2005(a); Ratchford et al. 2007; Ratchford et al. 2008; Wyman et al. 2008, Wang et al. 2009). Similarly, attainment of pre-conceptional glycemic control in diabetic women has been shown to lead to reduced rates of pregnancy loss and congenital abnormalities (Pedersen and Molsted-Pedersen 1978; Kitzmiller et al. 1991; Rosenn et al 1991; McElvy et al. 2000).

Emerging evidence increasingly implicates elevated levels of fatty acids in suboptimal reproductive outcomes. Bovine studies have demonstrated that delayed maturation and decreased rates of fertilisation, cleavage and embryo development occur following exposure to non-esterified fatty acids (NEFA) (Joritsma et al. 2004) or Palmitic acid (PA) (Leroy et al. 2005), one of the most abundant free fatty acids (FFAs) in serum and follicular fluid, and which is (for serum) positively correlated with body mass index in humans (BMI) (Jungheim et al. 2011(b)). More recently, Van Hoeck et al. (2011) have reported that bovine IVM

performed in the presence of elevated levels of NEFAs leads to the production of blastocysts with reduced cell numbers but higher rates of apoptosis, along with altered metabolic function. Recent findings also provide evidence for fatty acid effects on mouse reproductive outcomes. Cultured blastocysts exposed to elevated PA concentrations were transferred to surrogates, and it was subsequently found that these fetuses were smaller on gestational d14.5. Postnatal outcomes were also assessed in an additional subset of mice, and it was found that although offspring that had been exposed to PA prior to implantation were smaller than their control counterparts at birth, they experienced rapid catch up growth to exceed the weight of the control offspring (Jungheim et al. 2011(a)). Remarkably, Wu et al. (2010) have also reported that maintaining mice on a diet comprised of 22% fat for as little as four weeks induces increased lipid deposition within oocytes. Based on the observation of not only cross species but also wide ranging effects, the effects of lipid accumulation on reproductive outcomes warrant further investigation.

Despite extensive documentation regarding the influence of singular perturbing factors on reproductive parameters, there is a pronounced lack of knowledge regarding the combined effects of such conditions. Recently, it has been shown that the combination of diabetes and hypertension (Stella et al. 2008) are associated with higher rates of adverse outcomes than a singular perturbing factor on its own. External to reproductive outcomes, diabetes has also been shown to interact with other parameters to worsen outcomes. In a recent study looking at the incidence of adenocarcinomas, it was found that people with obesity and frequent episodes of gastro-oesophageal reflux had a significantly greater chance of developing adenocarcinomas than people with obesity or frequent episodes of gastro-oesophageal reflux alone (Whiteman et al. 2008). In another study, Alokail et al. (2009) reported that premenopausal women have an increased chance of developing breast cancer if they are obese as well as have type 2 diabetes compared to having either condition on its own. Hence, emerging evidence suggests that the overweight/obese phenotype in combination with other pathologies leads to cumulatively worse health outcomes.

Based on the observations of perturbed reproductive outcomes following peri-conceptional GlcN treatment of healthy mice (Chapter 4), it was hypothesized that the effects of GlcN would be exacerbated in obese mice, where pre-existing exposure to elevated HBP activity could be expected to have occurred. The aim of this study was to determine the effects of peri-conceptional GlcN treatment on reproductive outcomes in mice that had been maintained on a high fat diet.

5.3 Methods and Materials

Unless otherwise stated, all chemicals and reagents were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, USA).

5.3.1 Pre – GIcN treatment

5.3.1.1 Animals and Reagents

Five-week-old C57BL6 mice were purchased from Laboratory Animal Services, The University of Adelaide. They were weighed, randomly allocated to one of two groups and received ear punctures with a sharp rodent ear punch to enable individual mouse identification. Twelve mice were allocated per treatment group. Mice were housed in the Medical School Animal House, University of Adelaide on a 14:10 hour light: dark cycle. Groups were maintained on either a low fat (LF) (6% fat, 19% protein, and 64.7% carbohydrate (SF04-057)) or high fat (HF) (22% fat 0.15% cholesterol, 19% protein and 49.5% carbohydrate (SF00-219)) diet. (The diet designated as LF has the standard recommended nutritional content of mouse chow, but has been designated as LF relative to the diet with the elevated fat content). Food was purchased from Specialty Feeds, Glen Forrest, Australia and a copy of nutritional components of the chow is included in appendix 8.16. Mouse weights were recorded weekly, and eight replicates were performed.

5.3.1.2 Determination of Insulin Resistance and Glucose Clearance Rates

Insulin and glucose profiles were initially analysed in a subset of mice to provide additional information to be used in determining the extent of time the mice would undergo dietary manipulation before being treated with GlcN. Other studies have maintained mice on HF diets for periods ranging from one to eight months, however, fat and other nutritional components of HF diets are not consistent between studies, and the response of different strains of mice to a HF diet can vary (Herberg and Kley, 1975; Murakami et al. 2000; Zigman et al. 2005; Jenkins et al. 2006; Messier et al. 2006; Neves et al. 2006).

5.3.1.3 Insulin Analysis

Six mice that had been maintained on the HF or LF diet for 7, 10 and 11 weeks were fasted overnight for 11 hours. Mice were weighed, anaesthetized and 400 - 600 µl blood was collected via orbital bleeds into 1.7 ml Eppendorf tubes. Blood was placed onto ice. Immediately following the completion of collection from all animals, blood was centrifuged for 10 minutes (900 x g), and plasma was frozen (-20°C). Serum insulin levels were determined via a Rat Insulin RIA Kit (LINCO Research, Inc., St. Charles, MO), with a sensitivity of 0.1 ng/ml and an intra-assay coefficient of variation of 1.4 - 4.6 %. Insulin assays were performed by Associate Professor David Kennaway, School of Pediatrics and Reproductive Health, The University of Adelaide, South Australia. Two replicates were performed, giving a total of 12 mice that were used per dietary group. Each sample was assayed in duplicate.

5.3.1.4 Glucose Clearance Rates

Following blood collection, mice were assessed for adverse outcomes and recovery rates from the anesthesia for one hour. A small quantity of blood was then collected onto a glucometer stick following venous tail nicking, and blood glucose was measured using an Accu-Check® Advantage glucometer. Mice were then given an IP injection of 1 g/kg D-glucose, and tail blood was again collected onto glucometer strips at 15, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes post glucose injection. Blood glucose was immediately measured in all samples using the glucometer, and values were recorded for the construction of glucose clearance curves. Two mice were deemed to have a poor recovery from the aenaesthetic, and did not have glucose tolerance tests performed.

5.3.2 Pre – GlcN Treatment

5.3.2.1 Glucosamine Administration Protocol

A solution comprised of Glucosamine Hydrochloride and PBS was prepared at a concentration of 4 mg/ml and refrigerated. This concentration corresponded to 5 μ L of either PBS or GlcN per gram of body weight giving rise to doses of 0 mg/kg GlcN, or 20 mg/kg GlcN, respectively.

Mice that had been maintained on the LF and HF diets were weighed and randomly assigned to receive either 0 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg GlcN. This resulted in the formation of four treatment groups 1) LF - GlcN, 2) LF + GlcN, 3) HF - GlcN and 4) HF + GlcN. The average weight of the mice that had been on the low fat diet (irrespective of assignment to 0 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg GlcN) was calculated. This was used as the weight for calculating the volume of 4 mg/kg GlcN solution to correspond to a 20 mg/kg dose. This standardized volume was given to mice on the LF diet, as well as HF diet, to avoid effects derived from non – uniformly distributed GlcN doses based on differential quantities of body fat. An equivalent volume of PBS was administered to control animals on LF and HF groups.

Mice were administered via IP injection an appropriate, (average)-weight dependent dose of PBS or GlcN solution for three days. Immediately following the third injection, mice were placed with male 16 - 24 week old C57BL6 mice overnight. The following morning, female mice were assessed for successful mating via the detection of vaginal plugs, and returned to their appropriate cages. Those mice that did not successfully mate overnight were weighed, given a subsequent injection and placed with a male overnight. Mice were allowed a maximum of two mating attempts. When successful mating occurred, mice were again weighed and administered with an appropriate dose of PBS or GlcN. Therefore, mice received injections of PBS or GlcN for a minimum of four and a maximum of five days. The date that each mouse successfully mated, as well as the number of injections that they received, was recorded. Mice were maintained on their previously assigned (LF or HF) diets throughout this process.

5.3.3 Outcome 1: Determining the Effect of GlcN Administration on Glucose Clearance Rates

Mice that did not mate after two attempts were fasted (with *ad libitum* water access), starting on the day of the final (fifth) GlcN injection. Glucose tolerance tests were performed as described above. A 12-hour fasting blood glucose sample as well as 15, 30, 60, 90 and 120 minutes post glucose administration samples were collected and analyzed according to the methods previously outlined.

5.3.4 Outcome 2: Fetal Outcomes

On day 18 of pregnancy, mice that had successfully mated were sacrificed via cervical dislocation and weighed. Dissections were performed to determine litter size, implantation rate, and resorption rate. Rates and the nature of birth defects, as ascertained by gross morphological appearance, were also recorded. Viable conceptuses were removed from uterine tracts, and fetuses and placentas were weighed and assessed for gross morphological appearance. Fetal crown-rump length and placental length and width were measured with a pair of calipers. Ovaries were removed, weighed and Corpora lutea (CL) numbers on the ovaries were counted as an indication of ovulation rate.

5.3.5 Contribution of the male

Since the total number of males constituted a large sample size (N = 24) it was not possible to compare outcomes in all males simultaneously. However, the proportion of females that became pregnant from those that had mated was determined for each male to ascertain if any males had failed to produce a pregnancy despite mating.

5.3.6 Outcome 3 - Postnatal development

Body weights of mice maintained on a LF or HF diet were recorded weekly for 11 weeks. Twenty-four mice were allocated per dietary treatment. Mice were then randomly allocated to receive GlcN or PBS, and the same treatment protocol used for the fetal outcome assessment was applied, with the exception that mice were treated for 4 - 7 days with GlcN instead of 4 - 5. Numbers and proportions of mice that mated and became pregnant were recorded as described above. A total of 12 mice per treatment were used for this experiment.

Mice that had shown evidence of successful mating were moved to separate cages between gestational days 14 - 16, and checked 2 times daily from 19 days gestation for birth. The length of gestation and number of live pups was recorded for each litter. Numbers of dead pups were also recorded wherever possible as either intact or partially consumed pups. Partially consumed pups were only recorded if it could be ascertained that the mass constituted a single corpse, such as a head or a torso with/without fully intact appendages. An individual head and individual torso found in the same cage were counted as a single

body. Readily observable defects included missing one or both eyes, or having notably small eyes. As pups aged other defects also became apparent, including overgrown teeth, non-discriminate external genitalia and shortened limbs.

Following birth, mice were checked daily for 3 days for rates of survival. Pup death was determined by either identifying carcasses directly or determining differences in litter size from the previous day(s). This approach provided no evidence for causes of death. Since there was very early evidence for high rates of maternal cannibalism, it was decided not to weigh the pups immediately to avoid the risk of heightening further maternal rejection. Hence, pup weight was recorded from 3 days of age, on a weekly basis between weeks 1 - 16 post birth. At the time of weighing, pups were assessed for state of health as well as the emergence of deformities that were not evident at birth. Such deformities related to limb and spinal deformities, stunted growth, ambiguous genitalia and eye defects. Eye deformities included small eyes or eyes with a milky coating, which only became pronounced as development proceeded.

At 21 days of age pups were weaned, ear marked and placed into gender specific cages of 5 - 6 mice in a blinded manner. Assessment of the phenotype of the offspring was also randomly performed by a person experienced in mouse development and blinded to treatment group, which confirmed the extent and the nature of abnormal development.

At 16 weeks of age, mice were weighed, assessed for appearance and then sacrificed via cervical dislocation. Body, tail and combined body and tail lengths were measured. Post mortems were performed and weights were collected for the whole body, spleen, heart, kidney, adrenal gland, pancreas, brain, lung, liver, abdominal fat (depots from reproductive organs and intestines), kidney fat, shoulder fat, retroperitoneal fat (depots from the dorsal abdominal wall), omental fat (depots from stomach and spleen), biceps, hind limbs and the remaining carcass. In addition, ovaries and uteri were weighed for females, and testes were weighed for males. Vas deferens and epididymides were removed for sperm analysis.

5.3.6.1 Sperm analysis

All preparations and analyses were kindly performed by an experienced sperm assessor (Hassan Bakos, The Research Centre for Reproductive Health, The University of Adelaide, South Australia).

Epididymides and vas deferentia were removed from carcasses and placed immediately into 1 ml 37°C MOPS-G1 handling media (Lane and Gardner, 2004) in 35 mm dishes. Sperm from all structures was teased out with 2 pairs of tweezers. Successive serial dilutions were performed into fresh, 37°C MOPS-G1 until a dilution of 1/50 was obtained.

5.3.6.1.1 a) Determining average sperm count

Per animal, 10 µL sperm was loaded onto a polylysine coated slide. The total number of viable sperm per square was counted using a haemocytometer to calculate the average number of sperm per square mm. Viable sperm were determined as having a normal morphology. This figure was in turn used to determine the undiluted sperm concentration for each animal.

5.3.6.1.2 b) Determining average sperm motility

Per animal, 10 μ L sperm was loaded onto a haemocytometer slide. The total number of sperm as well as the total number of sperm with normal motility per square was counted. The proportion of sperm with normal motility per square mm was determined, and was used to calculate an overall average for each mouse.

5.4 Statistics

Data analysis was performed on binomial and normally distributed data with SAS (Version 9.2) following arcsine transformation.

5.4.1 Pre – GIcN Administration

Following allocation of LF or HF fed mice to the GlcN or PBS treatment groups, One-way ANOVAs were performed to ensure that starting weights were equivalent within the dietary groups. The effect of diet on weekly weight gain prior to mating was assessed by Repeated

Measures analysis due to each mouse being weighed multiple times, and to reduce the likelihood of generating type 1 errors.

5.4.1.1 Outcome 1: Determining the Effect of GlcN Administration on Insulin Levels and Glucose Clearance Rates

Serum insulin values for mice subjected to LF and HF diets were analyzed using a One-way ANOVA, for both preliminary as well as combined replicate data. For assessment of glucose tolerance, although there are numerous ways of determining the area under a curve, a review of methodologies by Le Floch et al. (1990) determined that using a process based on trapezoidal principals is a valid approach. Consequently, determination of glucose area under the curve during the glucose tolerance test was performed using Microsoft Excel (2003), according to trapezoidal rules. Obtained values were incorporated in a One-way ANOVA to compare glucose area under the curve for LF and HF treatments, for both preliminary and combined data.

5.4.2 Post – GIcN Administration

A One-way ANOVA was used to compare the weight at 11 weeks post dietary manipulation, of mice that did and did not become pregnant. This was performed within dietary groups (i.e. pregnant and non- pregnant for LF as well as for HF) as well as within treatment groups (i.e. pregnant vs non-pregnant for LF - GlcN, LF + GlcN, HF - GlcN, HF + GlcN).

The effects of 7 days treatment with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN on glucose tolerance in nonpregnant, LF or HF fed mice was determined by calculating area under the glucose curve during the glucose tolerance test, as described above. A Two-way ANOVA was used to analyze the obtained data.

5.4.2.1 Outcome 2: Fetal Outcomes

A Chi-squared test was used to analyze the number of mice that mated, the number of mice that became pregnant and the proportion of mated mice that became pregnant between treatment groups. Fetal outcomes were analyzed with a Chi-squared analysis for binomial data (see Appendix, Table 8.11.2) or a 2-way ANOVA with covariates for normally distributed data (see Appendix, Table 8.11.3). Highlighted co-variates are factors that were found when included, to alter significance values of the Two-way ANOVA.

5.4.2.2 Outcome 3 – Post natal development

A Chi-squared test was used to analyze the number of mice that mated, the number of mice that became pregnant and the proportion of mated mice that became pregnant. A Repeated Measures ANOVA was used to assess weekly weight gain in the offspring, and a One-way ANOVA was used to assess organ weight, sperm motility and sperm concentration (see Appendix, Table 8.11.4). Co-variates have been highlighted if they have statistically influenced the outcomes.

A survival table was constructed for each treatment group over the 16 week period. As gender was not determined prior to weaning, survival plots were constructed based on combined male and female data. A Chi squared analysis was performed for each time point to assess survival rates for each age assessed.

5.5 Results

5.5.1 Pre – GIcN Administration

5.5.1.1 Maternal Weight Change during High Fat and Low Fat Dietary Intervention

Weights of mice maintained on a HF or LF diet for 11 weeks were recorded weekly. Mice maintained on the HF diet were significantly heavier than their LF counterparts after 5 weeks of dietary manipulation (P<0.023) (Figure 1). Mice that were fasted for blood collection were not included in mean weekly weight data for one week.



5.5.1.1.1 Figure 1: Weekly weights of mice maintained on a LF (low fat) or HF (high fat) diet for 11 weeks. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Since not all mice were weighed each week (owing to their use for blood collection) between 82 - 96 mice were used for each LF and HF weekly weight value (for the specific numbers for each week refer to Appendix, Table 8.13.1). * indicates significant difference (P<0.05).

5.5.1.2 Determination of Insulin Resistance and Glucose Clearance Rates

5.5.1.2.1 Insulin Analysis

Fasting blood samples were collected following 7, 9 and 10 weeks of feeding a LF or HF diet (12 mice per treatment/per time point) for analysis of serum insulin. Insulin levels were below the level that could be detected by the insulin assay kit that was chosen for the analyses, for a number of the animals. Although preliminary evidence from analysis of data from the first replicate indicated that serum insulin levels were significantly greater for mice maintained on a HF diet at 9 weeks (Figure 2), analysis of combined replicate 1 and 2 data showed no differences in serum insulin levels following HF feeding were detected in those animals where insulin values were obtained.



5.5.1.2.1.1 Figure 2: Preliminary serum insulin levels of mice undergoing LF (low fat) or HF (high fat) dietary manipulation. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. (N: LF 7 weeks = 5, HF 7 weeks = 9, LF 9 weeks = 6, HF 9 weeks = 6, LF 10 weeks = 9 and HF 10 weeks = 4).

5.5.1.2.2 Glucose Tolerance

Preliminary results from the first replicate showed that there was a significant difference in the mean area under the glucose curve during a glucose tolerance test between mice on the LF and HF diets (refer to Appendix, Table 8.14) after ten weeks of dietary intervention. However, when glucose tolerance data from the combined replicates was analyzed, no effect of HF feeding was apparent (Table 1).

Treatment	Week 7	Week 9	Week 10
LF	1616.5 ± 65.1	1741.7 ± 73.8	2401.6 ± 154.4
	(N = 11)	(N = 10)	(N = 12)
HF	1752.0 ± 98.6	1915.4 ± 118.9	2662.6 ± 123.7
	(N = 12)	(N = 11)	(N = 12)
Ρ	P = 0.471	P = 0.663	P = 0.260

5.5.1.2.2.1 Table 1: Mean (+ St Error) area under the curve for glucose clearance rates (mM/ 120 minutes) for mice that received a LF or HF diet.

5.5.1.4 Maternal Weight at the commencement of GlcN Administration

Mice were allocated to GlcN treatment groups (0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN) following 11 weeks on LF or HF feeding, Significant differences were observed between the LF and HF groups (refer to Figure 1), but weights did not differ between GlcN treatment groups within the HF or LF groups (results not shown).

5.5.2 Post – GIcN Administration

5.5.2.1 Maternal Weight

There were no differences in maternal body weight at mating between mice that did and did not become pregnant within dietary and GlcN treatment groups (Appendix 8.12.2).

5.5.2.2 Glucose clearance rates

Glucose tolerance tests were performed in females that did not successfully mate to determine the effects of 7 days GlcN treatment of LF or HF fed mice on glucose tolerance. There were no differences between groups in the mean area under the glucose curve (mM/ 120 mins) (LF - GlcN = 2893.3 \pm 95.2, LF + GlcN = 2807.2 \pm 128.4, HF - GlcN = 3004.6 \pm 112.1 and HF + GlcN = 3079.5 \pm 128.4).

5.5.3 Outcome 2: Fetal outcomes

5.5.3.1 Pregnancy rates

There were no differences in the number of mice that had visibly detectable sperm plugs (LF - GlcN = 28, LF + GlcN = 28, HF - GlcN = 25, HF + GlcN = 26) or in the number of mice that became pregnant (LF - GlcN = 12, LF + GlcN = 20, HF - GlcN = 15, HF + GlcN = 8). However, there were significant differences between the groups in the proportion of mice that became pregnant from those that had mated (P = 0.015) (Figure 3).

Only one male was found to have failed to generate pregnancies despite having deposited sperm plugs in females. As this male had been exposed to an equal number of females from the 4 treatment groups, it was determined that male factors had no impact on the comparison of pregnancy outcomes between groups.



5.5.3.1.1 Figure 3: The proportion of mice that became pregnant of those that had successfully mated, following an 11 week LF or HF dietary intervention and 4 - 5 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups.

Unlike the results obtained in Chapter 4, GlcN exposure did not alter mean implantation number or litter size. There was also no difference between the groups for mean number of resorptions per litter (Figure 4). Likewise no differences were found for the proportion of viable fetuses that formed from the total number of implantations or for the proportion of implantations that resorbed (Table 2). Fetuses that were non-viable and were not counted as resorptions were not included in the analysis.

	LF-GlcN	LF+GlcN	HF-GlcN	HF+GlcN
Proportion of viable fetuses formed from total number of implantations (%)	85.8	84.3	95.4	79.6
Proportion of implantations that resorbed (%)	13.0	12.0	11.1	8.6

5.5.3.1.2 Table 2: Proportional implantation data for mice that that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating.

5.5.3.2 Ovulation

There were no differences between groups in mean CL number. Results are presented in Table 3.



5.5.3.1.3 Figure 4: Implantation number, litter size (viable fetuses) and fetal resorption number in pregnant mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM.

	LF - GIcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GIcN	HF + GlcN
Mean ovulation rate	10.4 ± 0.6	11.3 ± 1.0	9.1 ± 0.2	11.2 ± 1.1

5.5.3.2.1 Table 3: Ovulation data for mice that that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean ± SEM.

5.5.3.3 Litter Data

Feeding a high fat diet reduced fetal weight at day 18 gestation (P = 0.013). Similarly, fetal weight was reduced by peri-conception exposure to 20 mg/kg GlcN, although not to the same extent as by HF feeding (P = 0.023) (Figure 5a). There was no interaction between the HF feeding and GlcN treatment, regardless of the inclusion of co-variates (Appendix, Table 8.18.2). Exposure to a HF maternal diet also reduced fetal length (P = 0.02). GlcN exposure alone or in combination with diet did not influence fetal length (Figure 5b).

Maternal HF diet or GlcN treatment did not alter placental weight (Figure 5c) or placental volume (Figure 5d). There was a trend towards lower placental weight (P = 0.087) and placental volume (P = 0.079) in mothers fed HF diets. Inclusion of implantation (P<0.07) and litter size (P<0.69) data strengthened the trend, although significance was not achieved.

5.5.3.4 Birth defects

Analyses of the prevalence of fetal birth defects are presented in Table 4. The percentage of fetuses showing visible signs of birth defects was greater in the LF + GlcN group, than any other group (P = 0.004). Similarly, the percentage of mothers that carried defected fetuses was higher for the LF + GlcN group relative to all others (P = 0.0001 respectively). The proportion of HF fed mothers that carried birth-defected pups was not affected by GlcN treatment, and was significantly greater than observed in the LF - GlcN group.

Table 5 describes the types of fetal abnormalities detected, as well as numbers of each type of abnormality for each of the four maternal treatment groups. Defects were highly variable, with eye defects including missing one or both eyes, or having one or both eyes underdeveloped (refer to Figure 6).

1000 а b 800 С С Fetal Weight (mg) 600 400 200 0 LF -LF + HF -HF + GlcN GlcN GlcN GlcN





Figure 5b: Mean fetal length (mm)

HF -

GlcN

а

а

b

b

HF +

GlcN

20

18

16

14

12 10

> 8 6

> 4 2

> 0

LF -

GlcN

LF +

GlcN

Fetal Length (mm)



Figure 5c: Mean placental weight (mg)

Figure 5d: Mean placental volume (mm³)

5.5.3.3.1 Figure 5: Fetal weight (a) and length (b) as well as placental weight (c) and volume (d) of d18 conceptuses that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups. (Fetal and placental numbers: LF - GlcN = 91, LF + GlcN = 151, HF - GlcN = 103, HF + GlcN = 74).
	LF – GlcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GlcN	HF + GlcN
Fetuses (N)	91	151	103	74
Abnormal Fetuses (N)	0 <i>(a)</i>	17 <i>(b)</i>	4 <i>(c)</i>	3 (a c)
Abnormal Fetuses from	0 (a)	11.25 <i>(</i> b)	3.88(2)	4.05(a)
Total (%)	0 (a)	11.23 (<i>D</i>)	5.00 (<i>a</i>)	4.03 (<i>a</i>)
Mothers (N)	10	20	15	8
Mothers with Abnormal	0 (a)	Q(b)	2(2)	2(2)
Fetuses(N)	0 (a)	9 (D)	2 (a)	2 (a)
Mothers with Abnormal	0 (a)	15 (b)	13.3 (c)	25 (c)
Fetuses (%)	0 (a)	40 (D)	10.0 (0)	20 (0)

5.5.3.4.1 Table 4: The prevalence of fetal birth defects in mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each pregnancy outcome.

	LF - GlcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GlcN	HF + GlcN
Omphalocele	0	3	1	2
Eye Defects	0	7	0	1

5.5.3.4.2 Table 5: Characterization and distribution of fetal birth defects in mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating.



Fetus 1: No eyes visible on d18 (only 1 missing eye evident from picture)



Fetus 2: 1 eye under developed on d18



Fetus 3: Normal eye development

5.5.3.4.3 Figure 6: A representation of eyes presented in d18 fetuses derived from mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating.

5.5.4 Outcome 3 – Post natal development

5.5.4.1 Pre- GIcN treatment

In the cohort of mice that were allowed to deliver their litters, maternal bodyweights of mice maintained on the HF diet were higher than their LF counterparts after 5 weeks of dietary manipulation (P<0.04) (Figure 7).

No differences in maternal bodyweight were observed between GlcN treatment groups (within the HF or LF dietary groups), following the random allocation of mice to receive either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN.



5.5.4.1.1 Figure 7: Weekly weights of mice maintained on either a LF (low fat) (N = 24) or HF (high fat) (N = 24) diet for 11 weeks. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. * indicates significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each week.

5.5.4.2 Post – GlcN Administration

5.5.4.2.1 Maternal Weight

There were no differences in maternal body weight at mating between mice that did and did not become pregnant within dietary and GlcN treatment groups (Appendix 8.12.3).

5.5.4.2.2 Pregnancy rates

There were no differences in the number of mice that had visibly detectable sperm plugs or in the number of mice that became pregnant. However, unlike mice used for the fetal outcome assessment, there were no differences between groups in the proportion of mice that became pregnant from those that had plugged. There were also no differences between any of the groups for mean litter size. Results are presented in Table 6.

	LF - GIcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GIcN	HF + GlcN
Mice per treatment	12	12	12	12
Sperm plugs post mating (N)	8	10	9	9
Pregnant (N)	6	7	7	7
Pregnant from plugged (%)	75	70	77.8	77.8
Mean litter size	7.8 ± 1.8	8.0 ±1.4	6.8 ± 2.3	10.5 ± 1.4
Total born	47	56	45	74

5.5.4.2.2.1 Table 6: Pregnancy data for mice maintained on either a LF or HF diet and administered with ± GlcN treatment.

5.5.4.2.3 Post natal development

5.5.4.2.3.1 Survival

Results obtained from the completion of a survival table were used to construct a survival plot for combined male and female data (Figure 8). The highest rates of death were observed within the first week of birth for all groups. From day 3 of birth, there were consistently lower survival rates for offspring derived from mothers subjected to a HF diet without GlcN, than all other groups (P<0.008). Values are based on the number of live offspring observable at each time point.



5.5.4.2.3.1.1 Figure 8: Survival rates for offspring from mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Numbers at birth for each group are as follows: LF + 0 mg/kg GlcN = 47, LF + 20 mg/kg GlcN = 56, HF + 0 mg/kg GlcN = 45 and HF + 20 mg/kg GlcN = 74. **a)** No difference between groups; **b)** LF+GlcN = HF-GlcN = HF+GlcN, LF+GlcN> LF - GlcN, HF-GlcN = LF-GlcN; **c)** LF+GlcN = LF-GlcN, LF+GlcN> HF+GlcN> HF+GlcN> HF+GlcN; **d)** LF+GlcN = LF-GlcN = HF+GlcN; **e)** LF+GlcN = HF+GlcN; **e)** LF+GlcN = LF-GlcN = HF+GlcN> LF-GlcN = HF+GlcN> HF-GlcN, CP<0.05) * . Numbers of offspring for each developmental age are provided in the Appendix, Tables 8.13.2 - 8.13.4. Different letters represent significant differences between groups for each week of age (P<0.05).

5.5.4.2.3.2 Weekly weight gain

Owing to the small number of surviving offspring from the HF - GlcN group (N = 3 females and 2 males), subsequent analyses did not include this group.

Offspring gender was determined at 21 days of age. Male and female offspring from HF + GlcN mothers were heavier at weaning (Figure 9A and B). Between 8 - 9 weeks of age, female offspring from HF + GlcN mothers were of an equivalent weight to offspring from LF + GlcN mothers but heavier than offspring from LF - GlcN mothers (P<0.05). From ten weeks of age, however, HF + GlcN female offspring were consistently heavier than all other groups (P<0.05). In males, on the other hand, LF + GlcN offspring were heavier than both other groups during weeks 5 -6 (P<0.03), and heavier than HF + GlcN offspring in week 9

(P<0.05). During weeks 10 - 12, HF + GlcN male offspring were lighter than all other groups (P<0.05).

5.5.4.2.3.3 Developmental Abnormalities

Offspring were also assessed weekly for developmental abnormalities. The number of offspring with developmental abnormalities is shown in Table 7. Gender was determined at weaning. Therefore, the values for total birth defects are greater than the sum of males and females with defects, due to deaths that occurred prior to weaning with gender unassigned. Proportions of offspring with birth defects, relative to the total number born or relative to the total alive on the day of birth are also shown in Table 7. LF + GlcN offspring had a higher proportion of birth defects for combined males and females from both the starting birth number (P = 0.003) as well as number alive on day of birth (P = 0.0012), when compared to all other groups.

Measure	Group	LF - GlcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GlcN	HF + GlcN
Number	Male	2	4	1	3
Number	Female	4	10	/	6
Number	Combined	6 ª	16 ^b	3 ª	10 ^{a b}
% (From birth	Combined	12.8 ^a	28.6 ^b	63ª	13.5 ^a
No.)		12.0	20.0	0.0	10.0
% (From No. alive	Combined	17 1 ^a	30 2 b	73 ^a	1/ Q ^a
d1)		17.1	50.2	7.5	17.5

5.5.4.2.3.3.1 Table 7: Numbers and proportions of birth defects for offspring from mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each measure.

The nature of the birth defects was broad, and was detected at various developmental stages. For example, one of the most common birth defects was eye deformities (Figure 10) which presented in varying forms including: 2 eyes missing, 2 eyes small, 1 eye missing, 1 eye small and presumed blindness (eye(s) covered in a milky layer). The absence of an eye(s) was evident within the first week of birth. However, the detection of small eyes occurred between birth and week 4, and presumed blindness was detected from weeks 4 - 10. One mouse that on first appearance appeared to have no eyes subsequently had small slits detected, suggesting that eyes were potentially present but were not visible owing to

insufficiently sized eye sockets. Other birth defects included presenting with a hunch back which may represent a potential spinal defect (visible from week 2), having abnormal/overgrown limbs (detectable from 2 weeks), presenting with genitalia that could not be distinguished as male or female (evident from 3 weeks), females having bifurcated vaginae (evident from 3 weeks), and males presenting with seemingly small testicles and having no/underdeveloped penises (evident from 3 weeks).



5.5.4.2.3.3.3 Figure 10: Examples of birth defects and health problems identified during the post natal analysis study. Uterine horns completely swollen (A) or presenting with swollen nodules (B), (C): mouse with a very small eye that appears to be blind, (D): mouse with one very small eye, (E): mouse with fused eye socket and (F): mouse with 2 fused eye sockets.

Additional health problems that were not detectable/ known to be present from birth, were also identified as the offspring aged, and are presented in Table 8. Here, HF - GlcN offspring have been omitted from analysis owing to the insufficient sample size. Blindness was detected from weeks 4 - 10. However, as only mice with congenital eye defects developed blindness, blindness has been included within birth defect data. At 12 weeks of age one animal (male, from the HF + GlcN group) presented with extremely overgrown teeth and had to be euthanized. The majority of additional health problems, however, were detected on the day of autopsy.





5.5.4.2.3.3.2 Figure 9: Mean weekly weight of female (A) and male (B) offspring of mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. KEY: **(a):** HF + GlcN > LF - GlcN = LF + GlcN; **(b):** HF + GlcN = LF + GlcN, HF + GlcN > LF - GlcN, LF - GlcN = LF + GlcN; **(c):** LF + GlcN > LF - GlcN = HF + GlcN; **(d):** LF + GlcN = LF - GlcN, LF - GlcN = VF + GlcN, LF - GlcN = HF + GlcN; **(d):** LF + GlcN = LF - GlcN. Numbers of offspring for each developmental age are provided in Appendix Tables 8.13.3 and 8.13.4. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups, at each week of age.

Gender	LF – GlcN	LF + GlcN	HF + GlcN
Male	• Atrophied epididymis (1 side) (N = 1)	 Undescended testes (N = 1) 	• Very enlarged spleen (N = 1)
Female		 Very swollen uterus (N = 3) 	 Very enlarged pancreas (N = 1) Very swollen uterus (N = 1)

5.5.4.2.3.3.4 Table 8: The number and nature of health problems identified at autopsy at 16 weeks of age. Mice are the offspring of mothers that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating.

Post mortem weights

HF - GlcN offspring (N = 2 (female); N = 3 (male)) were omitted from these analyses.

5.5.4.2.3.4.1 Female offspring

As can be seen from Table 9, 16 week old female offspring of the HF + GlcN mice were significantly heavier than mice from mothers maintained on a LF diet, irrespective of GlcN treatment (P<0.05). No differences in carcass weight (Table 9), or proportion of the body constituted by the carcass (Table 10), were found between the groups suggesting that the difference in body weight was attributable to organ weights and/or fat deposit weights. There was also no difference in body length, tail length or combined body and tail length between the three groups (Figure 11).

There were also no differences between the groups for spleen, heart, adrenal gland, brain or lung weights (Table 9) or for the weights of these organs as a proportion of body weight (Table 10) in female offspring. There was a trend towards ovarian weight being lower in mice derived from HF + GlcN mothers (P = 0.06). The inclusion of litter size as a co-variate strengthened the trend (P = 0.051). When maternal weight was included as a covariate within the analysis, ovaries of offspring from HF + GlcN mothers were significantly lighter (P = 0.043). However, when ovary weight as a proportion of body weight was compared, there were no differences between groups (Table 10). Furthermore, as the stage of the estrous cycle was not controlled for, it is possible that ovarian weights may be influenced by cycle-

dependent, physiological changes. Absolute weight of the kidneys, liver and pancreas was not different between groups (Table 9), but relative weights of these organs did differ between the groups (Table 10). The proportion of body weight constituted by the kidney and pancreas was reduced in 16 week old females derived from HF + GlcN mice (P<0.05), whilst the proportion of the body constituted by the liver was significantly greater in LF – GlcN derived mice (P< 0.05), when compared to both other groups.



5.5.4.2.3.4.1.1 Figure 11: Body, tail and combined body and tail length of female mice at 16 weeks of age. Mice are the offspring from mothers that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. (N: LF - GlcN = 13; LF + GlcN = 16; HF + GlcN = 12)

Initially, no differences were seen between groups for uterine weight (P = 0.415) (Table 9). The inclusion of maternal weight (P = 0.058) as well as number of littermates alive on day 7 (P = 0.07) as co-variates generated a trend towards smaller uteri in HF + GlcN offspring. However, after the inclusion of starting total litter size (P = 0.011) as well as the number of living littermates on day of birth (P = 0.017) as covariates, it was shown that HF + GlcN offspring had significantly smaller uteri. However, there were no differences between groups in uterine weight when expressed relative to body weight (Table 10). As the stage of the estrous cycle was not controlled for, it must be recognized that uterine weights may be influenced by cycle- dependent, physiological changes.

There were, however, significant differences in body fat. More specifically, female offspring from HF + GlcN had significantly greater quantities (P<0.01) (Figure 12) and proportions (P<0.02) (Table 10) of abdominal fat, greater quantities (P<0.02) (Figure 12) and proportions (P<0.05) (Table 9) of kidney fat and greater quantities (P<0.05) (Figure 12) and proportions (P<0.02) (Table 10) of retroperitoneal fat. HF + GlcN female offspring also had greater quantities of shoulder fat (P<0.04) (Figure 12). When shoulder fat was analyzed as a proportion of body weight, it was found that whilst LF - GlcN derived females had equivalent distributions to the other two groups, HF + GlcN offspring had a significantly greater proportion of shoulder fat than LF + GlcN offspring (P<0.05) (Table 10). HF + GlcN females also had greater quantities of omental fat (P<0.02) (Figure 12), although omental fat as a proportion of body weight was not different between the three groups.

Similarly, there were also differences between groups for muscle mass. HF + GlcN female offspring had increased weights of hind limb mass, in absolute terms (P<0.05) (Figure 13) and relative to body weight (Table 10) (P<0.05). Absolute or relative biceps mass (Figure 13, Table 9) did not differ between groups. These results indicate that whilst some of the increased body weight of HF + GlcN female offspring at 16 weeks of age can be attributed to an increased muscle mass, the majority of increase in weight is due to increased adipose tissue mass

		Female			Male	
Structure	LF-GlcN	LF+GlcN	HF+GlcN	LF-GlcN	LF+GlcN	HF+GlcN
Siluciule						
	(N = 13)	(N=16)	(N =12)	(N = 7)	(N = 20)	(N = 18)
Body weight (gr)	24.5 ± 0.7 a	25.5 ± 0.5 a	28.2 ± 0.7 b	33.0 ± 0.9	31.4 ± 0.4	30.3 ± 0.8
Adrenal gland (mg)	3.9 ± 0.2	4.2 ± 0.2	4.1 ± 0.3	2.9 ± 0.3	2.4 ± 0.2	2.4 ± 0.2
Brain (mg)	420.8 ± 7.0	423.8 ± 6.3	419.8 ± 7.4	437.1 ± 10.5	423.3 ± 6.2	412.7 ± 6.6
Heart (mg)	103.8 ± 3.5	100.0 ± 3.2	100.9 ± 3.7	132.5 ± 5.4	132.4 ± 3.2	134.9 ± 3.4
Kidney (mg)	132.4 ± 3.4	136.2 ± 3.0	132.1 ± 3.5	186.5 ± 6.7	182.9 ± 4.0	191.2 ± 4.2
Liver (mg)	1247.8 ± 40.6	1183.9 ± 36.6	1243.1 ± 42.2	1872.5 ± 62.9	1806.8 ± 37.2	1758.1 ± 39.2
Lung (mg)	182.3 ± 13.3	182.8 ± 11.8	203.3 ± 13.8	213.4 ± 15.8	205.1 ± 9.4	222.7 ± 9.9
Pancreas(mg)	211.1 ± 10.5	206.2 ± 9.51	191.9 ± 11.0	211.0 ± 7.9	198.0 ± 4.7	196.4 ± 4.9
Spleen (mg)	95.2 ± 5.1	90.6 ± 4.6	95.3 ± 5.3	211.0 ± 7.9	198.0 ± 4.7	196.4 ± 4.9
Ovary (mg)	2.7 ± 0.2	2.6 ± 0.2	2.1 ± 0.2	N/a	N/a	N/a
Uterus (mg)	86.6 ± 13.0	91.4 ± 11.7	68.1 ± 13.5	N/a	N/a	N/a
Testes (mg)	N/a	N/a	N/a	85.5 ± 3.1	86.9 ± 1.8	88.2 ± 1.9
Carcass (gr)	17.0 ± 0.5	17.3 ± 0.4	17.8 ± 0.5	22.4 ± 0.8	21.8 ± 0.4	21.9 ± 0.5

5.5.4.2.3.4.1.2 Table 9: Absolute organ and carcass weight of female and male mice at 16 weeks of age. Mice are the offspring from mothers that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) within genders for each outcome.

		Female			Male	
	LF-GlcN	LF+GlcN	HF+GlcN	LF-GlcN	LF+GlcN	HF+GlcN
Structure	(N = 13)	(N = 16)	(N=12)	(N = 7)	(N = 20)	(N = 18)
Adrenal gland (%)	0.01 ± 0.00	0.02 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.00 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00
Brain (%)	1.7 ± 0.0	1.6 ± 0.0	1.5 ± 0.0	1.3 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 0.1
Heart (%)	0.42 ± 0.01	0.39 ± 0.01	0.35 ± 0.00	0.40 ± 0.01	0.42 ± 0.01	0.44 ± 0.01
Kidney (%)	0.54 ± 0.02 a	0.53 ± 0.01 a	0.47 ± 0.01 b	0.56 ± 0.02 a	0.58 ± 0.01 a b	0.64 ± 0.02 b
Liver (%)	5.1 ± 0.2 a	4.7 ± 0.1 b	4.4 ± 0.2 b	5.7 ± 0.2 ab	5.8 ± 0.1 a	5.9 ± 0.2 b
Lung (%)	0.83 ± 0.32	0.86 ± 0.31	0.87 ± 0.32	0.65 ± 0.04	0.65 ± 0.02	0.74 ± 0.04
Pancreas(%)	0.87 ± 0.06 a	0.81 ± 0.02 a	0.68 ± 0.04 b	0.64 ± 0.02	0.63 ± 0.01	0.65 ± 0.02
Spleen (%)	0.39 ± 0.02	0.35 ± 0.02	0.34 ± 0.02	0.25 ± 0.04	0.29 ± 0.01	0.32 ± 0.04
Ovary(%)	0.01 ± 0.00	0.01 ± 0.00	0.001 ± 0.00	n/a	n/a	n/a
Uterus (%)	0.36 ± 0.04	0.36 ± 0.07	0.24 ± 0.02	n/a	n/a	n/a
Testes (%)	n/a	n/a	n/a	0.26 ± 0.01	0.27 ± 0.00	0.29 ± 0.01
Carcass (%)	69.1 ± 1.5	67. 6 ± 1.2	63.3 ± 1.3	68.4 ± 1.2	69.3 ± 0.5	67.7 ± 0.7
Bicep (%)	0.05 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.00	0.04 ± 0.00	0.03 ± 0.00
Hindlimb (%)	0.18 ± 0.01 a	0.17 ± 0.01 a	0.25 ± 0.02 b	0.12 ± 0.01 a	0.08 ± 0.00 b	0.11 ± 0.00 a
Abdominal fat (%)	2.0 ± 0.2 a	2.6 ± 0.3 a	3.5 ± 0.3 b	1.5 ± 0.4 a	0.9 ±0.2 b	1.5 ± 0.2 a
Omental fat (%)	1.2 ± 05	1.2 ± 0.4	1.1 ± 0.4	1.2 ± 0.1 a	0.9 ±0.1 b	1.2 ± 0.1 a
Retroperitoneal fat (%)	1.3 ± 0.1 a	1.6 ± 0.1 a	2.0 ± 0.1 b	1.3 ± 0.1 a	0.9 ±0.1 b	1.2 ± 0.1 a
Kidney fat (%)	0.6 ± 0.04 a	0.62 ± 0.05 a	0.78 ± 0.5 b	0.58 ± 0.08 a	0.34 ± 0.03 b	0.43 ± 0.3 c
Shoulder fat (%)	0.71±0.1 a b	0.5 ± 0.05 a	0.91 ± 0.11 b	0.8 ± 0.14 a	0.43 ± 0.03 b	0.61 ± 0.05 a

5.5.4.2.3.4.1.3 Table 10: Relative organ and carcass weights as a proportion of body weight of female and male mice at 16 weeks of age. Mice are the offspring from mothers that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) within genders for each outcome.



5.5.4.2.3.4.1.4 Figure 12: Weight of fat deposits in female mice at 16 weeks of age. Mice are the offspring from mothers that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each outcome. (N: LF - GlcN = 13; LF + GlcN = 16; HF + GlcN = 12).



5.5.4.2.3.4.1.5 Figure 13: Weight of biceps and hind limb muscles in female mice at 16 weeks of age. Mice are the offspring from mothers that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each outcome. (N: LF - GlcN = 13; LF + GlcN = 16; HF + GlcN = 12).

5.5.4.2.3.4.2 Male offspring

In contrast to female offspring, there was no difference between the body weights at post mortem of the male offspring (Table 9). Analysis of carcass weight (Table 9) as well as the proportion of the body constituted by the carcass (Table 10) showed that carcasses were not different between the three groups.

There were no differences between groups for body length. However, offspring from the HF + GlcN group had significantly shorter tails then those from the LF + GlcN group, with the tail length of LF - GlcN offspring being equivalent to both other groups (P<0.05). Despite the differences in tail length, there were no differences between groups for combined tail and body lengths (Figure 14).





There were no differences between groups for absolute or relative weights of the heart, adrenal gland, pancreas, spleen, or testes (Table 9, 10) in male offspring. There were also no differences in mean kidney or liver mass (Table 9). However, relative kidney weight was greater in male offspring of HF + GlcN treated mothers, when compared to those of LF -

GlcN mothers (P<0.05) (Table 10). Relative liver weight was reduced in male offspring of LF

124

+ GlcN mothers, when compared to male offspring of HF + GlcN mothers (P<0.05) (Table 10). Although no differences were seen for brain weight, there was a trend observed towards smaller brain weights for HF + GlcN male offspring (P = 0.08) (Table 9). This trend was further strengthened by the incorporation of maternal weight as a co-variate (P = 0.057). There was no difference between the groups in the proportion of the body constituted by the brain (Table 10).

Unlike females, although there was a trend present (P = 0.077), there were no differences in male offspring between groups for abdominal (abdo.) fat mass (Figure 15). However, the proportion of the body constituted by abdominal fat was significantly less for LF + GIcN male offspring relative to the other groups (P<0.05) (Table 10). Kidney fat weight was highest in the LF - GlcN group (P=0.026). Both LF - GlcN and HF + GlcN male offspring had greater mass of shoulder fat (P<0.05) and retroperitoneal (retro.) fat (P<0.05), when compared to the LF + GlcN group. As a proportion of body weight, kidney fat was significantly lower (P<0.05) in LF + GlcN offspring when compared to both other groups. Kidney fat, as a proportion of body weight, was also significantly higher in LF - GlcN offspring (P<0.05), when compared to both other groups. In addition, the proportion of shoulder fat (P<0.04) and retroperitoneal fat (P<0.05) was significantly lower in the LF + GlcN group than in the LF - GlcN and HF + GlcN groups (Table 9). Male offspring from the LF - GlcN group had significantly more omental fat than those from the LF + GlcN group, but offspring from the HF + GlcN group had deposits equivalent to both groups (P<0.05) (Figure 15). In contrast, male offspring from the LF + GlcN group had significantly less omental fat as a proportion of body weight relative to the other two groups (P<0.05) (Table 10).

Consistent with the results obtained from female offspring, there were no differences between groups in biceps weight (Figure 16) or proportion of body weight in male offspring (Table 10). However, hind limb muscle mass was highest in male offspring from LF - GlcN mothers, compared to both other groups. Hind limb muscle mass, in absolute (Figure 16) and relative (Table 10) terms, was lower in males from LF + GlcN mothers, when compared to both other groups



5.5.4.2.3.4.2.2 Figure 15: Weight of fat deposits in male mice at 16 weeks of age. Mice are the offspring from mothers that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each outcome. (N: LF - GlcN = 7; LF + GlcN = 20; HF + GlcN = 18).



5.5.4.2.3.4.2.3 Figure 16: Weight of muscle deposits in male mice at 16 weeks of age. Mice are the offspring from mothers that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating. Values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each outcome. (N: LF - GlcN = 7; LF + GlcN = 20; HF + GlcN = 18).

5.5.4.2.3.4.2.1 Post mortem sperm analysis

5.5.4.2.3.4.2.1.1 Sperm count

There were no differences in mean sperm count (millions/ ml) between the three groups (LF - GlcN = 16.22 ± 2.36 (N = 6), LF + GlcN = 13.69 ± 1.31 (N =15) and HF + GlcN = 15.63 ± 1.02 (N =14)).

5.5.4.2.3.4.2.1.2 Sperm motility

There were no differences in mean sperm motility (%) between the three groups (LF - GlcN = 35.31 ± 1.63 (N = 7), LF + GlcN = 34.19 ± 1.76 (N =20) and HF + GlcN = 35.14 ± 1.0 (N =18).

5.6 Discussion

Significantly, the results obtained from these studies provide evidence that maternal dietary manipulation and the peri-conceptional administration of GlcN to mice induce a variety of reproductive perturbations, including alterations in fetal programming. For example, d18 fetuses from HF fed mice were significantly shorter and lighter than their LF counterparts, irrespective of GlcN exposure. In LF fed mice GlcN treatment also reduced fetal weight, although not to the same extent as occurred from the HF diet. In addition, GlcN exposure increased the incidence of birth defects detected in both late gestation and in live offspring. Unfortunately, owing to the high death rate of HF - GlcN offspring, further specific comparisons of the combined effects of dietary manipulation and GlcN could not be made. However, several gender-specific differences in the remaining treatment groups were observed, including increased adiposity, body weight and proportional hind limb mass in female offspring from the HF + GlcN group, whilst adiposity and proportional hind limb mass was increased in male offspring from the LF + GlcN group.

There were several notable differences in fetal outcomes between Chapters 4 and 5. For example, while implantation number and litter size were reduced by GlcN exposure in Chapter 4, these parameters were statistically equivalent in Chapter 5. The current experiment has utilized a much larger cohort compared to Chapter 4. However, it cannot simply be ascertained that the results from Chapter 4 were obtained in response to under-

sampling, as analysis revealed that numbers were sufficient to detect statistical relationships. Hence, it is likely that the effects observed in both studies are reflective of variations in the models, such as maternal age. In addition, whereas GlcN exposure in Chapter 4 elicited no effect on fetal size, results from Chapter 5 revealed that maternal, peri-conceptional exposure to GlcN in the presence of a normal diet leads to reduced fetal weight. Furthermore this effect was exacerbated by maternal consumption of a HF diet, irrespective of GlcN exposure. This is in agreement with the findings of Jungheim et al. (2010) who observed that the maternal consumption of a HF diet resulted in the generation of smaller offspring.

Also contrasting with Chapter 4 is the greater instance of birth defects observed in fetuses and live offspring from mothers treated peri-conceptionally with GlcN. Results from Chapter 5 showed that birth defects were increased, albeit not to the same extent, in fetuses from dietary- induced, obese mothers, irrespective of GlcN exposure. Differences observed in the number of birth defects between mice from the LF + GlcN and HF + GlcN group should not be related to the dose of GlcN received, since mice were administered with a dose determined by mean body mass. However, it is possible that GlcN was metabolized in a non-uniform manner in adipose tissue relative to other sites, which resulted in non uniform amounts of GlcN being available for reproductive structures in obese mothers.

Diabetes and obesity, both conditions in which HBP activity is known to be up regulated (Robinson et al. 1995; Buse et al. 1997; Akimoto et al. 2000; Considine et al. 2000; Veerababu et al. 2000; Kaneto et al. 2001; McClain, 2002; Fulop et al. 2007) are also associated with increased rates of birth defects (as reviewed by Chung and Myrianthopoulos, 1975; Reece, 2008). Previously, Wyman et al. (2008) showed that in vivo, peri-conceptional hyperglycemic exposure modifies developmental outcomes, by demonstrating that fetal size is reduced and instances of birth defects are increased in response to exposure of the murine zygote to hyperglycemia. GlcN has previously also been linked to perturbed reproductive outcomes. In 2004, Horal et al. observed an increase in the incidence of neural tube defects in fetuses derived from mice administered with GlcN between 7 - 10 days gestation. Although peri-conception GIcN exposure has not previously been linked to birth defects, in vitro exposure of COCs to GlcN reduces oocyte developmental competence in bovine, porcine (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Kimura et al. 2008) and mouse (Chapters 2 and 3) models. Consequently, these in vivo results can be taken as further evidence that GlcN exposure elicits impairments on developmental outcomes, with the nature of such deviations potentially dependent upon the stage of exposure.

Interestingly, in addition to having the highest instances of birth defects, the LF + GlcN group also had the highest pregnancy rates, suggesting that although there were more fetuses formed in this group, they tended to be of a poorer quality. Potential reasons for the increase in pregnancy rate are not overtly obvious. It cannot be attributed to differences in mating rates or male fertility given that all groups showed evidence for mating at similar rates and were exposed comparably to the males. Rather, it seems that GlcN exposure to mice maintained on a LF diet may have elicited effects that could span the ovulatory – early postfertilisation phase of development via unknown mechanisms. Although GlcN did not affect CL numbers, it may have caused more mice to ovulate developmentally compromised COCs. GlcN exposure in this group may also have elicited effects on the pre and post fertilization hormonal environment that assisted fertilisation to occur and/ or early pregnancies to be maintained, and the assessment of the effects of GlcN on key pregnancy hormones such as oestrogen and progesterone would be warranted.

Of key importance to the perturbed fetal and postnatal outcomes in these studies is the lack of treatment-induced modifications of maternal metabolic parameters measured at the time of mating. Exposure of mice to a HF diet has previously been shown to lead to metabolic perturbations. Minge et al. (2004) reported that 16 weeks of exposure to the same HF diet outlined in these studies led to alterations in serum insulin levels. Tortoriello et al. (2004) also found that the administration of a HF diet to mice for 16 weeks modified insulin and glucose levels. Although HF fed mice in this study did not demonstrate any detectable differences in insulin and glucose levels, the fact that they were overweight would suggest that some metabolic perturbations would be present or developing, but may have not been measurable with the methods employed. This notion is supported by the reduced fetal length and weight in pups from mothers maintained on a HF diet. That fetal differences were observed despite the absence of detectable maternal metabolic perturbations, may indicate that reproductive outcomes can be influenced by only slight metabolic perturbations.

Important findings that compliment this notion have been reported by Wu et al. (2010), with six week old mice that were maintained on the same HF (22%) diet as the mice in the studies in this chapter. After only four weeks of dietary manipulation, it was found that oocytes from mice maintained on the HF diet presented with increased quantities of lipid and decreased mitochondrial membrane potential, a marker of mitochondrial damage. The cumulus cells from pre-ovulatory follicles from such treated mice also showed significantly higher rates of apoptosis. Additionally, rates of anovulation were significantly higher in mice fed the HF diet, and of the oocytes that were collected, fewer became fertilised. Unfortunately the authors did not report mean body mass values or indicate whether metabolic assays such as serum glucose and insulin levels were assessed. Regardless however, the documentation of

numerous reproductive perturbations in mice that were started on the same dietary regime at comparable ages but for almost one third of the time duration, provides further evidence that short term exposure to a diet with 22% fat can lead to measurable disruptions in optimal reproductive functioning.

Glucose clearance rates were also not affected by short term exposure to GlcN in the current study. Mice received IP injections of GlcN, which would suggest that the complete dose of GlcN was available to participate in physiological processes. This is because the bioavailability of GlcN is dependent upon its route of administration (Setnikar et al. 1984: Setnikar et al. 1993). While significantly less GlcN is available for distribution around the body when orally administered owing to the fact that ingested GlcN is not largely absorbed (Setnikar et al. 1993; Adebowale et al. 2002; Aghazadeh-Habashi et al. 2002; Persiani et al. 2005), IP injected GlcN has been shown to have complete bioavailability (Aghazadeh-Habashi et al. 2002).

The metabolic results in this chapter complement the findings of studies that employed a wide range of GlcN doses and durations, and which showed that oral GlcN consumption in normoglycemic individuals did not modify blood glucose levels (Echard et al. 2001; Scroggie et al. 2003; Yu et al. 2003; Tannis et al. 2004; Muniyappa et al. 2006). Importantly, however, some studies have shown an effect of GlcN in subjects with abnormal glucose and insulin metabolism. Biggee et al. (2007) reported increased blood glucose levels following the consumption of 1500 mg GlcN taken during a glucose tolerance test, when patients had pre-existing, impaired glucose tolerance. In another study, Pham et al (2007) also confirmed that short term (6 weeks) exposure to the RDI of 1500 mg GlcN leads to insulin resistance in people with pre-existing insulin abnormalities. Using the rat model, Virkamaki et al. (1997) showed that the infusion for 6 hours of 30 μ M per min per kg GlcN with insulin (18 mU per min per kg)) reduced insulin-stimulated glucose uptake.

Based on the results obtained for fetal outcomes, no evidence was found for the existence of additive effects of GlcN and maternal overweight/obesity. Although HF + GlcN derived offspring were in some instances significantly different to offspring from other groups, this analysis is based on a comparison of only three groups. In the absence of data from offspring from HF - GlcN treated mice, no conclusion can be formulated regarding the existence of a relationship between GlcN and maternal overweight/obesity. There are no obvious reasons why offspring from the HF - GlcN group had significantly worse survival outcomes than their dietary counterparts that received GlcN. Although peri-natal survival is known to be reduced by maternal complications including diabetes and overweight/obesity (as reviewed by Kalter, 2002), this offers no explanation as to why survival would seemingly

be improved by GlcN exposure (i.e. HF + GlcN). It is possible that this was due to random chance alone, and that the utilization of a larger cohort would generate alternative findings. Alternatively, it is also possible that the addition of GlcN served as a sufficient stimulus to activate compensatory mechanisms that assisted survival, but which ultimately heighten instances of developmental problems in surviving offspring.

At 3 weeks of age, body weight was increased in both male and female offspring of mice maintained on the HF diet and exposed to GlcN. However, these differences in body weight were not maintained. Reasons for the transient nature of the weight increase in the mice are unknown. It is possible that this could be representative of catch up growth in the HF - GlcN derived animals, consistent with the results of Jungheim et al. (2010) who demonstrated that mice born from HF fed mothers that were initially smaller, became significantly bigger than their control counterparts by post natal day 25. Unfortunately catch up growth cannot be confirmed in these studies without birth weight data, although interestingly it was shown that d18 fetuses from HF mice were significantly lighter than their LF counterparts.

Male offspring showed no long term differences between groups for body weight. In contrast, female offspring from HF + GlcN mice had consistently higher body weight from 10 weeks of age relative to both other groups. Greater hind limb mass and more importantly significantly greater fat deposits contributed to the generation of a higher body weight at 16 weeks, and were also presumably contributing mechanisms at 10 weeks of age. In agreement, other studies have also revealed gender specific differences in postnatal outcomes following exposure to a maternal HF diet. For example, female, but not male, offspring of rats maintained on a HF diet before conception as well as throughout pregnancy have elevated blood pressure between 180 – 360 days of age (Khan et al. 2003). Similarly, insulin secretion is reduced at 50 weeks of age in female, but not male, offspring of HF fed rats (Han et al. 2005). In addition, Jungheim et al. (2010) have provided evidence for gender specific effects of a HF maternal diet, by demonstrating that only males had elevated serum cholesterol levels and compromised glucose tolerance at 10 and 13 weeks respectively.

Interestingly, GlcN has also previously been shown to elicit a gender specific effect on survival. Kimura et al. (2008) reported that the addition of GlcN to bovine IVM and culture media from the 8 cell stage onwards skewed the blastocyst sex ratio towards males, and that moreover, this phenomenon was corrected by the co-incorporataion of the O-linked glycosylation inhibitor BADGP. O-linked GlcNAc transferase (OGT) is an X Chromosome linked enzyme that is used for O-linked glycosylation. Previously, it has been shown that culturing bovine embryos from the 8 cell stage in the presence of 2.5 mM glucose also increases the male sex ratio skew (Kimura et al. 2005). Based on these findings, it would

have been interesting to ascertain if GlcN also altered the fetal sex ratio of offspring derived from mothers treated with GlcN in vivo.

Measurement of hexosamine levels, such as GlcN-6-phosphate, in peri-conceptional, in vivo GlcN-exposed samples of maternal and embryonic origin would have been of interest in this study. Others have shown that HBP activity is increased under conditions of obesity (Buse et al. 1997; Considine et al. 2000; Veerababu et al. 2000) as well following GlcN treatment (Rossetti et al. 1995; Hawkins et al. 1997; Horal et al. 2004; Yki-Jarvinen et al. 1998; Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki and Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Rumberger et al. 2003; Marshall et al. 2004). While there is no doubt that administration of GlcN would increase HBP activity, specific analyses would be required to determine the extent to which this occurred with the treatment regimen used in the current study, and in reproductive tissues. Similarly, the extent to which the obesity model used in the current study affected HBP activity would also require specific analysis. Following on from this, it would be useful to test how GlcN - induced changes to Hexosamine activity affected PPP flux. An understanding of the metabolic changes resulting from exposure to GlcN during the peri-conceptional period would enhance the understanding of the mechanisms through which GlcN affects reproductive outcomes in vivo.

5.7 Conclusion

The experiments outlined in this chapter have confirmed that in vivo, peri-conceptional GlcN exposure elicits detrimental effects on fetal development. Additionally, they also show that maternal weight also has measurable effects on reproductive outcomes. The finding of perturbed development following peri-conceptional GlcN exposure are complimentary to the findings of Chapters 2 and 3, where embryonic development was compromised following in vitro GlcN exposure during IVM. However, the effects of in vivo GlcN administration on reproductive outcomes contrast with those reported in Chapter 4, with a reduction in fetal weight but no effect on litter size detected in the current study. This suggests that other factors, apart from maternal weight, influence the effects of GlcN on reproductive outcomes.

6.0 Chapter 6

Fetal developmental outcomes in the mouse in response to acute, peri-conceptional GlcN exposure are determined by maternal age.

6.1 Summary

It was noted in Chapter 5, that reproductive outcomes were inconsistent between mice maintained on a standard caloric intake described in Chapters 4 and 5 (LF diet). As the primary difference between the two models was maternal age, the current study aimed to determine whether the effects of peri-conceptional GlcN exposure are influenced by maternal age. C57BL6 mice of either 8 weeks or 16 weeks age were given 4 - 7 days 0 mg/kg (PBS) or 20 mg/kg GlcN during the peri-conceptional period, and outcomes were assessed on gestational d18. Consistent with the results from Chapters 4 and 5, GlcN treatment reduced mean implantation rate (P<0.01) and litter size (P<0.01) in 8 week old mice, but not 16 week old mice. In addition, GlcN treatment reduced fetal weight (P<0.05) and length (P<0.05) only in 16 week old mice. Within 16 week old mice, GlcN also increased the proportion of birth defects and the proportion of mothers that carried birth defected pups (P<0.05). These results demonstrate that the reproductive consequences of peri-conceptional GlcN exposure are influenced by maternal age.

6.2 Introduction

Despite the fact that the knowledge base of factors that negatively impact upon reproduction is constantly growing, there are still marked deficiencies of knowledge. One area of deficiency pertains to the interaction or cumulative effect of multiple stimuli which on their own are recognized as having a significant perturbing influence. Although it has long been known that diabetes (as reviewed by Kalter et al. 2002) as well as hypertension (as reviewed by Marshall and Carpenter, 2007) both independently perturb reproductive performance, it has recently been shown that the combined pathologies elicit significantly worse effects (Stella et al. 2008), and thereby provides evidence for the potential significance of examining outcomes of simultaneously occurring health perturbations. In Chapters 4 and 5, it was shown that acute, peri-conceptional exposure to GlcN results in impaired reproductive Intriguingly, however, the nature of the perturbations was found to be outcomes. inconsistent. For example, GlcN exposed mice from Chapter 4 that were maintained on a standard diet and had received GlcN treatment at 8 weeks of age, had a reduced implantation rate and litter size, as well as increased proportion of implantations that resorbed. In contrast, no such effects were seen in the mice from Chapter 5, irrespective of receiving either a HF or LF (standard) diet. Relative to the mice studied within Chapter 4, the mice studied in Chapter 5 were of the same strain and given equivalent treatment, but were of an older age (16 weeks) as they were acting as controls for mice whose diets had been manipulated for 11 weeks. Furthermore, there was a reduction in fetal weight and fetal length in offspring of 16 week old mice that were maintained on a standard diet and given GlcN (Chapter 5), although no difference in these outcomes was evident in GlcN treated 8 week old mice in chapter 4. These findings have prompted an investigation into whether the effects of peri-conceptional GlcN administration are influenced by maternal age at the time of exposure. The aim of the current study was to directly compare the effects of GlcN treatment at 8 weeks or 16 weeks of age on reproductive outcomes in mice.

6.3 Methods and Materials

Unless otherwise stated all chemicals were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St Louis, USA).

6.3.1 Animals

For all procedures, C57BL6 male and female mice (purchased from Laboratory Animal Services at The University of Adelaide) were used, and kept under 14:00 - 10:00 light-dark conditions. They were housed in the animal housing facilities at the University of Adelaide Medical School.

6.3.2 Experiment 1 – Fetal outcomes following peri-conceptional exposure to GlcN at different maternal ages

For each replicate (8 in total), 6 x 5 week old mice (young) and 6 x 13 week old mice (older) were weighed weekly for 3 weeks. All mice were first parity. At 8 and 16 weeks of age, the young and older mice groups were equally distributed into two, weight-matched subgroups and allocated to receive either 0 mg/kg GlcN or 20 mg/kg GlcN. This created 4 groups (8 wks + 0 mg/kg GlcN, 8 wks + 20 mg/kg GlcN, 16 wks + 0 mg/kg GlcN, and 16 wks + 20 mg/kg GlcN).

6.3.2.1 Treatment regime

A solution comprised of glucosamine hydrochloride, dissolved in PBS was prepared at a concentration of 4 mg/ml and refrigerated. This concentration corresponded to 5 μ L of either PBS or GlcN per gram of body weight giving rise to doses of 0 mg/kg GlcN, or 20 mg/kg GlcN, respectively.

For each replicate, average weights for the 8 week old and the 16 week old mice were calculated. These average weights were used to calculate the volume of 4 mg/kg GlcN solution to correspond to a 20 mg/kg dose for each age group. An equivalent, weight-

dependent volume of PBS was also administered for control animals (0 mg/kg GlcN) in each of the age groups.

Mice were given appropriate, weight dependent doses of PBS or GlcN solution for three days via IP injection, at 24 hour intervals. Immediately following the third injection, mice were placed with an individual male, 24 - 32 week old C57BL6 mice overnight. The following morning, female mice were assessed for successful mating via the detection of vaginal sperm plugs, and returned to their appropriate cages. Those mice that did not successfully mate overnight were weighed, given a subsequent injection and placed with a male overnight. This process was continued until successful mating occurred, for a maximum of 4 mating attempts. When successful mating occurred, mice were again weighed and administered with an appropriate dose of PBS or GlcN. Therefore, mice received injections of PBS or GlcN for a minimum of 4 and a maximum of 7 days. The date that each mouse successfully mated, as well as the number of injections that they received, was recorded.

Previously it was shown that there were no differences in outcome (except for the distribution of days of GlcN exposure before mating) that were dependent upon days of GlcN exposure (Chapter 4). As non-mated mice were not going to be used for other analyses (e.g. glucose tolerance as occurred in Chapter 5), it was decided that mice would be given the opportunity to mate for a maximum of 7 days.

6.3.2.2 Pregnancy outcomes

On day 18 of pregnancy, mice that had mated were killed via cervical dislocation and weighed. Litter size, implantation rate and resorption rate were recorded, as were rates and nature of birth defects as ascertained by gross morphological appearance of conceptuses. Viable conceptuses were removed from uterine tracts, and fetuses and placentae were weighed and assessed for gross morphological appearance. Fetal crown-rump length, placental length and placental width were measured with a pair of calipers.

Ovaries were assessed for corpora lutea as indicators of ovulation rate. Ovaries were initially removed, weighed and placed individually into chilled PBS. Ovaries were then placed into a 35mm Nunc dish containing 2 ml chilled PBS, and assessed microscopically for corpora lutea observable on the ovarian surface.

6.3.3 Experiment 2 – Assessing PPP activity in oocytes derived from mice subjected to peri-conception GIcN exposure at different maternal ages

6.3.3.1 GlcN treatment

Five and 13 week old mice were allocated to treatment groups (8 weeks \pm 20 mg/kg GlcN, 16 weeks \pm 20 mg/kg GlcN) as described above. After 3 weeks and at the age of 8 and 16 weeks, they received IP injections of weight-determined doses of either PBS or GlcN for 3 days and on the third day were placed with a vasectomised male overnight. The detection of a vaginal sperm plug the following morning was taken as evidence that mating and therefore ovulation had occurred. If mating had not occurred, consecutive treatment with GlcN and vasectomised males occurred as described above. The GlcN administration procedure in experiment 2 differed from experiment 1 in one respect, however, although this most likely did not significantly alter the experimental uniformity. Instead of 24 hours after the previous dose, in experiment 2 the final GlcN dose was administered 17 hours after the previous dose, because females were killed 24 hours after receiving the second last dose of either PBS or GlcN. Three mice per treatment group and per replicate were used, and a total of four replicates were performed.

6.3.3.2 COC collection

Mice were sacrificed via cervical dislocation, and oviducts were removed and placed into 37°C MOPS-G1 handling media (Lane and Gardner, 2004). Ovulated COCs were extracted from the oviduct, placed into 1.6 ml Eppendorf tubes and vortexed for 1 - 3 consecutive, 30 second periods to remove the cumulus cells.

6.3.3.3 Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase (G6PDH) assay

As described in Chapter 2, denuded oocytes were briefly washed with MOPS-G1, and then transferred to MOPS-G1 drops containing 26 mM BCB overlaid with mineral oil at a ratio of one oocyte per 100 μ L media, for 30 minutes. Preliminary experiments had determined that the optimal concentration, volume and exposure period (data not shown). Oocytes were washed through 4 - 6 drops of MOPS-G1 until the handling media was no longer blue. They

were immediately visualized using a stereomicroscope, and recorded as either positive or negative for presentation of a blue cytoplasm.

6.4 Statistics

Except where otherwise stated, all data was arcsine transformed prior to analysis with SPSS (version 13.0).

6.4.1 Pre – GIcN Administration

Comparison of the mean weekly weight change in mothers across all replicates was performed with a Repeated Measures ANOVA and Bonferroni corrected pairwise comparison. Per replicate, One-way ANOVAs were performed on the subdivided groups of both the 8 week and 16 week old groups. This was performed to confirm that the randomly formed groups (± 20 mg/kg GlcN) had equivalent weights within age groups.

6.4.2 Post GIcN administration

A One-way ANOVA was used to compare the weight of mice that did become pregnant as well as mice that did not become pregnant. This was performed within age groups (i.e. pregnant and non- pregnant for 8 weeks as well as for 16 weeks) as well as GlcN treatment groups (i.e. pregnant vs non-pregnant for 8 weeks - GlcN, 8 weeks + GlcN, 16 weeks - GlcN and 16 weeks + GlcN).

6.4.2.1 Experiment 1 – Reproductive outcomes following peri-conceptional exposure to GlcN at different maternal ages

Outcomes were analyzed with a Chi-squared analysis (see Appendix, Table 8.11.5) or a Two-way ANOVA with covariates (see Appendix, Table 8.11.6), and a Bonferonni post hoc test. Co-variates that when included were found to alter significance values of the Two-way ANOVA have been highlighted.

6.4.2.2 Experiment 2 – Assessing PPP activity in oocytes derived from mice subjected to peri-conceptional GlcN exposure at different maternal ages

The number and proportion of mice that ovulated was analyzed with a Chi-Squared test. The proportion of oocytes with a blue cytoplasm was analyzed with a Two-way ANOVA. Covariates including maternal weight at 8 and 16 weeks, maternal weight change from 5 - 8 weeks and 13 - 16 weeks and days of GlcN exposure were included in the analyses. The incorporation of these co-variates were not found to influence the significance levels as detected without co-variate incorporation.

6.5 Results

6.5.1 Pre-GlcN administration

Older mice (mated at 16 weeks) were consistently heavier than younger mice (mated at 8 weeks) for the 3 weeks they were housed prior to GlcN treatment (P< 0.03) (Figure 1).



6.5.1.1 Figure 1: Weights of mice over 5 - 8 weeks (for those given \pm 20 mg/kg GlcN at 8 weeks) and over 13 - 16 weeks (for those given \pm 20 mg/kg GlcN at 16 weeks) during the peri-conceptional period. Values are (mean \pm SEM) * represents significant differences (P<0.05) for each week.

6.5.2 Post-GlcN administration

6.5.2.1 Weight

There were no differences in maternal body weight at mating between mice that did and did not become pregnant within dietary and GlcN treatment groups (Appendix 8.12.4).

6.5.2.2 Pregnancy rates

There were no differences in the total number or proportion of mice that presented with sperm plugs between age or treatment groups. Similarly, there were no differences in the number of mice that became pregnant, or the proportion of pregnant mice, relative to total starting numbers or relative to those that presented with a sperm plug (Table 1).

	8 wks - GlcN	8 wks + GlcN	16 wks - GlcN	16 wks + GlcN
Mated (N)	20	19	21	19
Mated (%)	83.3	79.1	87.5	79.1
Pregnant (N)	11	7	9	11
Pregnant (from total) (%)	45.8	29.2	37.5	45.8
Pregnant (from plugged) (%)	55.0	36.8	42.8	57.9

6.5.2.2.1 Table 1: Numbers and proportions of 8 and 16 week old mice that presented with sperm plugs and became pregnant after receiving 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN.

Significantly more mice mated over the first 2 days compared to the third and fourth days of GlcN treatment (P<0.0001). Numbers and proportions of mated mice are presented in the Appendix, Table 8.19.3.

6.5.2.3 Litter outcomes

GlcN exposure reduced mean implantation rate and litter size in young mice (P<0.02). (GlcN x age interaction, P<0.01 for both) (Figure1). Relative to 16 week old mice not given GlcN there was a trend towards reduced implantation rates and litter sizes in older mice treated with GlcN, although this was not significant. However, older mice that were not treated with GlcN had significantly higher implantation rates and litter sizes than young mice (P<0.01), and an interaction between GlcN and age was detected for implantation rate and litter size (P<0.01 for both) (Figure 1). Collectively, these results suggest that GlcN exposure has an age-dependent perturbing effect on implantation rate and litter size. No differences in mean resorption rates were detected between the four groups (Figure 1).



6.5.2.3.1 Figure 1: Implantation number, litter size and resorption number for pregnancies in 8 and 16 week old mice given 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. Values are (mean \pm SEM). Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each outcome.

Overall, the total number of implantations (P<0.0001) as well as viable fetuses (P<0.0001) was significantly less in the 8 wk + GlcN group. No differences in total resorptions were seen between the four groups (Table 2).

	8 Wks – GicN	8 Wks + GlcN	16 Wks – GlcN	16 Wks + GlcN
Implantation No.	89 ^a	43 ^b	91 ^a	94 ^a
Pup No.	77 ^a	31 b	77 ^a	83 ^a
Resorption No.	14 ^a	12 ª	14 ^a	11 ^a

6.5.2.3.2 Table 2: Total numbers of implantations, pups and resorptions for pregnancies in 8 and 16 week old mice given 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. (Litter No. = 8). Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each outcome.

A greater proportion of implantations resorbed (P = 0.02) in 8 week old mice that received peri-conceptional GlcN treatment (Table 3).

	8 Wks – GlcN	8 Wks + GlcN	16 Wks - GlcN	16 Wks + GlcN
Ovulated oocytes that implanted (%)	86.4 ^a	95.5 ^a	92.8 ^a	81.7 ^a
Implantations that resorbed (%)	13.5 ^a	27.9 ^b	15.4 ^a	11.7 ^a

6.5.2.3.3 Table 3: Proportions of ovulated oocytes that formed implantations, as well as proportions of implantations that resorbed, in 8 and 16 week old mice given 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups for each outcome.

6.5.2.4 Ovulation data

Mean CL number, tended to be lower in young mice that received 20 mg/kg GlcN, although this was not significant (P<0.08, Table 4).

	8 Wks –GlcN	8 Wks + GlcN	16 Wks – GlcN	16 Wks + GlcN
Mean CL No.	11.4 ± 1.3	9.0 ± 2.6	12.2 ± 0.6	12.8 ± 0.7

6.5.2.4.1 Table 4: Mean CL number of 8 and 16 week old mice given 4 - 7 days of periconceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN.

6.5.2.5 Fetal outcomes

Maternal age did not independently influence fetal weight. GlcN was found to have a significant effect on fetal weight (P<0.03), and there was a significant interaction between GlcN and maternal age (P<0.01). Fetal weight was reduced by peri-conceptional GlcN treatment in 16 week old mice (P<0.05) (Figure 2a), while the same treatment did not affect fetal weight in 8 week old mice.

Fetal length was reduced in pups derived from 16 week old mice given GlcN (P<0.05) (Figure 2b). Neither GlcN nor the mothers' age independently contributed to alterations in fetal length. However, a significant interaction was found between GlcN and maternal age (P<0.04), that disappeared when maternal weight was included in the analysis as a co-variate, suggesting that maternal weight is a contributing component to age-associated changes in fetal size.

Placental weight was increased in 8 week old mice treated with 20 mg/kg GlcN, when compared to all other groups (P<0.05) (Figure 2c). GlcN treatment had a significant effect on d18 placental weight (P<0.05).There was no effect of maternal age on placental weight, and there was no interaction between age and GlcN treatment. No differences were detected in placental volumes between the 4 groups (Figure 2d).



Figure 2a: Mean Fetal Weight (mg)



16 Wks

- GlcN

16 Wks

+ GlcN

8 Wks +

GlcN

а

21

18

15

12

9

6

3

0

8 Wks -

GlcN

Length (mm)

а

а

b





Figure 2c: Mean Placental Weight (mg)

Figure 2d: Mean Placental Volume (mm³)

6.5.2.5.1 Figure 5: Mean fetal weight, fetal length, placental weight and placental volume for pregnancies in 8 and 16 week old mice given 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups and for each outcome. ((N): 8 Wks - GlcN = 76; 8wks + GlcN = 30; 16 Wks - GlcN = 76; 16 Wks + GlcN = 83).
6.5.2.6 Birth defects

As not all treatment groups presented with abnormally developing conceptuses, a Two-way ANOVA was not able to be used to assess abnormalities. Instead, a Chi- squared analysis was employed, and demonstrated a significantly higher number of abnormal fetuses were present in litters of older mothers treated with GlcN as opposed to litters from younger mothers that were not exposed to GlcN (P<0.05) (Table 5). A higher number, and proportion, of GlcN treated older mothers had pregnancies characterized by at least one abnormally developing fetus, when compared to the remaining groups (P<0.05) (Table 5).

	8 Wks – GlcN	8 Wks + GlcN	16 Wks – GlcN	16 Wks + GlcN
No. Fetuses	76	30	76	83
No. Abnormal Fetuses	2 ^a	0 ^a	3 ^a	8 ^b
% Abnormal Fetuses from Total	2.6	0	3.9	9.6
No. Mothers	11	7	9	11
No. Mothers with Abnormal Fetuses	2 ^ª	0 ^a	2 ^a	5 ^b
% Mothers with Abnormal Fetuses	18.2 ^a	0 ^b	22.2 ^a	45.4 °

6.5.2.6.1 Table 5: The prevalence of fetal and placental birth defects in 8 and 16 week old mice that received 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. Different letters represent significant differences (P<0.05) between groups within each outcome.

6.5.3 Experiment 3 – Assessing PPP activity in oocytes derived from mice subjected to peri-conceptional GIcN exposure at different maternal ages

Horal et al. (2004) previously demonstrated that GSH, an intermediate of the PPP, is reduced in fetuses that had been exposed in vivo to GlcN. To ascertain if differences in PPP

activity could be detected in the oocyte, we utilized BCB to assess G6PDH activity. No differences were detected in the proportion of oocytes that exhibited a blue cytoplasmic stain, suggesting that G6PDH levels were not significantly different between the four groups. There were also no differences in the number or proportion of mice that ovulated (12 mice per treatment). Results are presented in Table 6.

	8 Wks – GlcN	8 Wks + GlcN	16 Wks - GlcN	16 Wks + GlcN
Oocytes with blue cytoplasm (%)	78.3% ± 16.0	70.1% ± 11.4	85.0% ± 9.2	78.2% ± 9.7
Mice that ovulated (N)	6	6	5	7
Mice that ovulated (%)	50	50	41.7	58.3

6.5.3.1 Table 6: The proportion of oocytes that presented with a blue cytoplasm after exposure to BCB, as well as the number and proportion of mice that ovulated. Oocytes were ovulated from 8 and 16 week old mice that received 4 - 7 days exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN.

6.6 Discussion

Collectively, the results obtained from the investigations outlined in this chapter indicate that there are age-specific differences in reproductive outcomes in mice subjected to acute, periconception GlcN exposure. Firstly, this was demonstrated by the finding that fetuses from 16 week old, GlcN treated mice were lighter and shorter (in agreement with Chapter 5) compared to all other groups. Previously Wyman et al. (2008) demonstrated that fetal growth is reduced following in vivo exposure to a maternal diabetic environment limited to the zygote stage. This suggests that the GlcN-induced, reduced fetal size in this Chapter may be attributed to HBP upregulation, although provides no explanation as to why fetal size was unaffected by GlcN exposure in 8 week old mice.

16 week old mice treated peri-conceptionally with GlcN also had an increase in the total and proportion of fetuses with birth defects as well as the number and proportion of mothers that carried birth defected fetuses. While there is similarly no immediate explanation for GlcN to affect only 16 week old mice in this manner, these results can be seen to be consistent with

those of Wyman et al. (2008) who demonstrated that congenital malformations in mouse fetuses were increased following in vivo exposure to a diabetic environment limited to the zygote stage. Furthermore, the results of Chapter 6 are also consistent with the outcomes of Chapter 4, where malformations were equivalent between 8 week old mice regardless of GlcN exposure, and Chapter 5, were malformations were increased in 16 week old mice following GlcN exposure, regardless of diet.

The results of this Chapter also confirm the age-related differences observed in Chapters 4 and 5 in relation to fetal resorptions. While resorption rates were not different in the 16 week old mice from Chapter 5, regardless of GlcN or dietary treatment, differences were detected in the 8 week old mice used in Chapter 4. Specifically, there were a significantly higher proportion of pregnancies in Chapter 4 that were characterized as having at least 50% of implantations resorb in response to GlcN treatment. Previously, it has been shown that, similar to clinical observations (as reviewed by Rosenn et al. 1994; Kalter, 2002; Jovanovic et al. 2005), mouse fetuses from diabetic mothers have an increased likelihood of undergoing developmental failure (Moley et al. 1991; Chi et al. 2000). The nature of the specific embryonic defects resulting in post implantation developmental failure following GlcN treatment of young mice requires further analysis, to determine why these outcomes vary between young and older mice. Whether these effects relate to the quality of the embryo, or the implantation process is uncertain.

In addition, it was also shown that 8 week old mice administered with GlcN produced heavier placentas. This is consistent with the outcomes of Chapter 5 where placental weights were equivalent between all 16 week old mice, regardless of GlcN exposure and dietary regime, as well as Chapter 4 were a trend for increased placental weight was observed in 8 week old mice treated with GlcN. Previously, Ericsson et al. (2007) demonstrated that the IP administration of glucose to pregnant rats on gestational day 10 increased near-term placental and fetal weights (measured on day 21 of a 23 day gestation period), thereby demonstrating that mid gestational, transient glucose fluxing alters the placental growth trajectory. Based on the outcomes of Chapter 6 it also seems that placental growth may be influenced by glycemic events that occur peri-conceptionally.

While the reduced fetal weight and increased instance of birth defects demonstrates that embryo quality is perturbed by GlcN exposure in 16 week old mice, it is also important to note that these embryos implanted and developed to late gestation at equivalent rates. Concomitantly, the higher frequency of resorptions and increased placental weight demonstrates that embryo quality is also influenced by GlcN in 8 week old mice. Mechanisms involved in the generation of divergent reproductive outcomes in the different mouse ages are unclear and require further investigation. The results of these studies do however support the findings reported in Chapters 4 and 5 that in vivo administered GlcN is not metabolized exclusively externally to the reproductive system (Fowler and Guttridge, 1987; Fowler 1988; Fowler and Barrett, 1989; Muñoz-Gutiérrez et al. 2002; Horal et al. 2004; Muñoz-Gutiérrez et al. 2004).

Due to its role as a substrate for mucins, GlcN–induced effects may potentially affect follicular function, the oocyte, and possibly the oviduct and/or uterine environment. Based on the results of the current study it could be argued that this does not involve an inhibition of ovulation, given the lack of significant difference in CL numbers between the 4 groups which is in agreement with the findings from Chapter 5, although this requires closer examination. It is, however, perhaps in contrast to multiple studies that have shown an inhibitory effect of diabetes on ovulation rate (Chieri et al. 1969; Kirchick et al. 1978; Jawerbaum et al. 1996; Colton et al. 2002), although the extent of hyperglycemic exposure that may be needed to induce this effect may be considerably higher than what would have been achieved from these experimental treatments.

An alternative possibility is that GlcN could be metabolized differentially in adipose tissue relative to other tissues. If this is the case, older mice with differential distributions of fat to younger mice may metabolize equivalent doses of GlcN differently. However, body composition was not assessed in the pregnant dams in this study. It is also possible that a compensatory response to the hyperglycemic stimulation is more active as age increases, as a result of increasing insulin resistance throughout the aging process. Indeed, Jovanovic et al. (2005) have previously speculated that adaptations may occur in the chronically hyperglycemic pregnancy which permits some degree of conceptus or maternal resistance to perturbing hyperglycemic stimulation.

The experimental design outlined in this chapter effectively included two control groups at different ages (8 wks - GlcN and 16 wks - GlcN). However, findings of differences between these two groups should not be viewed as difficult to interpret or of having compromised reliability. The experiments conducted in Chapter six were designed to confirm results obtained from Chapters 4 and 5, whereby GlcN elicited effects of different natures on reproductive outcomes in mice that varied in age.

Although both increased maternal age (as reviewed by Hansen, 1986; Friede et al. 1988; Nybo Andersen et al. 2000; Miletic et al. 2002) as well as hyperglycemic stimulation (as reviewed by Kalter et al. 2002) are recognized as independent factors that perturb reproductive success rates, little is known about the cumulative effects of these stimuli. In light of the increasing age of pregnant women (Martin et al. 2003; Martin et al. 2005) and the

increasing incidence of metabolic disorders involving perturbed glucose metabolism (Harris et al. 1998; Dunstan et al. 2001; Mokdad et al. 2003), it is surprising that this has received little attention.

It is important to remember however that the mice in this experiment were of a younger age than that classically used in aging studies and mice of the same age and maintained on the same diet in Chapter 5 showed no evidence of metabolic perturbation following GlcN treatment. Since GlcN administration has only been shown to modify serum glucose levels in models where glucose and/or insulin metabolism is already compromised (Weiden and Wood, 1958; Biggee et al. 2007; Pham et al. 2007), it would be unexpected that GlcN administration would lead to overtly measurable changes in serum glycemic parameters, in accordance with the outcomes of Chapter 5. Regardless however, the results of this chapter show that GlcN administration and increased maternal age in reproductively fit, non-classically-aged mice interact to reduce d18 fetal weight and length. It is therefore possible that acute exposure to elevated hexosamine activity, as could occur more frequently with increasing age or via acute GlcN administration, could elicit effects at a cellular level that could modify reproductive outcomes. However, specific testing of hexosamine activity would be required to assess this. .

Failure to detect differences in G6PDH activity between the 4 groups should not be interpreted to indicate that PPP activity in in vivo matured oocytes is not affected by GlcN. As previously stated, it has been demonstrated that IP administered GlcN label penetrates the ovary in the mouse (Fowler and Guttridge, 1987; Fowler 1988; Fowler and Barratt, 1989). It has also been shown that GSH, a product of PPP activity, is depressed in the tissue of fetuses derived from mothers infused with GlcN (Horal et al. 2004). It is possible that in this experiment, GlcN - induced changes may have occurred at an earlier time point, and were not detectable at the time of our collection and assay.

6.7 Conclusion

Collectively, these results demonstrate that in vivo, peri-conceptional GIcN exposure elicits detrimental effects upon fetal development. More specifically, they have provided evidence for the existence of an age – GlcN interaction which affects implantation number and litter size, as well as fetal weight and length. The findings that GlcN exposure reduced implantation rate and litter size in 8 week old mice, reduced fetal weight in 16 week old mice, and increased placental weight in 8 week old mice, suggests that peri-conceptionally administered GlcN is metabolized in a non-uniform manner in mice of different ages. It is also possible that there is an age - GlcN interaction which occurs with respect to birth defects, although owing to insufficient numbers of abnormal pups, this could not be statistically ascertained. Given that hyperglycemia elicits a broad spectrum of effects by perturbing divergent pathways, the use of GlcN as a tool to study the effects of select hyperglycemia-stimulated pathways may prove to be useful for gaining a more complete understanding of glucose pathophysiologies. In particular, it is also a likely useful tool for further analyzing the outcomes of associations between age and hyperglycemia. Concomitantly, the nature of the effects that have been outlined by these studies may be a source of concern in regards to GlcN consumption during pregnancy.

7.0 Chapter 7

Summary of major results and future directions

Despite the fact that high glucose levels have long been recognized to have detrimental effects on pregnancy, research surrounding the impact of high glucose exposure during pre and early pregnancy is much less understood. Emerging studies demonstrate that exposure of both COCs (Diamond et al. 1989; Colton et al. 2002; Colton et al. 2003; Chang et al. 2005(b); Ratchford et al. 2007; Ratchford et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2009) as well as preimplantation embryos (Moley et al. 1991; Moley et al. 1996; Moley et al. 1998(a); Keim et al. 2001; Colton et al. 2002; Wyman et al. 2008) to hyperglycemic conditions is detrimental to subsequent development, although the mechanisms involved and the full spectrum of long term consequences are yet to be determined. GlcN is used experimentally as a hyperglycemic mimetic owing to its ability to upregulate the HBP and its subsequent effects on O-linked glycosylation (Virkamaki & Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Nelson et al. 2000; Marshall et al. 2004; Marshall et al. 2005 (a); Marshall et al. 2005 (b)). Furthermore, it can readily be used in both in vitro and in vivo systems. The studies outlined in these chapters have been designed to 1) examine the effects of altering HBP activity via the introduction of GlcN in mouse COCs undergoing IVM and 2) examine the effect of GIcN exposure in vivo during the peri-conceptional period on subsequent pregnancy, fetal and post natal outcomes. An overall summary of the findings as well as future directions is provided below in Figure 1.





Schelbach



7.0.1 Figure 1 (B): Summarising schema outlining the effects of studied affecting factors on the efficacy of in vivo and in vitro administered GlcN on reproductive outcomes.



7.0.1 Figure 1 (C): Summarising schema of confounding factors and future research directions arising from assessing the impact of GlcN on reproductive outcomes.

7.1 The effect of exposing mouse COCs to GlcN during in vitro maturation

7.1.1 The importance of glucose

Studies described in Chapter 2, demonstrated that the addition of GlcN into IVM media had a perturbing effect on subsequent embryo development, but only in the presence of adequate levels of glucose. This was achieved by increasing the glucose concentration in the IVM media or alternatively, by increasing the volume of media that IVM was performed in and therefore increasing glucose availability. Glucose uptake was not measured in these experiments. However, the failure for GlcN-induced perturbations to be induced in the

Schelbach

presence of lower levels of glucose is complementary to the findings of Gutninsky et al. (2007), who demonstrated that a peak of 24% of glucose uptake was accounted for by the HBP in bovine COCs undergoing IVM. Specifically, the results from Chapter 2 suggest a dramatic increase in HBP activity as a consequence of FSH-stimulated cumulus expansion, which is far higher than within somatic cells, and normally accounts for 1 - 3% of glucose metabolism in the hexosamine metabolic arm (Marshall et al. 1991(b)). This increased demand for substrate by the HBP in COCs as a consequence of FSH stimulation facilitates the production of hyaluronin, an end product of the HBP and an essential component of the expanding cumulus cell matrix (Eppig 1979; Ball et al. 1982; Talbot 1984; Suchanek et al. 1994).

Future experiments aimed at investigating flux through the HBP in response to FSH or epidermal growth factor (EGF) should be conducted to examine the molecular and protein responses of key enzymes within the HBP. Significantly, this increased activity implies a rapid increase in GFPT1 and/or 2 to accommodate this increased activity. The effect of GlcN could also be investigated on downstream transcription factors such as PI3-kinase, or the glycosylation status of transcription factors, which have previously been shown to be perturbed in vivo by GlcN infusion (Akimoto et al. 2006; Einstein et al. 2008; Kim et al. 1999). Alternatively, levels of ATP could be measured, as Hresko et al. (1998), Han et al. (2003) and Marshall et al. (2004) have previously documented ATP depletion following GlcN infusion, presumably due to its use in the GlcN-stimulated increase in the production of G6PDH. Although these potential analyses have been suggested in reference to COCs matured in vitro with GlcN, they could also be performed on in vivo exposed COCs, in vitro or in vivo exposed embryos as well as maternal reproductive and metabolic samples.

7.1.2 Evidence for effects of GIcN on cumulus cells

Previously, others have demonstrated that performing IVM on oocytes devoid of their cumulus cells produces oocytes with reduced developmental competence (Chesnel et al. 1994; Chang et al. 2005(a); Luciano et al. 2005), demonstrating the cross communication between the oocyte and its surrounding cumulus cells, which provides for a host of metabolic and signalling requirements (as reviewed by Buccione et al. 1990; Eppig et al. 1997; Gilchrist et al. 2008). That this result was replicated in Chapter 3 was not surprising. However, the same experiments also revealed that the extent of the reduction in rates of blastocyst development was equivalent between groups that had undergone IVM either with GlcN, or

without cumulus cells or alternatively with GlcN as well as without cumulus cells. The absence of a cumulative effect of GlcN exposure and cumulus cell removal on developmental competence suggests that the effects of GlcN on the COC are mediated through the cumulus cells. This could potentially occur through a variety of mechanisms such as changing key metabolic and structural developmental processes that are integral to successful development, reducing gap junctional communication or inducing apoptosis.

7.1.3 Metabolic processes

Evidence for an oocyte-localized, metabolic effect of GlcN that is mediated via the cumulus cells can also be taken from Chapter 3. When oocytes were matured either with or without cumulus cells and in either the presence or absence of GlcN, there were notable colour differences between groups of oocytes following exposure to BCB. BCB was first described by Pujol et al. (2004) as a marker of oocyte development given that the BCB stain is reduced by G6PDH, the first rate limiting step of the PPP, and that G6PDH levels change throughout maturation. Results from Chapter 3 revealed that fewer control oocytes (matured with cumulus cells and without GlcN) presented with blue cytoplasms, signifying that they had greater levels of G6PDH activity and were able to metabolize the BCB more efficiently. Equivalent rates of presentation of a blue oocyte cytoplasm occurred when maturation occurred either with GlcN, without cumulus cells or with both GlcN addition and cumulus cell removal.

Others have previously reported that GlcN inhibits G6PDH and therefore PPP activity (Bessell & Thomas, 1973; Kanji et al.1976; Horal et al. 2004), although the nature of its effects within the COC remains to be elucidated (Figure 2). Previously, purines and nucleic acids which are generated by the PPP have been shown to play important roles in the acquisition of oocyte meiotic maturation (Downs et al. 1989; Downs, 1997; Downs et al. 1998; Downs and Utecht, 1999; Downs, 2000; Colton et al. 2003), suggesting that any perturbation of the PPP may yield undesirable effects on the health of the oocyte. Such inhibitory properties of GlcN on G6PDH may explain why GlcN treatment in Chapter 3 reduced the efficiency at which BCB was reduced. However, it fails to explain why reduced suppression of BCB, suggesting inhibited G6PDH activity, was also observed in oocytes devoid of cumulus cells. One possibility is that PPP activity within cumulus cells play an integral role in successful oocyte maturation. Further investigations examining this are warranted.

Schelbach



7.1.2.1 Figure 2: Glucose metabolic pathways and the known effects of GlcN on activity through these pathways. (+) shows up regulation and (-) shows down regulation.

7.1.4 O-linked glycosylation

In a variety of cell lines and tissues exposure to GlcN is associated with an increase in levels of O-linked glycosylation (Patti et al. 1999; Chen et al. 2003; Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Champattanachai et al. 2007; Park et al. 2007; Champattanachai et al. 2008; Madsen-Bouterse et al. 2008; Xing et al. 2008). In Chapter 3, GlcN-mediated changes in O-linked glycosylation within the COC were identified as a mechanism contributing to the reduction in developmental competence. Preliminary results suggested that the increase in O-linked glycosylation appeared to be localized to cumulus cells in the mouse, a phenomenon previously documented in bovine COCs (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006). It has previously been shown that the health of the oocyte is perturbed by hyperglycemic exposure (Diamond et al. 1989; Chang et al. 2005b; Ratchford et al. 2007; Ratchford et al. 2008). Since GlcN is used as a hyperglycemic mimetic owing to its ability to up regulate Hexosamine pathway activity (Patti et al. 1999; Virkamaki & Yki-Jarvinen 1999; Nelson et al. 2000; Marshall et al. 2004; Marshall et al. 2005 (a); Marshall et al. 2005 (b)), the results reported in this thesis could be taken as support that one of the mechanisms through which the hyperglycemic state perturbs the COC is via increasing levels of protein O-linked glycosylation in cumulus cells. Further studies quantifying levels of O-linked glycosylation in cumulus cells, and identifying protein targets of O-linked glycosylation, especially following up-regulation of the HBP are required.

7.1.5 Structural developmental processes

An additional observation that was evident throughout Chapters 2 and 3 was that mouse COCs exposed to GlcN underwent a differential pattern of cumulus cell expansion to the one described by van der Hyden (1990). For example, some COCs matured in the presence of GlcN underwent such a rapid and pronounced expansion of the outer cumulus cell layers that they started to dissociate from the rest of the inner, minimally expanded components of the matrix (Figure 3a and 3b). Another common occurrence was that expansion occurred to such an extent that no, or relatively few, cumulus cells remain attached to the oocyte by the completion of IVM (Figure 3c and 3d). In addition, it was noted that cumulus cells (either attached or detached from the COC) often presented in dark, sticky clumps after maturation, suggesting apoptosis. This hyper-expansion likely occurred due to the increased availability of HBP substrate (GlcN) for the production of hyaluronin (Figure 2), an integral component of the expanding cumulus matrix (Eppig 1979; Ball et al. 1982; Talbot 1984; Suchanek et al. 1994). An appropriate scoring system, with additional developmental options, is required to

allow assessment of the developmental stage at which cumulus cell expansion becomes perturbed following GlcN exposure.



7.1.5.1 Figure 3: COCs matured at a ratio of 100 μ L IVM media (containing 5 mM glucose and 2.5 mM GlcN) per COC. (A and B): The outer layers of the matrix have rapidly expanded to such an extent that they are dissociating from the rest of the very modestly expanded inner cellular layers. (C and D): The cumulus cells have expanded so much that they have largely dissociated from the matrix, leaving few intact cells.

7.1.6 Gap junctional communication

Bi-directional communication between the oocyte and its companion cumulus cells occurs through multiple mechanisms and plays a crucial role in the process of successful oocyte maturation (as reviewed by Buccione et al. 1990; Eppig et al. 1997; Gilchrist et al. 2008). Previously, it has been shown that one such mechanism, gap junctional communication, which occurs between the oocyte and its surrounding cumulus cells, is perturbed in COCs derived from Streptozotocin - induced diabetic mice (Chang et al. 2005(a); Ratchford et al. 2008). It is therefore possible that one of the effects elicited by GlcN on the maturing COC is a perturbation of oocyte - cumulus cell gap junctional communication, mediated by the separation of the hyper-expanded cumulus matrix from the oocyte. Further studies to directly assess gap junctional communication could assess this.

Collectively, the outcomes of these manipulations of mouse COC IVM have demonstrated that GlcN elicits perturbing effects on development. Although some mechanisms have been identified, such as O-linked glycosylation and the dependence upon the concentration of accompanying glucose levels, others such as the specific effects of GlcN on cumulus cell function, require further investigation. Although these results, along with the perturbed embryonic development identified in porcine and bovine models (Sutton-McDowall et al. 2006; Kimura et al. 2008), were obtained in vitro, it was reasoned that the effects of GlcN on development would likely not be limited to in vitro systems. For one, the in vivo infusion of

GlcN radiolabel has previously been localized in multiple reproductive structures including the unfertilized oocyte (Fowler and Guttridge, 1987, Fowler 1988; Fowler and Barratt, 1989; Fléchon et al. 2003) as well as one and two cell embryos (Fowler and Barratt, 1989), indicating that GlcN is likely not metabolized exclusively externally to the reproductive system. Furthermore when Horal et al. (2004) infused GlcN into pregnant mice on day 10 of pregnancy, an increased number of fetal malformations were detected, thereby showing that in vivo post implantation development is impacted by GlcN exposure. With these results in mind, it was sought to determine if in vivo peri-conceptional GlcN exposure would also elicit undesirable effects on developmental outcomes.

7.1.7 Apoptosis

Increased rates of protein O-linked glycosylation are positively correlated with apoptosis in pancreatic cells (Liu et al. 2000; Konrad et al. 2000; Park et al. 2007). Given that GlcN has been shown to increase levels of O-linked glycosylation in in vitro produced bovine (Sutton-McDowall et al 2006; Kimura et al. 2008) and mouse (Pantaleon et al. 2010) embryos, an analysis of apoptosis in GlcN – exposed mouse COCs and embryos would be useful in further ascertaining the nature of the deleterious effects of GlcN during pre and early development that have been documented in this thesis. However, owing to the fragile state of GlcN exposed COCs and embryos which have a tendency to fall apart during repetitious handling, specialised techniques would need to be developed.

7.1.8 Gene Expression

Following the findings of GlcN – mediated developmental perturbations in in vitro matured COCs, experimental efforts were focussed on ascertaining whether such effects could also be replicated in vitro. In addition to the various additional mechanistic analyses that have been described, it would also be useful to assess GlcN - induced changes in gene expression. A number of candidate genes would be suitable for such analyses.

The expanding cumulus matrix has an increasing reliance on glucose as maturation proceeds, a phenomenon attributed to increased production of the key matrix component hyaluronin (Sutton McDowall et al. 2004). Hyaluronin synthase 2 (HAS2) is recognised as an integral enzyme involved in the production of hyaluronin within the cumulus matrix (Fulop et al. 2007). Similarly, Insulin like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) has also been implicated in enabling

FSH – induced expansion during IVM (Singh and Armstrong, 1997). Given that perturbation in cumulus cell expansion were observed following GlcN exposure in Chapters 2 and 3, an analysis of GlcN - influenced HAS2 and IGF-1 receptor gene expression throughout maturation could provide further insights into the processes at play. In addition, owing to the fact that GlcN enters cells via GLUT transporters (Uldry et al. 2002), it would be useful to measure levels of Glut 1 within oocytes (Morita et al. 1992; Aghayan et al. 1992; Zhou et al. 2000) and cumulus cells (Zhou et al. 2000).

Since a variety of GLUT transporters are also present in the mouse blastocyst, it would be useful to measure levels of Glut 1 (Hogan et al. 1991; Smith and Gridley 1992; Pantaleon et al. 1997; Moley et al. 1998(b); Carayannopoulos et al. 2000; Kind et al. 2005; Rieger et al. 2007), Glut 2 (Hogan et al. 1991; Aghayan et al. 1992, Moley et al. 1998(b); Leppens-Luisier et al. 2001; Kind et al. 2005), Glut 3 (Smith and Gridley 1992; Pantaleon et al. 1997; Moley et al. 1998(b)) and Glut 8 (Carayannopoulos et al. 2000) within blastocysts. Interestingly, Kimura et al. (2008) showed that the incorporation of GlcN into bovine IVM culture media from the 8 cell to blastocyst stage not only reduced embryo development, but also skewed the sex ratio of the remaining embryos towards males, a finding that the authors attributed to the localisation of O-linked GlcNAc transferase (OGT) - an enzyme involved in the utilisation of GlcN in O-linked glycosylation - on the X chromosome. In addition to assessing whether there are also sex differences in surviving mouse blastocysts that have been derived from COCs exposed to GlcN, it could also be useful to assess levels of OGT expression in either COCs or embryos that have been exposed to GlcN.

7.2 Reproductive consequences of In vivo, peri-conceptional GIcN administration

Chapters 4 - 6 were based on in vivo models of peri-conceptional GlcN exposure. Preliminary findings from Chapter 4, which involved 8 week old mice receiving one of 3 doses of GlcN, injected intraperitoneally during the peri-conceptional period, demonstrated that in vivo GlcN administration was also detrimental to reproductive outcomes. As increased maternal weight is known to be associated with increased Hexosamine metabolic activity (Buse et al. 1997; Hawkins et al. 1997; Considine et al. 2000; Tang et al 2000; Veerababu et al. 2000), it was hypothesized that the effects of GlcN administration would be worse in obese or overweight mice with pre-elevated hexosamine activity. Unexpectantly, although it was shown that GlcN did perturb reproductive outcomes in 16 week old mice, the nature of these defects were different to what had been observed in Chapter 4. Furthermore, they were also largely independent of dietary exposure to a high fat diet, as many of the developmental perturbations were observed in the offspring of mice maintained on standard chow. In light of the observed differences in fetal outcomes between the experiments presented in Chapters 4 and 5, a direct comparison was made between 8 and 16 week old mice given GlcN. Interestingly, the discrepancies between reproductive outcomes in different aged mice were confirmed in Chapter 6 when an interaction was detected between GlcN treatment and maternal age, despite the fact that both of the age groups (8 weeks and 16 weeks) were within a reproductively fit range.

7.2.1 Pregnancy outcomes

Results from Chapter 4 revealed that peri-conceptional GlcN exposure reduced mean litter size, and that this was contributed to by a reduction in mean implantation rate as well as an increase in the proportion of implantations that resorbed. In contrast, litter size, implantation and resorption parameters were not affected by GlcN exposure in Chapter 5. Results from Chapter 6 confirmed prior results that litter size and implantation rate were reduced, and resorption rates were increased, exclusively in 8 week old mice treated with GlcN. The results outlined in Chapter 6 are particularly important, as they demonstrate that reproductive outcomes can be perturbed by a combination of increased maternal age that is still within a reproductively fit range, and glycemic fluctuations that are so mild that they were not detected via serum analysis of glucose and insulin.

7.2.2 Fetal outcomes

Although results from Chapter 4 showed that there were fewer viable fetuses on d18 of pregnancy following peri-conceptional GlcN exposure, these fetuses were equivalent in size. In Chapter 5, fetuses from HF fed mice (irrespective of GlcN treatment) were lighter and shorter than their LF counterparts, consistent with the findings of Jungheim et al. (2010) on embryonic day 14.5 when fetal analysis was performed following maternal HF diet exposure. Importantly however, results from Chapter 5 also showed that d18 fetuses from the LF+GlcN group were significantly lighter than those from the LF-GlcN group, contrasting results from Chapter 4. The results of Chapter 6 confirmed the existence of an age- mediated effect of GlcN on fetal outcomes, when mean fetal weight and length were reduced exclusively in 16 week old mice given GlcN. Why fetal size was reduced by GlcN treatment in low fat fed, but

not high fat fed mice in Chapter 5 is not clear, although this could be due to adipose tissue mediated differences in GlcN metabolism. Alternatively, it is possible that the increased adiposity enabled an adaptation to develop towards transient elevations in Hexosamine activity. However, fetal weight was reduced by high fat feeding, therefore, it is possible that further GlcN – induced perturbations were undetectable with the methods employed.

7.2.3 Birth defects

In contrast to the findings of Chapter 4, results from Chapter 5 showed that peri-conceptional GlcN exposure led to an increase in fetal birth defects. Specifically, this involved an increase in the number and proportion of fetuses with birth defects as well as the number and proportion of mothers that carried birth defected fetuses following GlcN exposure in mice maintained on a low fat diet and given GlcN. Increased rates of birth defects were also observed for post natal outcomes. Although exposure to a HF diet also increased numbers and proportions of birth defects, as well as the proportion of mothers that carried birth defects as the proportion of mothers that carried birth defected fetuses following GlcN exposure in mice and proportions of birth defects, as well as the proportion of mothers that carried birth defected fetuses, this did not occur to the same extent as that seen in the LF+GlcN group. Results from Chapter 6 confirmed that this difference was attributable to differences in maternal age, when an increase in the prevalence of birth defects were detected exclusively in 16 week old mice treated with GlcN, and not mice that were given GlcN at 8 weeks of age.

The findings of increased rates of birth defects are complimentary to the findings of Horal et al. (2004) following in vivo GlcN exposure between days 7.5 - 10.5 of pregnancy, as well as Wyman et al. (2008) following in vivo, peri-conceptional hyperglycaemic exposure. Importantly, however, the effects documented by Wyman et al. (2008) were derived from a model with experimentally measurable diabetes and created via maternal exposure to streptozotocin. In contrast, GlcN-induced changes in serum glucose levels were not detected in mice assessed in Chapter 5. Thus, while acute GlcN exposure may not modify blood glucose levels it may none-the-less lead to cellular changes in the developing oocyte and embryo, which in turn compromise subsequent fetal development. Such potential changes may be diverse in nature, but may include metabolic alterations to the HBP, PPP, glycolytic and polyol pathways, as well as changes in levels of glucose and insulin and their respective receptors.

7.2.4 Post natal outcomes

The extension of the dietary manipulation study to postnatal outcomes also yielded interesting results. Although there were marked rates of early postnatal death across all groups, the majority of offspring from the HF - GlcN treated group died within the first 3 days of birth and were consequently omitted from subsequent analyses. It was found that there were a number of differences between the 3 remaining groups in outcomes at 16 weeks of age, although the nature of the differences were gender specific. For example, female offspring from the HF + GlcN mice had consistently larger fat deposits than all other groups which in turn contributed to greater body masses in this group. In male offspring, on the other hand, offspring with the greatest fat deposits were from the LF - GlcN or HF + GlcN groups, with offspring from the LF + GlcN group consistently having the smallest fat deposits.

7.2.5 Collective peri-conceptional GIcN outcomes

Similarly to the results of experiments performed in vitro, the peri-conceptional administration of GlcN was shown to have perturbing effects on subsequent development. Broadly speaking, these were manifest as reduced pregnancy rates, altered fetal and post natal body composition, and increased fetal and postnatal birth defects. Furthermore, an association between GlcN and maternal age was also identified. From the results obtained from these experiments, many additional questions and issues that need to be addressed have emerged. Whilst some of these have been addressed within previous paragraphs, others are outlined below.

7.3 Additional future investigations

7.3.1 Glucose metabolism

In addition to the HBP, glucose is also metabolised through other metabolic arms including Glycolysis, the PPP and the Polyol pathway (Figure 2). Previously, GlcN infusion has been shown to reduce glycolysis (Giaccari et al. 1995), owing to its ability to reduce glucose uptake (Hawkins et al. 1996; Virkamaki et al. 1997; Holmang et al. 1999; Patti et al. 1999). Reduced glucose uptake has also been documented in various cell culture systems following

the introduction of GlcN (Balkan & Dunning, 1994; Bailey & Turner, 2004; Marshall et al. 2005(b)). Therefore it may appear that GlcN exposed COCs and pre-implantation embryos could also take up reduced levels of glucose, which in turn could impact on glucose fluxing into alternative metabolic pathways.

None-the-less, it is important to measure activity and metabolic intermediate formation in each of these pathways to accurately assess the broader effects of GlcN exposure on glucose metabolism. This is important for several reasons. Firstly, it has previously been documented that COCs have atypical glucose metabolic profiles relative to somatic cells. More specifically, whilst many somatic cells flux 1 - 3% of glucose through the HBP (Marshall et al. 1991(a)), bovine COCs have been shown to have an increasing need for glucose throughout IVM (Sutton et al. 2003), with a FSH mediated peak flux estimated to be around 24% (Gutnisky et al. 2007). Secondly, Polyol pathway activity has previously been shown to be increased in the oocytes of diabetic mice (Colton and Downs, 2004), as well as embryos exposed to hyperglycemic (52 mM) conditions as zygotes (Moley et al. 1996). Furthermore, Ratchford et al. (2007) have reported that glycogen levels in the COCs of diabetic mice are significantly elevated, suggesting that glycogen metabolism should be assessed in models characterized by hyperglycemia or GlcN treatment. Thus, the determination of GlcNstimulated glucose metabolism through additional metabolic arms to the HBP would provide further information regarding the similarities of GlcN and elevated glucose levels, and provide additional insight into the appropriateness of considering GlcN as a hyperglycemic mimetic. Potentially, glucose shunting through these pathways could be measured in COCs and embryos exposed to GlcN both in vivo and in vitro, as well as in samples of maternal origin.

7.3.2 Examination of the effects of GIcN exposure at different points of development

Although the experiments outlined in these chapters have shown that there is both an in vivo and an in vitro effect of GlcN, there is a lack of uniformity in the developmental stage that exposure occurs in the in vivo and in vitro models. More specifically, the maturing COC was exposed to GlcN in vitro, while a wider developmental spectrum was exposed in vivo, encompassing the pre-ovulated oocyte through to the early embryo. It would be useful, however, to examine the effects of GlcN exposure at equivalent points of exposure in vitro and in vivo. This could be achieved via several designs, including exposing the oocyte/ embryo to GlcN at several stages post maturation. It is also possible that pre-ovulated oocytes could be exposed in vivo to GlcN, and then flushed out and artificially matured, fertilized and cultured. Alternatively, GlcN - exposed oocytes could also be fertilized in vitro and then collected for assessment at various stages of development.

Previously it has been demonstrated that in vitro exposure of mouse zygotes to GlcN perturbs subsequent development (Pantaleon et al 2008; Pantaleon et al. 2010). However, the effects of post zygote exposure have not been examined in vivo. When Kimura et al. (2008) incorporated GlcN into either bovine IVM media pre compaction or post compaction embryo culture media, it was noted that the perturbing effects of GlcN on embryo development were limited to exposure that occurred during IVM or post compaction of the O-linked glycosylation inhibitor BADGP reversed the perturbed patterns of development, it was only successful at correcting the GlcN – induced, skewed male embryo sex ratio when exposed to the post compaction embryo. This same sex ratio skewing can also be induced by culturing bovine embryos in concentrations of 2.5 mM glucose or greater, and is attributable to the localization of OGT (a key enzyme used for O-linked glycosylation) on the X chromosome (Kimura et al. 2005). Further investigations are warranted into stage and species specific effects of GlcN exposure, which should also incorporate gender analysis studies.

Furthermore, Horal et al. (2004) demonstrated that exposure of post implantation embryos to GlcN increased the numbers of birth defects in pups. However, these birth defects largely consisted of neural tube defects, in contrast to those observed in my studies. These findings provide additional evidence for differential perturbing effects of GlcN at different developmental periods as well as evidence for in vivo effects of GlcN. It would therefore be useful to administer GlcN at various developmental time points and examine outcomes. This would increase our understanding of whether hyperglycemic exposure elicits developmental-stage specific effects on conceptuses, which in turn could lead to greater levels of understanding in regards to expected outcomes from hyperglycemia or GlcN exposure at different times in pregnancy.

7.3.3 Examination of the influence of the effect of GlcN on the maternal reproductive tract

When GIcN is administered via IP injection, it has the potential to elicit effects on the reproductive tract and its contents, as well as other body systems including the major tissues responsible for regulating maternal metabolism and the metabolic response to pregnancy. Hence, it is possible that effects of peri-conceptional GlcN exposure were mediated directly

by GlcN, or indirectly via stimulation from GlcN-modified maternal conditions. In order to elucidate the influence of GlcN on the maternal condition, embryos from mice that received peri-conceptional GlcN in the manner described in Chapters 4 - 6 could be flushed from donors and transferred into non GlcN treated recipients.

7.3.4 Assessing post natal outcomes in age controlled mice

Although it appeared that GlcN elicited no effects on the developmental outcomes of offspring derived from mice maintained on a HF diet, it was subsequently shown that female offspring became significantly heavier than other groups from 10 weeks of age, which at 16 weeks of age, was contributed to by an increase in levels of adipose tissue. This finding adds to a growing body of evidence which links later physiological outcomes in life with events experienced during early development. Results from Chapter 6 revealed that reproductive outcomes were different in mice given GlcN at different ages. Specifically, 16 week old mice treated with GlcN had d18 fetuses that were smaller in size and exhibited an increase in birth defects, whereas 8 week old mice treated with GlcN had litters of a reduced size owing to reduced implantation rates and increased resorption rates. Since differences in reproductive outcomes for the two ages of mice were detectable at the fetal stage, it is possible that even more pronounced differences may have emerged if post natal analyses were performed. Hence it would be interesting to assess post natal development in mice derived from mothers exposed to GlcN at different ages.

7.3.5 Further analysis of the interaction of factors that separately are known to perturb reproductive outcomes

Currently there is an extensive list of factors that are known to independently perturb reproductive outcomes. In addition to those already mentioned (i.e. hypertension, increased maternal age and perturbed maternal glucose metabolism as can occur in conditions such as diabetes and overweight/ obesity) a select few others include smoking, poor nutrition, illicit drug use and the lack of use of appropriate pregnancy associated vitamins and minerals. However, limited studies have investigated the combined effects of exposure to these factors.

Recently, Stella et al. (2008) found that pregnancy outcomes are worse for women that have both hypertension and diabetes relative to those that are afflicted with only one of these conditions. In the experiment outlined in Chapter 6, it was shown that there was a maternal age-dependent effect of GIcN on overall pregnancy outcomes. These newly emerging results provide evidence for the potential existence of additive effects of age and hyperglycaemic insult to worsen reproductive outcomes. The investigation of simultaneously presented, adverse influences warrants further investigation, either via the analysis of clinical records or through direct experimental manipulation of animal models.

7.3.6 A broader study of the effects of complementary and alternative medicines

CAMs are significantly represented as a component of healthcare expenditure. For example, it was found that public expenditure on CAMs was almost four times as great as expenditure on pharmaceuticals in Australia in 2000, which was extrapolated to a cost of \$2.3 billion (MacLennan et al. 2002). Alarmingly, it has also been reported that rates of reporting CAM use to healthcare practitioners is, whilst rather variable, not high (Gadsby et al. 1993; Maclennan et al. 2002; MacLennan et al. 2006).

This is a potential cause of concern, given the absence of a complete spectrum of understanding of the efficacy of many CAMs. More specifically for many CAMs there is in general a paucity of knowledge regarding supraphysiological dosing, extended periods of exposure as well as interactions with other supplements, non- prescription medications and prescription medications, and with a multitude of common physiological conditions such as pregnancy, diabetes and asthma. The experiments outlined in these chapters have provided evidence for a largely unrecognized and adverse effect of a popular dietary supplement (Kaufman et al. 2002; Wold et al. 2005; Hopman et al. 2006; Singh and Levine, 2006) on reproductive outcomes. They also draw attention to the need to further understand the short term and long term outcomes of CAM use within a greater range of physiological contexts.

7.4 Conclusion

In the experiments outlined within the chapters of this thesis, both in vitro and in vivo GlcN exposure has been shown to elicit perturbing effects on reproductive outcomes in mice. It would be valuable to gain further insight into the mechanisms contributing to these effects of GlcN. It would also be helpful to gain further understanding of the effects of exposure to GlcN in additional physiological contexts. Although the experiments conducted have provided valuable insight into the effects of a popular dietary supplement on reproductive outcomes, they have also provided the basis for the emergence of many new questions.

Appendix

8.1 General Stock Solutions

8.1.1 Stock A

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
NaCl	5.5 g	Dissolve reagents in water
KCI	0.41g	
MgSO4	0.44g	Filter, refridgerate and store for 3 weeks.
NaHPO4	0.035g	
Glucose	0.9g	
L-Na Lactate	1.17g	
MQ H2O	100 ml	

8.1.2 Stock B

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
NaHCO3	2.101 g	Dissolve reagents in water.
Phenol Red	10 mg	Filter, refridgerate and store for 1 month.
MQ H2O	100 ml	

8.1.3 Stock C

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
Pyruvic acid	55 mg	Mix, filter, refridgerate and store for 1 week.
MQ H2O	10 ml	

8.1.4 Stock D

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
CaCl2H20	1.176 g	Mix, filter, refridgerate and store for 3 months.
MQ H2O	40 ml	

8.1.5 Stock G

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
D(+) Glucose	1.080 g	Mix, filter, refridgerate and store for 3 months.
MQ H2O	40 ml	

8.1.6 Stock L

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
Na Lactate (60% Syrup)	2.832 g	Slowly draw the syrup up into a sterile 1 ml pippette tip (unfiltered) with the tip cut off the end. Slowly expel the syrup into the H2O. Rinse tip well. Refridgerate and store for 3
MQ H2O	37.168 ml	months.

8.1.7 Stock M

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
Mg.SO4.7H2O	1.972 g	Mix, filter, refridgerate and store for 3 month.
MQ H2O	40 ml	

8.1.8 Fetuin (20 mg/ml Stock)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
Fetuin	20 mg	Slowly allow fetuin to dissolve. Do not store.
MQ H20	1 ml	

8.2 IVM →embryo culture system 1

8.2.1: α**MEM**

(N.B. Preparation of this stock is the first phase in the preparation of bicarbonate buffered media (for use in IVM and IVF) as well as HEPES media (for use as COC handling media). 2 x solutions used for the final preparation of the cell culture media).

Dissolve 1 x packet Gibco α MEM powder in 200 ml MQ H2O. Divide the solution equally between 2 x 250 ml volumetric flasks.

8.2.2: αMEM handling media (2 x stock)

Dissolve in 200 ml MQ H2O:

252 mg NaHCO3

2380 mg HEPES

25 mg Streptomycin sulphate

+ 37.5 mg Penicillin G

Add to the volumetric flask with α MEM (from 8.2.1). Make up to 250 ml with MQ H2O. Adjust pH to 7.2. Filter and store for 2 weeks.

8.2.3 α MEM handling media

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
aMEM HEPES (2 x stock)	23.75 ml	Gently invert, filter, refridgerate and store for 1 week.
MQ H2O	23.75 ml	
NHT FCS	2.5 ml	

8.2.4: αMEM IVM media (2 x stock)

Dissolve in 200 ml MQ H2O:

- 1100 mg NaHCO3
- 25 mg Streptomycin sulphate
- + 37.5 mg Penicillin G

Add to the volumetric flask with α MEM (from 8.2.1). Make up to 250 ml with MQ H2O. Adjust pH to 7.2. Filter and store for 2 weeks.

8.2.5: αMEM IVM (base) media

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
aMEM 2xStock	2835.75 µl	Gently and thoroughly mix. Do not store.
MQ H2O	2835.75 µl	
Fetuin stock (20 mg/ml)	298.5 µl	
rh FSH	30 µl	

8.2.6: αMEM IVF media

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
αMEM (bicarb buffered) (2 x stock)	2.5 ml	Mix α <i>MEM</i> (bicarb buffered) (2 x stock) with H2O. Add BSA and allow to dissolve (do not shake). Filter.
MQ H2O	2.5 ml	
BSA	15 mg	

8.2.7: KSOM 10 x stock

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
NaCl	5.552 g	Mix, filter, refidgerate and store for 3 month.
KCI	0.178 g	
KH2PO4	0.0068 g	
EDTA	0.0038 g	
MQ H2O	100 ml	

8.2.8: KSOM culture media

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
KSOM (10 x	1 ml	Add all ingredient (except for *BSA) and mix. Adjust the
stock)		osmolarity to between 250 – 260 mOsm and pH to 8.
Stock B	1 ml	
Stock C	40 µL	Add BSA and allow to dissolve (do not shake).
Stock D	84 µL	
Stock G	14 µL	Filter, refridgerate and store for 1 week.
Stock L	200 µL	
Stock M	10 µL	
Glutamax	50 µL	
MQ H2O	7.602 ml	
*BSA	10 mg	

8.3 IVM \rightarrow embryo culture system 2

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
NaCl	5.283 g	Dissolve the first nine chemicals in approximately 500 ml MQ H2Q in a 11 volumetric flask
Glucose	0.090 g	
KCI	0.410 g	Dissolve CaCl2 in a small volume of MQ H2O, and add to the
MOPS	5.800 g	other ingredients in the volumetric flask.
Na Pyruvate	0.035 g	
NAHCO3	0.420 g	After weighing lactate, mix with a small amount of water and
Phenol Red	0.005 g	
MgSO4	0.440 g	Add NEAAs and Glutamax, make up to 11, with MG H2O and
NaH2PO4	0.035 g	mix well.
CaCl2	0.147 g	
Lactate	1.95 g	Adjust pH tp 7.3 and osmolarity to 255 ± 3 mOsm. Filter,
Non essential	10 ml	refridgerate and store for 3 months.
amino acids		
Glutamax	10 ml	

8.3.1: MOPS handling media (protein free)

8.3.2: MOPS handling media (working media)

Add Fetuin at a concentration of 1 mg/ml to MOPS handling media. Allow to dissolve and then filter.

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
Stock A	1.0 ml	Mix to make up to 10 mls. Do not store.
Stock B	1.0 ml	
Stock C	0.1 ml	
Stock D	0.1 ml	
Glutamax (x100)	0.1 ml	
Eagles non-essential amino acids (x100)	0.1 ml	
Eagles essential amino acids (x50)	0.1 ml	
Eagles MEM vitamins (x100)	0.5 ml	
HSA	0.5 ml	
MQ H2O	6.9 ml	

8.3.3: MG2 IVM (base) media

8.3.4: G1 culture media

G1 Culture media was kindly donated by Dr Michelle Lane of the Research Centre for Reproductive Health, The University of Adelaide, South Australia. The composition of the G1 culture media is provided below.

Component	Concentration (mM)	Component	Concentration (mM)
NaCl	90.1	EDTA	0.01
KCI	5.5	Alanyl – glutamine	0.5
NaHPO ₄ 2H ₂ O	0.25	Alanine	0.1
MgSO ₄ 7H ₂ O	1.0	Asparagine	0.1
NaHCO ₃	25.0	Aspartate	0.1
CaCl ₂ H ₂ O	1.8	Glutamate	0.1
Glucose	0.5	Glycine	0.1
Na Lactate	10.5	Proline	0.1
Na Pyruvate	0.32	Serine	0.1

8.3.5: G2 culture media

G2 Culture media was kindly donated by Dr Michelle Lane of the Research Centre for Reproductive Health, The University of Adelaide, South Australia. The composition of the G2 culture media is provided below.

Component	Concentration (mM)	Component	Concentration (mM)
NaCl	90.1	Leucine	0.4
KCI	5.5	Lysine	0.4
NaHPO ₄ 2H ₂ O	0.25	Methionine	0.1
MgSO ₄ 7H ₂ O	1.0	Phenylalanine	0.2
NaHCO ₃	25.0	Proline	0.1
$CaCl_2H_2O$	1.8	Serine	0.1
Glucose	3.15	Threonine	0.4
Na Lactate	5.87	Tryptophan	0.5
Na Pyruvate	0.1	Tyrosine	0.2
Alanyl – glutamine	1.0	Valine	0.4
Alanine	0.1	Choline chloride	0.0072
Arginine	0.6	Folic acid	0.0023
Asparagine	0.1	Inositol	0.01
Aspartate	0.1	Nicotinamide	0.0082
Cystine	0.1	Pantothenate	0.0042
Glutamate	0.1	Pyridoxal	0.0049
Glycine	0.1	Riboflavin	0.00027
Histodine	0.2	Thiamide	0.00296
Isoleucine	0.4		

8.4 GlcN solutions

8.4.1: In vitro (400 mM stock)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
GlcN	86.24 mg	Gently invert, filter, refridgerate and store for 1 week.
MQ H2O	0.5 ml	

8.4.2: In vivo

8.4.2.1 For a dose of 20 mg/ ml (per 5 μL injected)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
GlcN	40 mg	Gently invert, filter, refridgerate and store for 1 week.
MQ H2O	10 ml	

8.4.2.2 For a dose of 400 mg/ ml (per 5 μL injected)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
GlcN	800 mg	Gently invert, filter, refridgerate and store for 1 week.
MQ H2O	10 ml	

8.5 BADGP (100 mM stock)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
BADGP	155.66 mg	Using a sterile instrument, dissociate clumped material to aid the dissolving process. Shake frequently. Once dissolved.
EtOH	5 ml	freeze aliquotted stock.
8.6 BCB stain (100 mM stock)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
Brilliant Cressyl Blue	192.98 mg	Mix. Filter, refridgerate and store for 4 weeks.
MQ H20	5 ml	

8.7 ROS stain

8.7.1 5,6-carboxyl-2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (1 mM)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
5,6-carboxyl-2',7'- dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate	2.65 mg	Mix, refridgerate and store for 3 months
DMSO	5 ml	

8.7.2 2',7' dichlorofluorescein diacetate (1 mM)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
2',7' dichlorofluorescein diacetate	192.98 mg	Mix, refridgerate and store for 3 months
DMSO	5 ml	

8.8 Avertin

8.8.1 Avertin stock

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
2,2,2- tribromoethanol	0.5 g	Gently mix, store in thee dark at room temperature for 6 months
Tert-amyl alcohol	0.5 ml	

8.8.2 Avertin working solution

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
Avertin stock	0.12 ml	Gently mix, refridgerate and store in the dark for 3 weeks.
Saline	10 ml	

8.9 Glucose solution (1000 mg/ml)

Substance	Quantity	Instructions
D-glucose	10 g	Gently mix, refridgerate and store for 1 month
PBS	10 ml	

8.10 Nutritional profile of food given to mice for LF vs HF feeding

8.10.1 Nutritional overview

	LF diet (SF04 – 057)	HF diet (SF00 – 219)
Metabolizable energy	16.1 MJ/kg	19.4 MJ/kg
Caloric content	3.85 kcal/g	4.64 kcal/g
Fat	6%	21%
Protein	19%	19%
Crude fibre	4.7%	4.7%
Acid detergent fibre	4.7%	4.7%
Cholesterol	-	0.15%

8.10.2 Ingredients

	LF diet (SF04 -057) (g/kg)	HF diet (SF00 – 219) (g/kg)
Casein	195	195
DL Methionine	3	3
Sucrose	341	341
Wheat starch	154	154
Cellulose	50	50
Canola oil	60	-
Ghee (clarified butter)	-	210
Calcium carbonate	17.1	17.1
Sodium chloride	2.6	2.6
Potassium citrate	2.5	2.5
Potassium sulphate	1.6	1.6
Potassium dihydrogen phosphate	6.9	6.9
AIN 93G trace minerals	1.4	1.4
Choline chloride	2.5	2.5
SF00 – 219 vitamins	10	10
USP cholesterol	15	15
Etoxyquin (66%)	0.04	0.04

8.10.3 Fat content

	LF diet (SF04 – 057) (%)	HF diet (SF00 – 219) (%)
Saturated fats C12 : 0 or less	-	2.4
Myristic acid 14 : 0	Trace	2.3
Palmitic acid 16 : 0	0.3	6.1
Stearic acid 18 : 0	0.1	1.9
Arichidic acid 20 : 0	Trace	0.5
Palmitoleic acid 16 : 1	Trace	1
Oleic acid 18 : 1	3.6	5.6
Gadoleic 20 : 1	Trace	Trace
Linoleic 18 : 3n3	0.6	0.8
Cholesterol	-	0.15
Linoleic acid 18 : 2n6	0.6	-
A linoleic acid 18 : 2n6	1.1	Trace
Arichodonic acid 20 : 4n6	Trace	Trace
EPA 20 : 5 n3	Trace	trace

8.10.4 Amino acids

	LF diet (SF04 – 057) (%)	HF diet (SF00 – 219) (%)
Valine	1.2	1.2
Leucine	1.7	1.7
Isoleucine	0.8	0.8
Threonine	0.7	0.7
Methonione	0.8	0.8
Cystine	0.05	0.05
Lysine	1.5	1.5
Phenylalanine	0.9	0.9
Tyrosine	1.0	1.0
Tryptophan	0.3	0.3

8.10.5 Vitamins

	LF diet (SF04 – 057) (mg/kg unless otherwise stated)	HF diet (SF00 – 219) (mg/kg unless otherwise stated)
Vitamin A	10 000 IU/ kg	10 000 IU/ kg
Vitamin D3	1 100 IU/ kg	1 100 IU/ kg
Vitamin E	62	62
Vitamin K	12	12
Vitamin C	700	700
Vitamin B1	11	11
Vitamin B2	11	11
Niacin	50	50
Vitamin B6	11	11
Pantothenic acid	33	33
Biotin	200	200
Folic acid	1	1
Inositol	55	55
Vitamin B12	18	18
Choline	2 500	2 500

8.10.6 Minerals

	LF diet (SF04 – 057) (% unless otherwise stated)	HF diet (SF00 – 219) (% unless otherwise stated)
Calcium	0.58	0.58
Phosphorous	0.3	0.3
Magnesium	0.09	0.09
Sodium	0.11	0.11
Chloride	0.16	0.16
Potassium	0.4	0.4
Sulphur	0.22	0.22
Iron	90 mg/kg	90 mg/kg
lodine	0.22 mg/kg	0.22 mg/kg
Copper	0.67 mg/kg	0.67 mg/kg
Manganese	20 mg/kg	20 mg/kg
Zinc	40 mg/kg	40 mg/kg
Selenium	0.15 mg/kg	0.15 mg/kg
Chromium	2 mg/kg	2 mg/kg
Lithium	0.1 mg/kg	0.1 mg/kg
Boron	0.7 mg/kg	0.7 mg/kg
Nickel	0.55 mg/kg	0.55 mg/kg
Vanadium	0.1 mg/kg	0.1 mg/kg

8.11 Supplementary statistical information

Coverioto	
description	Analysis covariate included within
accomption	
Maternal weight	Implantation number, litter size, resorption number, fetal weight, fetal
(at time of	length, placental weight
treatment	
commencement)	
Days of GlcN	Implantation number, litter size, resorption number, fetal weight, fetal
exposure	length, placental weight
Implantation	Litter size, resorption number, fetal weight, fetal length, placental
number	weight
Implantations per	Litter size, resorption number, fetal weight, fetal length, placental
horn	weight
Litter size	Fetal weight, fetal length, placental weight

8.11.1	List	of covar	iates	included	within	statistical	analysis	of outcome	data (Chapter	,
4)										

8.11.2: A list of the reproductive outcomes analysed with a Chi squared test following an 11 week LF or HF dietary intervention prior to 4 - 5 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. (Chapter 5, fetal outcomes)

Parameter	Chi-Squared Analysis
Pregnancy	Number of mice with visible sperm plugs, number of mice that became pregnant, proportion of mice that became pregnant from those that had plugged, proportion of fetuses that had formed from total implantations
Birth Defects	Total number of abnormal fetuses, proportion of abnormal fetuses from the total number, total number of mothers carrying abnormal fetuses, proportion of mothers carrying abnormal fetuses, total number of abnormal placentas, proportion of abnormal placentas, total number of mothers with abnormal placentas, proportion of mothers with abnormal placentas

8.11.3: A list of the reproductive outcomes analyzed with a Two-way ANOVA plus associated covariates, following an 11 week LF or HF dietary intervention prior to 4 - 5 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. (Chapter 5, fetal development)

Parameter	Covariate
Pregnancy	
Mean Implantation Number	Mean ovulation number, maternal weight at completion of 11 week dietary intervention, maternal weight change from $0 - 11$ weeks dietary intervention, days of GlcN exposure
Mean Litter Size	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, maternal weight at completion of 11 week dietary intervention, maternal weight change from $0 - 11$ weeks dietary intervention, days of GlcN exposure
Mean Resorption Number	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, maternal weight at completion of 11 week dietary intervention, maternal weight change from 0 – 11 weeks dietary intervention, days of GlcN exposure
Ovulation	
Mean Ovulation Rate	Maternal weight at completion of 11 week dietary intervention, maternal weight change from 0 – 11 weeks dietary intervention, days of GlcN exposure
Conceptus	
Fetal Weight	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, mean resorption number, maternal weight at completion of 11 week dietary intervention, maternal weight change from 0 – 11 weeks dietary intervention, days of GlcN exposure, placental weight, placental volume
Fetal Length	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, mean resorption number, maternal weight at completion of 11 week dietary intervention, maternal weight change from 0 – 11 weeks dietary intervention, days of GlcN exposure, placental weight, placental volume
Placental Weight	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, mean resorption number, maternal weight at completion of 11 week dietary intervention, maternal weight change from $0 - 11$ weeks dietary intervention, days of GlcN exposure, fetal weight, fetal length
Placental Volume	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, mean resorption number, maternal weight at completion of 11 week dietary intervention, maternal weight change from $0 - 11$ weeks dietary intervention, days of GlcN exposure, fetal weight, fetal length

8.11.4: A list of the reproductive outcomes (post natal) analyzed with a One-way ANOVA (+ co-variates) for mice maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks before undergoing 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN.(Chapter 5, post natal outcomes)

Parameter	One-way ANOVA	Groups included in
		anaiysis
Weekly weight	Maternal weight at 16 weeks, maternal weight	8 wks – GlcN
gain (offspring)	change over 11 weeks, days of GlcN exposure, litter size at birth, number of living litter mates on	8 wks + GlcN
(••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	day of birth, number of dead litter mates at birth, litter size at 1 week, number of dead litter mates	16 wks + GlcN
	at 1 week, number of cage mates at start of weaning, number of cage mates per week	
Organ post	Maternal weight at 16 weeks, maternal weight	8 wks – GlcN
mortems	change over 11 weeks, days of GlcN exposure, litter size at birth, number of living litter	8 wks + GlcN
	mates on day of birth, number of dead litter mates at birth, litter size at 1 week, number of	16 wks + GlcN
	dead litter mates at 1 week, weight (16 weeks),	
	number of cage mates at end of 16 weeks	
Sperm	Maternal weight at 16 weeks, maternal weight	8 wks – GlcN
analysis	change over 11 weeks, days of GlcN exposure, litter size at birth, number of living litter mates on	8 wks + GlcN
	day of birth, number of dead litter mates at birth, litter size at 1 week, number of dead litter mates	16 wks + GlcN
	at 1 week, weight (16 weeks), number of cage mates at start of weaning, number of cage mates at end of 16 weeks	

8.11.5: A list of the reproductive outcomes analysed with a Chi squared test for 8 and 16 week old mice given 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN (Chapter 6)

Parameter	Chi-Squared Analysis
Pregnancy	Number of mice with visible sperm plugs, number of mice that became pregnant, proportion of mice that became pregnant from those that had plugged, proportion of fetuses that had formed from total implantations
Ovulation	Proportion of fetuses that formed from ovulated oocytes (ovulated oocytes determined from CL number)
Birth Defects	Total number of abnormal fetuses, proportion of abnormal fetuses from the total number, total number of mothers carrying abnormal fetuses, proportion of mothers carrying abnormal fetuses, total number of abnormal placentas, proportion of abnormal placentas, total number of mothers with abnormal placentas, proportion of mothers with abnormal placentas

8.11.6: A list of the reproductive outcomes (fetal) analysed with a Two-way ANOVA (+ co-variates) for 8 and 16 week old mice given 4 - 7 days of peri-conceptional exposure to either 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN. (Chapter 6)

Parameter	Covariate		
Pregnancy			
Mean Implantation Number	Mean ovulation number, maternal weight at 8/ 16 weeks, maternal weight change from 5-8 weeks/ 13-16 weeks, days of GlcN exposure		
Mean Litter Size	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, maternal weight at 8/ 16 weeks, maternal weight change from 5-8 weeks/ 13-16 weeks, days of GlcN exposure		
Mean Resorption Number	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, maternal weight at 8/ 16 weeks, maternal weight change from 5-8 weeks/ 13-16 weeks, days of GlcN exposure		
Ovulation			
Mean Ovulation Rate	Maternal weight at 8/ 16 weeks, maternal weight change from 5-8 weeks/ 13-16 weeks, days of GlcN exposure		
Conceptus			
Fetal Weight	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, mean resorption number, maternal weight at 8/ 16 weeks, maternal weight change from 5-8 weeks/ 13-16 weeks, days of GlcN exposure, placental weight, placental volume		
Fetal Length	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, mean resorption number, maternal weight at 8/ 16 weeks , maternal weight change from 5-8 weeks/ 13-16 weeks , days of GlcN exposure, placental weight, placental volume		
Placental Weight	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, mean resorption number, maternal weight at 8/ 16 weeks, maternal weight change from 5-8 weeks/ 13-16 weeks, days of GlcN exposure, fetal weight, fetal length		
Placental Volume	Mean ovulation number, mean implantation number, mean litter size, mean resorption number, maternal weight at 8/ 16 weeks, maternal weight change from 5-8 weeks/ 13-16 weeks, days of GlcN exposure, fetal weight, fetal length		

8.12 Supplementary mating results

	0 mg/kg GlcN	20 mg/kg GlcN	400 mg/kg GlcN
Number mated in 4 - 5 days	15	15	15
Number mated in 6 - 7 days	7	4	3
Proportion mated in 4 - 5 days	68.2	78.9	83.3
Proportion mated in 6 - 7 days	31.8	20.1	16.7

8.12.1: Rates of successful mating for mice that received IP administrations of 0
mg/kg, 20 mg/kg or 400 mg/kg GIcN for 4 - 5 days vs 6 - 7 days (Chapter 4)

8.12.2: Mean (\pm SEM) weight (gr) of mice that did and did not become pregnant after being maintained on a LF (low fat) or HF (high fat) diet for 11 weeks before being treated (IP) with 0 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days. (Chapter 5, fetal outcomes)

	LF - GIcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GIcN	HF + GlcN
Pregnant	24.7 ± 0.3	25.0 ± 0.6	30.4 ± 0.6	31.2 ± 0.7
Not pregnant	24.5 ± 0.4	24.4 ± 0.5	30.8 ± 0.5	30.8 ± 0.6

8.12.3: Mean (\pm SEM) weight (gr) of mice that did and did not become pregnant after being maintained on a LF (low fat) or HF (high fat) diet for 11 weeks being treated (IP) with 0 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days. (Chapter 5, post natal outcomes)

	LF - GIcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GlcN	HF + GIcN
Pregnant	24.5 ± 0.4	24.6 ± 0.4	29.3 ± 0.5	30.1 ± 0.6
Not	24.6 ± 0.5	24.9 ± 0.3	29.9 ± 0.5	30.8 ± 0.4
pregnant				

8.12.4: Mean (\pm SEM) weight (gr) of 8 and 16 week old mice that did and did not become pregnant after being treated (IP) with 0 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days. (Chapter 6)

	8 wks - GlcN	8wks + GlcN	16 wks - GlcN	16 wks + GlcN
Pregnant	21.0 ± 0.2	21.2 ± 0.3	25.0 ± 0.3	25.3 ± 0.8
Not pregnant	21.1 ± 0.2	20.8 ± 0.4	25.1 ± 0.4	24.9 ± 0.3

8.13: Supplemental sample size data

8.13.1: Numbers of mice that were included in mean weekly weight calculations. (Chapter 5, supplemental data for figure 1: Weekly weights of mice maintained on a LF (low fat) or HF (high fat) diet for 11 weeks)

Week	LF (No.)	HF (No.)	Week	LF (No.)	HF (No.)
0	95	96	6	95	96
1	95	96	7	83	84
2	94	96	8	95	96
3	95	96	9	82	83
4	95	96	10	82	82
5	95	96	11	94	93

8.13.2: Number of surviving offspring (from birth to 16 weeks of age) from mice maintained on a LF (low fat) or HF (high fat) diet for 11 weeks being treated (IP) with 0 mg/kg or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days. (Chapter 5, Post natal outcomes)

Week	LF - GlcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GlcN	HF + GlcN
0 (Birth)	47	56	48	74
(Day) 1	35	53	41	67
(Day) 3	29	41	13	39
1	28	36	13	37
2	27	36	11	36
3	26	36	10	36
4	26	36	8	36
5	26	36	6	34
6	23	36	5	33
7	23	36	5	33
8	23	36	5	32
9	22	36	5	32
10	22	36	5	32
11	22	36	5	32
12	21	36	5	31
13	20	36	5	31
14	20	36	5	30
15	20	36	5	30
16	20	36	5	30

8.13.3: Total number of female offspring for developmental ages 3 - 16 weeks, of mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating

Week	LF - GlcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GICN	HF + GlcN
3	15	16	4	16
4	15	16	4	16
5	15	16	3	15
6	14	16	3	14
7	14	16	3	14
8	14	16	3	13
9	13	16	3	13
10	13	16	3	13
11	13	16	3	13
12	13	16	3	13
13	13	16	3	13
14	13	16	3	13
15	13	16	3	13
16	13	16	3	13

8.13.4: Total number of male offspring for developmental ages 5 - 16 weeks, of mice that were maintained on a LF or HF diet for 11 weeks prior to mating and throughout pregnancy, and were treated with 0 or 20 mg/kg GlcN for 4 - 5 days prior to mating.

Week	LF - GlcN	LF + GlcN	HF - GlcN	HF + GlcN
3	11	20	6	20
4	11	20	4	20
5	11	20	3	19
6	9	20	2	19
7	9	20	2	19
8	9	20	2	19
9	9	20	2	19
10	9	20	2	19
11	9	20	2	19
12	8	20	2	18
13	7	20	2	18
14	7	20	2	18
15	7	20	2	18
16	7	20	2	18

		Week 7	Week 9	Week 10
Replicate 1	LF	1634.6 ± 122.4	1676.2 ± 131.8	2234.8 ± 198.0
		(N= 5)	(N = 4)	(N = 6)
Replicate 2	HF	1822.5 ± 196.6	1970.2 ± 231.6	2705.0 ± 213.4
		(N = 6)	(N = 6)	(N = 6)
Р		P = 0.195	P = 0.092	P<0.05
Replicates 1	LF	1616.5 ± 65.1	1741.7 ± 73.8	2401.6 ± 154.4
& 2 combined		(N = 11)	(N = 10)	(N = 12)
Replicates 1	HF	1752.0 ± 98.6	1915.4 ± 118.9	2662.6 ± 123.7
& 2 combined		(N = 12)	(N = 11)	(N = 12)
Р		P = 0.471	P = 0.663	P = 0.260

8.14: Mean (\pm SEM) area under the curve for glucose clearance rates (mM/ 120 minutes) for mice that received a LF or HF diet. (Chapter 5)

198

References

Adebowale, A., Du, J., Liang, Z., Leslie, J. L. and Eddington, N. D. (2002). "The bioavailability and pharmacokinetics of glucosamine hydrochloride and low molecular weight chondroitin sulfate after single and multiple doses to beagle dogs". <u>Biopharm Drug Disposit</u> **23**(6): 217-225.

Aghayan, M., Rao, L. V., Smith, R. M., Jarett, L., Charron, M. J., Thorens, B and Heyner, S. (1992). "Developmental expression and cellular localization of glucose transporter molecules during mouse preimplantation development." <u>Development</u> **115**(1): 305-312.

Aghazadeh-Habashi, A., Sattari, S., Pasutto, F. and Jamali, F. (2002). "Single dose pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of glucosamine in the rat." <u>J Pharm Pharm Sci</u> **5**(2): 181-184.

Akimoto, Y., Hart, G. W., Wells, L., Vossellar, K., Yamamoto, K., Munetomo, E., Ohara-Imaizumi, M., Nishiwaki, C., Nagamatsu, S., Hirano, H. and Kawakami, H. (2006). "Elevation of the post-translational modification of proteins by O-linked N-acetylglucosamine leads to deterioration of the glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in the pancreas of diabetic Goto-Kazikazi rats". <u>Glycobiol</u> **17**(2): 127-140.

Akimoto, Y., Kreppel, L. H., Hirano, H. And Hart, G. W. (2000). "Increased O-GlcNAc transferase in pancreas of rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes." <u>Diabetologia</u> **43**(10): 1239-47.

Akimoto, Y., Kreppel, L. K., Hirano, H. and Hart, G. W. (2001). "Hyperglycemia and the O-GlcNAc transferase in rat aortic smooth muscle cells: elevated expression and altered patterns of O-GlcNAcylation." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> **389**(2): 166-175.

Allaire, A. D., Moos, M. K. and Wells, S. R. (2000). "Complementary and alternative medicine in pregnancy: a survey of North Carolina certified nurse-midwives." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> 95(1): 19-23.

Alokail, M. S., Al-Daghri, N. M., Al-Attas, O. S. and Hussain, T. (2009). "Combined effects of obesity and type 2 diabetes contribute to increased breast cancer risk in premenopausal women." <u>Cardiovasc Diabetol</u> **8**: 33.

Amaral, S., Oliveira, P. J. and Ramalho-Santos, J. (2008). "Diabetes and the impairment of reproductive function: possible role of mitochondria and reactive oxygen species." <u>Curr</u> <u>Diabetes Rev</u> **4**(1): 46-54.

Andreozzi, F., D'Alessandris, C., Federici, M., Laratta, E., Del Guerra, S., Del Prato, S., Marchetti, P., Lauro, R., Perticone, F. and Sesti, G. (2004). "Activation of the Hexosamine Pathway Leads to Phosphorylation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1 on Ser³⁰⁷ and Ser⁶¹² and Impairs the Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase/Akt/Mammalian Target of Rapamycin Insulin Biosynthetic Pathway in RIN Pancreatic & Cells." <u>Endocrinology</u> 145(6): 2845-2857.

Aris, A., Leblanc, S., Ouellet, A. and Moutquin, J. M. (2008). "Detrimental effects of high levels of antioxidant vitamins C and E on placental function: considerations for the vitamins in preeclampsia (VIP) trial." <u>J Obstet Gynaecol Res</u> **34**(4): 504-511.

Augustin, R., Pocar, P., Navarrete-Santos, A., Wrenzycki, C., Gandolfi, F., Niemann, H. and Fischer, B. (2001). "Glucose transporter expression is developmentally regulated in in vitro derived bovine preimplantation embryos." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **60**(3): 370-376.

Ayabe, T., Tsutsumi, O. and Taketani, Y. (1994). "Hexokinase activity in mouse embryos developed in vivo and in vitro". Hum Reprod Oxf **9**(2): 347-351.

Bailey, C. J. and Turner, S. L. (2004). "Glucosamine-induced insulin resistance in L6 muscle cells". <u>Diabetes Obes Metab</u> **6**(4): 293-296.

Balkan, B. and B. E. Dunning (1994). "Glucosamine inhibits glucokinase in vitro and produces a glucose-specific impairment of in vivo insulin secretion in rats." <u>Diabetes</u> **43**(10): 1173-1179.

Ball, G., Bellin, M. E., Ax, R. L and First N. L. (1982). "Glycosaminoglycans in bovine cumulus-oocyte complexes: morphology and chemistry". <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol</u> **28**(1): 113-122. *Schelbach*

Ballester, J., Munoz, M. C., Dominguez, J., Palomo, M. J., Rivera, M., Rigau, T., Guinovart, J. J. and Rodriguez-Gil, J. E. (2007). "Tungstate administration improves the sexual and reproductive function in female rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **22**(8): 2128-2135.

Banwell, K. M., Lane, M., Russell, D. L., Kind, K. L. and Thompson, J. G. (2007). "Oxygen concentration during mouse oocyte in vitro maturation affects embryo and fetal development." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **22**(10): 2768-2775.

Baron, A. D., Zhu, J. S., Zhu, J. H., Weldon, H., Maianu, L. and Garvey, W. T. (1999). "Glucosamine induces insulin resistance in vivo by affecting GLUT 4 translocation in skeletal muscle. Implications for glucose toxicity." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **96**(6): 2792-2801.

Bell, R., Bailey, K., Cresswell, T., Hawthorne, G., Critchley, J. and Lewis-Barned, N. (2008). "Trends in prevalence and outcomes of pregnancy in women with pre-existing type I and type II diabetes." <u>BJOG</u> **115**(4): 445-452.

Bessell, E. M and Thomas P (1973). "The effect of substitution at C-2 of D-glucose 6-phosphate on the rate of dehydrogenation by glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase (from yeast and from rat liver)." <u>Biochem J</u> **131**(1): 83-89.

Bevier, W. C., Fischer, R. and Jovanovic, L. (1999). "Treatment of women with an abnormal glucose challenge test (but a normal oral glucose tolerance test) decreases the prevalence of macrosomia." <u>Am J Perinatol</u> **16**(6): 269-275.

Bigby, M. A. M. and Jones, F. A. (1945). "Pregnancy and diabetes." <u>Br Med J</u> 1(4393):360-363.

Biggee, B. A., Blinn, C. M., Nuite, M., Silbert, J. E. and McAlindon, T. E. (2007). "Effects of oral glucosamine sulphate on serum glucose and insulin during an oral glucose tolerance test of subjects with osteoarthritis." <u>Ann Rheum Dis</u> **66**(2): 260-262.

Biggers, J. D., Whittingham, D. G. and Donahhue, R. P. (1967). "The pattern of energy metabolism in the mouse oocyte and zygote." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **58**(2): 560-567.

Block, G., Jensen, C. D., Norkus, E. P., Dalvi, T. B., Wong, L. G., McManus, J. F. and Hudes, M. L. (2007). "Usage patterns, health, and nutritional status of long-term multiple dietary supplement users: a cross-sectional study." <u>Nutr J 6</u>: 30.

Boland, C. R. and Deshmukh, G. D. (1990). "The carbohydrate composition of mucin in colonic cancer." <u>Gastroenterology</u> **98**(5 Pt 1): 1170-1177.

Bonomo, M., Gandini, M. L., Mastropasqua, A., Begher, C., Valentini, U., Faden, D. and Morabito, A. (1998). "Which cutoff level should be used in screening for glucose intolerance in pregnancy? Definition of Screening Methods for Gestational Diabetes Study Group of the Lombardy Section of the Italian Society of Diabetology." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **179**(1): 179-185.

Boskovic, R., Gargaun, L., Oren, D., Djulus, J. and Koren, G. (2005). "Pregnancy outcome following high doses of Vitamin E supplementation." <u>Reprod Toxicol</u> **20**(1): 85-88.

Brevini, T. A., Lonergan, P., Cillo, F., Francisci, C., Favetta, L. A., Fair, T., and Gandolfi, F. (2002). "Evolution of mRNA polyadenylation between oocyte maturation and first embryonic cleavage in cattle and its relation with developmental competence." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **63**(4): 510-517.

Brinster, R.L. (1965). "Studies on the development of mouse embryos in vitro. IV. Interaction of energy sources." J. Reprod. Fertil., 10: 227–240.

Brinster, R. L. (1967). "Carbon dioxide production from glucose by the preimplantation mouse embryo." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> **47**(1-2): 271-277(a).

Brinster, R. L. (1967). "Carbon dioxide production from lactate and pyruvate by the preimplantation mouse embryo." <u>Exp Cell Res</u> 47(3): 634-637(b).

Brown, J. J. and D. G. Whittingham (1991). "The roles of pyruvate, lactate and glucose during preimplantation development of embryos from F1 hybrid mice in vitro." <u>Development</u> **112**(1): 99-105.

Buccione, R., Schroeder, A. C. and Eppig, J. J. (1990). "Interactions between somatic cells and germ cells throughout mammalian oogenesis". Biol Reprod **43**(4): 543-547.

Burant, C. F., Takeda, J., Brot-Laroche, E., Bell, G. I., Davidson, N. O. (1992). "Fructose transporter in human spermatozoa and small intestine is GLUT5." <u>JBC</u> **267**(21): 14523-14526.

Buse, M. G., Robinson, K. A., Gettys, T. W., McMahon, E. G. and Gulve, E. A. (1997). "Increased activity of the hexosamine synthesis pathway in muscles of insulin-resistant ob/ob mice." <u>Am J Physiol</u> **272**(6 Pt 1): E1080-1088.

Carayannopoulos, M. O., Chi, M. M., cui, Y., Pingstrehaus, J. M., McKnight, R. A., Mueckler, M., Devaskar, S. U, and Moley, K. H. (2000). "GLUT8 is a glucose transporter responsible for insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in the blastocyst." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **97**(13): 7313-7318.

Casson, I. F., Clarke, C. A., Howard, C. V., McKendrick, H. O., Pennycook, S., Pharoah, P. O., Platt, M. J., Stanisstreet, M., van Velszen, D. and Walkinshaw, S. (1997). "Outcomes of pregnancy in insulin dependent diabetic women: results of a five year population cohort study." <u>BMJ</u> **315**(7103): 275-278.

Cebral, E., Carrasco, I., Vantman, D. and Smith, R. (2007). "Preimplantation embryotoxicity after mouse embryo exposition to reactive oxygen species". <u>Biocell</u> **31**(1):51-59.

Cetica, P., Pintos, L., Dalvit, G and Beconi, M. (2002). "Activity of key enzymes involved in glucose and triglyceride catabolism during bovine oocyte maturation in vitro." <u>Reproduction</u> **124**(5): 675-681.

Champattanachai, V., Marchase, R. B. and Chatham, J. C. (2007). "Glucosamine protects neonatal cardiomyocytes from ischemia-reperfusion injury via increased protein-associated O-GlcNAc." <u>Am J Physiol Cell Physiol</u> **292**(1): C178-187.

Champattanachai, V., Marchase, R. B. and Chatham, J. C. (2008). "Glucosamine protects neonatal cardiomyocytes from ischemia-reperfusion injury via increased protein O-GlcNAc and increased mitochondrial Bcl-2." <u>Am J Physiol Cell Physiol</u> **294**(6): C1509-1520.

Chang, A. S., Dale, A. N and Moley, K. H. (2005). "Maternal diabetes adversely affects preovulatory oocyte maturation, development, and granulosa cell apoptosis." <u>Endocrinology</u> **146**(5): 2445-2453 (b).

Chang, H. C., Liu, H., Zhang, J., Grifo, J and Krey, L. C. (2005). "Developmental incompetency of denuded mouse oocytes undergoing maturation in vitro is ooplasmic in nature and is associated with aberrant Oct-4 expression." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **20**(7): 1958-1968 (a).

Chatot, C. L., Lewis-Williams, J., Torres, I. and Ziomek, C. A. (1994). "One-minute exposure of 4-cell mouse embryos to glucose overcomes morula block in CZB medium." <u>Molecular</u> <u>Reproduction and Development</u> **37**(4): 407–412.

Chen, H., Ing, B. L., Robinson, K. A., Feagin, A. C., Buse, M. G. and Quon, M. J. (1997). "Effects of overexpression of glutamine:fructose-6-phosphate amidotransferase (GFAT) and glucosamine treatment on translocation of GLUT4 in rat adipose cells." <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol</u> **135**(1): 67-77.

Chen, G., Liu, P., Thurmond, D. C. and Elmendorf, J. S. (2003). "Glucosamine-induced insulin resistance is coupled to O-linked glycosylation of Mun18c". <u>FEBS Lett</u> **534**(1): 54-60.

Chen, L., Russell, P. T. and Larsen, W. J. (1993). "Functional significance of cumulus expansion in the mouse: roles for the preovulatory synthesis of hyaluronic acid within the cumulus mass." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **34**(1): 87-93.

Chen, L., Wert, S. E., Hendrix, E. M., Russell, P. T., Cannon, M. and Larsen, W. J. (1990). "Hyaluronic acid synthesis and gap junction endocytosis are necessary for normal expansion of the cumulus mass." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **26**(3): 236-247. Chesnel, F., Wigglesworth, K and Eppig, J. J. (1994). "Acquisition of meiotic competence by denuded mouse oocytes: participation of somatic-cell product(s) and cAMP." <u>Dev Biol</u> **161**(1): 285-295.

Cheung, N. W. and Byth, K. (2003). "Population health significance of gestational diabetes." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **26**(7): 2005-2009.

Chi, M. M., Pingsterhaus, J., Carayannopoulos, M. and Moley, K. H. (2000). "Decreased glucose transporter expression triggers BAX-dependent apoptosis in the murine blastocyst." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **275**(51): 40252-40257.

Chieri, R. A., Pivetta, O. H. and Foglia, V. G. (1969). "Altered ovulation pattern in experimental diabetes." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **20**(4): 661-666.

Cho, N. H., Silverman, B. L., Rizzo, T. A. and Metzger, B. E. (2000). "Correlations between the intrauterine metabolic environment and blood pressure in adolescent offspring of diabetic mothers." <u>J Pediatr</u> **136**(5): 587-592.

Chung, C. S. and Myrianthopoulos, N. C. (1975). "Factors affecting risks of congenital malformations. I.Analysis of epidemiologic factors in congenital malformations. Report from the Collaborative Perinatal Project." <u>Birth Defects Orig Artic Ser</u> **11**(10): 1-22.

Ciaraldi, T. P., Carter, L., Nikoulina, S., Mudaliar, S., McClain, D. A. and Henry, R. R. (1999). "Glucosamine regulation of glucose metabolism in cultured human skeletal muscle cells: divergent effects on glucose transport/ phosphorylation and glycogen synthase in nondiabetic and type 2 diabetic subjects". <u>Endocrinol</u> **140**(9): 3971-3980.

Clausen, T. D., Mathiesen, E. R., Hansen, T., Pedersen, O., Jensen, D. M., Lauenborg, J. and Damm, P. (2008). "High prevalence of type 2 diabetes and pre-diabetes in adult offspring of women with gestational diabetes mellitus or type 1 diabetes: the role of intrauterine hyperglycemia." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **31**(2): 340-346.

Cockroft, D. L. and Coppola, P. T. (1977). "Teratogenic effects of excess glucose on headfold rat embryos in culture." <u>Teratology</u> **16**: 141-146.

Cohlan, S. Q. (1953). "Excessive intake of vitamin A as a cause of congenital anomalies in the rat." <u>Science</u> **117**(3046): 535-536(a).

Cohlan, S. Q. (1953). "Excessive intake of vitamin A during pregnancy as a cause of congenital anomalies in the rat." <u>AMA Am J Dis Child</u> **86**(3): 348-349(b).

Cohlan, S. Q. (1954). "Congenital anomalies in the rat produced by excessive intake of vitamin A during pregnancy." <u>Pediatrics</u> **13**(6): 556-567.

Colton, S. A. and Downs, S. M. (2004). "Potential role for the sorbitol pathway in the meiotic dysfunction exhibited by oocytes from diabetic mice." <u>J Exp Zoolog A Comp Exp Biol</u> **301**(5): 439-448.

Colton, S. A., Humpherson, P. G., Leese, H. J and Downs, S. M. (2003). "Physiological changes in oocyte-cumulus cell complexes from diabetic mice that potentially influence meiotic regulation." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **69**(3): 761-770.

Colton, S. A., Pieper, G. M. and Downs, S. M. (2002). "Altered meiotic regulation in oocytes from diabetic mice." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **67**(1): 220-231.

Considine, R. V., Cooksey, R. C., Williams, L. B., Fawcett, R. L., Zhang, P., Ambrosius, W. T., Whitfield, R. M., Jones, R., Inman, M., Huse, J. and McClain, D. A. (2000). "Hexosamines regulate leptin production in human subcutaneous adipocytes." <u>J Clin</u> <u>Endocrinol Metab</u> **85**(10): 3551-3556.

Coulson, R. A. and T. Hernandez (1962). "Hyperglycemic effect of glucosamine." <u>Am J</u> <u>Physiol</u> **203**: 243-247.

Dabelea, D., Hanson, R. L., Lindsay, R. S., Pettitt, D. J., Imperatore, G., Gabir, M. M., Roumain, J., Bennett, P.H. and Knowler, W. C. (2000). "Intrauterine exposure to diabetes conveys risks for type 2 diabetes and obesity: a study of discordant sibships." <u>Diabetes</u> **49**(12): 2208-2211(a).

Dabelea, D., Knowler, W. C. and Pettitt, D. J. (2000). "Effect of diabetes in pregnancy on offspring: follow-up research in the Pima Indians." <u>J Matern Fetal Med</u> **9**(1): 83-88(b).

Dabelea, D., Mayer-Davis, E. J., Lamichhane, A. P., D'Agostino, R. B. (Jr)., Liese, A. D., Vehik, K. S., Narayan, K. M., Zietler, P. and Hamman, R. F. (2008). "Association of intrauterine exposure to maternal diabetes and obesity with type 2 diabetes in youth: the SEARCH Case-Control Study." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **31**(7): 1422-1426.

Dan-Goor, M., Sasson, S., Davarashvili, A. and Almagor, M. (1997). "Expression of glucose transporter and glucose uptake in human oocytes and preimplantation embryos." <u>Hum</u> <u>Reprod</u> **12**(11): 2508-2510.

de Oliveira, A. T., Lopes, R. F. and Rodrigues, J. L. (2005). "Gene expression and developmental competence of bovine embryos produced in vitro under varying embryo density conditions." <u>Theriogenology</u> **64**(7): 1559-1572.

Deerochanawong, C., Putiyanun, C., Wongsuryrat, M., Serirat, S, Jinayon, P. (1996). "Comparison of National Diabetes Data Group and World Health Organization criteria for detecting gestational diabetes mellitus." <u>Diabetologia</u> **39**(9): 1070-1073.

Diamond, M. P., Moley, K. H., Pellicer, A., Vaughn, W. K. and DeCherney, A. H. (1989). "Effects of streptozotocin- and alloxan-induced diabetes mellitus on mouse follicular and early embryo development." <u>J Reprod Fertil</u> **86**(1): 1-10.

Didock, K., Jackson, D. & Robson, J. M. (1956). "The action of some nucleotoxic substances on pregnancy." *Brit. J. Pharmacol* **11**(4): 437-441.

Doege, H., Schürmann, A., Bahrenberg. G., Brauers, A. & Joost, H-G. (2000). "Glut 8, a novel member of the sugar transport facilitator family with glucose transport activity." <u>JBC</u> **275**(21): 16275-16280.

Donahue, R. P. and Stern, S. (1968). "Follicular cell support of oocyte maturation: production of pyruvate in vitro." <u>J Reprod Fertil</u> **17**(2): 395-398.

Downs, S. M. (1994). "Induction of meiotic maturation in vivo in the mouse by IMP dehydrogenase inhibitors: effects on the developmental capacity of ova." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **38**(3): 293-302.

Downs, S. M. (1997). "Involvement of purine nucleotide synthetic pathways in gonadotropininduced meiotic maturation in mouse cumulus cell-enclosed oocytes." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **46**(2): 155-167.

Downs, S. M. (2000). "Adenosine blocks hormone-induced meiotic maturation by suppressing purine de novo synthesis." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **56**(2): 172-179.

Downs, S. M., Daniel, S. A., Bornslaeger, E. A., Hoppe, P. C. and Eppig, J. J. (1989). "Maintenance of meiotic arrest in mouse oocytes by purines: modulation of cAMP levels and cAMP phosphodiesterase activity." <u>Gamete Res</u> **23**(3): 323-334.

Downs, S. M., Humpherson, P. G and Leese, H. J. (1998). "Meiotic induction in cumulus cell-enclosed mouse oocytes: involvement of the pentose phosphate pathway." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **58**(4): 1084-1094.

Downs, S. M., Humpherson, P. G., Martin, K. L. and Leese, H. J. (1996). "Glucose utilization during gonadotropin-induced meiotic maturation in cumulus cell-enclosed mouse oocytes." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **44**(1): 121-131.

Downs, S. M. and Utecht , A. M. (1999). "Metabolism of radiolabeled glucose by mouse oocytes and oocyte-cumulus cell complexes." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **60**(6): 1446-1452.

Drovanti, A., Bignamini, A. A. and Rovati, A. L. (1980). "Therapeutic activity of oral glucosamine sulfate in osteoarthrosis: a placebo-controlled double-blind investigation." <u>Clin</u> <u>Ther</u> **3**(4): 260-272.

Du, X. L., Edelstein, D., Rossetti, L., Fantus, I. G., Goldberg, H., Ziyadeh, F., Wu, J. and Brownlee, M. (2000). "Hyperglycemia-induced mitochondrial superoxide overproduction activates the hexosamine pathway and induces plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 expression by increasing Sp1 glycosylation." <u>PNAS U S A</u> **97**(22): 12222-12226.

Dunne, F., Brydon, P., Smith, K. and Gee, H. (2003). "Pregnancy in women with Type 2 diabetes: 12 years outcome data 1990-2002." <u>Diabet Med</u> **20**(9): 734-738.

Dunning, K. R., Lane, M., Brown, H. M., Yeo, C., Robker, R. L. and Russell, D. L. (2007). "Altered composition of the cumulus-oocyte complex matrix during in vitro maturation of oocytes." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **22(**11): 2842-2850.

Dunstan, D., Zimmett, P., Welborn, T., Sicree, R, Armstrong, T., Atkins, R., Cameron, A., Shaw, J. and Chadban, S. (2001) "Diabesity and associated disorders in Australia – 2000: the accelerating epidemic". The Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study (AusDiab), 1-46.

Echard, B. W., Talpur, N. A., Funk, K. A., Bagchi, D. and Preuss, H. G. (2001). "Effects of oral glucosamine and chondroitin sulphate alone and in combination on the metabolism of SHR and SD rats". <u>Mol Cell Biochem</u> **225**(1): 85-91.

Einstein, F. H., Fishman, S., Bauman, J., Thompson, R. F., Huffman, D. M., Atzmon, G., Barzilai, N. and Muzumdar, R. H. (2008). "Enhanced activation of a "nutrient-sensing" pathway with age contributes to insulin resistance". <u>FASEB J</u> **22**(10): 3450-3457.

Enright, B. P., Lonergan, P., Dinnyes, A., Fair, T., Ward, F. A., Yang, X. and Boland, M. P. (2000). "Culture of in vitro produced bovine zygotes in vitro vs in vivo: implications for early embryo development and quality." <u>Theriogenology</u> **54**(5): 659-673.

Eppig, J. J. (1979). "FSH stimulates hyaluronic acid synthesis by oocyte-cumulus cell complexes from mouse preovulatory follicles." <u>Nature</u> **11**(281): 483-484.

Eppig, J. J., Chesnel, F., Hirao, Y., O'Brien, M. J., Pendola, F. L., Watanabe, S. and Wigglesworth, K. (1997). "Oocyte control of granulose cell development: how and why". <u>Hum</u> <u>Reprod</u> **12**(11): 127-132.

Ericsson, A., Säljö, K., Sjöstrand, E., Jansson, N., Prasad, P. D., Powell, T. L. and Jansson, T. (2007). "Brief hyperglycaemia in the early pregnant rat increases fetal weight at

term by stimulating placental growth and affecting placental nutrient transport." <u>J Physiol</u> **15** (Pt 3): 1323-32.

Ertunc, D., Tok, E., dilek, U., Pata, O. and Dilek, S. (2004). "The effect of carbohydrate intolerance on neonatal birth weight in pregnant women without gestational diabetes mellitus." <u>Ann Saudi Med</u> **24**(4): 280-283.

Favetta, L. A., St John, E. J., King, W. A. and Betts, D. H. (2007). "High levels of p66shc and intracellular ROS in permanently arrested embryos". <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **42**(8): 1201-1210.

Federici, M., Menghini, R., Mauriello, A., Hribal, M. L., Ferrelli, F., Lauro, D., Sbraccia, P., Spagnoli, L. G., Sesti, G and Lauro, R. (2002). "Insulin-dependent activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase is impaired by O-linked glycosylation modification of signaling proteins in human coronary endothelial cells." <u>Circulation</u> **106**(4): 466-472.

Ferrara, A., Hedderson, M. M., Quesenberry, C. P. and Selby, J. V. (2002). "Prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus detected by the national diabetes data group or the carpenter and coustan plasma glucose thresholds." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **25**(9): 1625-1630.

Ferrara, A., Weiss, N. S., Heddersen, M. M., Quesenberry, C. P. (Jr), Selby, J. V., Ergas, I. J., Peng, T., Escobar, G. J., Pettitt, D. J. and Sacks, D. A. (2007). "Pregnancy plasma glucose levels exceeding the American Diabetes Association thresholds, but below the National Diabetes Data Group thresholds for gestational diabetes mellitus, are related to the risk of neonatal macrosomia, hypoglycaemia and hyperbilirubinaemia." <u>Diabetologia</u> **50**(2): 298-306.

Filippis, A., Clark, S. and Proietto, J. (1997). "Increased flux through the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway inhibits glucose transport acutely by activation of protein kinase C." <u>Biochem J</u> **324 (Pt 3)**: 981-985.

Filippis, C., Filippis, A., Clark, S. and Proietto, J. (2002). "Activation of PI 3-kinase by the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway". <u>Mol Cell Endocrinol</u> **194**(1-2): 29-37.

Finkel, R. S. and Zarlengo, K. M. (2004). "Blue cohosh and perinatal stroke." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **351**(3): 302-303.

Flechon, J. E., Degrouard, J., Kopecny, V., Pivko, J., Pavlok, A. and Motlik, J. (2003). "The extracellular matrix of porcine mature oocytes: origin, composition and presumptive roles." <u>Reprod Biol Endocrinol</u> **14**(1): 124-137.

Fowler, R. E. (1988). "An autoradiographic study of gonadotrophin regulation of labelled glycoconjugates within preovulatory mouse follicles during the final stages of oocyte maturation, using [3H]glucosamine as the radioactive precursor." <u>J Reprod Fertil</u> **83**(2): 759-772.

Fowler, R. E. and Barratt, E. (1989). "The uptake of [3H] glucosamine-labelled glycoconjugates into the perivitelline space of preimplantation mouse embryos." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **4**(7): 821-825.

Fowler, R. E. and Guttridge, K. (1987). "An autoradiographic study using [3H]glucosamine of gonadotrophin regulation of proteoglycan and glycoprotein synthesis in developing mouse follicles." <u>J Reprod Fertil</u> **81**(2): 415-426.

Franks, S., Robinson, S. and Willis, D. S. (1996). "Nutrition, insulin and polycystic ovary syndrome." <u>Rev Reprod</u> **1**(1): 47-53.

Friede, A., Baldwin, W., Rhodes, P. H., Buehler, J. W. and Strauss, L. T. (1988). "Older maternal age and infant mortality in the United States." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **72**(2): 152-157.

Friedman, W. F. and Roberts, W. C. (1966). "Vitamin D and the supravalvar aortic stenosis syndrome. The transplacental effects of vitamin D on the aorta of the rabbit." <u>Circulation</u> **34**(1): 77-86.

Fukumoto, H., Seino, S., Imura, H., Seino, Y., Eddy, R. L., Fukushima, Y., Byers, M. G., Shows, T. B. & Bell, G. I. (1988). "Sequence, tissue distribution, and chromosomal localization of mRNA encoding a human glucose transporter-like protein." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci</u> <u>USA</u> **85**(15): 5434–5438.

Fülöp, C., Salustri, A. & Hascall, V. C. (1997). "Coding sequence of a hyaluronin synthase homologue expressed during expansion of the mouse cumulus-oocyte complex." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> **337**(2): 261-266.

Fulop, N., Mason, M. M., Dutta, K., Wang, P., Davidoff, A. J., Marchase, R. B and Chatham,
J. C. (2007). "Impact of Type 2 diabetes and aging on cardiomyocyte function and O-linked
N-acetylglucosamine levels in the heart." <u>Am J Physiol Cell Physiol</u> **292**(4): C1370-1378.

Gabbay, K. H. (1973). "The sorbitol pathway and the complications of diabetes." <u>NEJM</u> **288**(16): 831-836.

Gadsby, R., Barnie-Adshead, A. M. and Jagger, C. (1993). "A prospective study of nausea and vomiting during pregnancy." <u>Br J Gen Prac</u> **43**(371): 245-248.

Gaffney, L. and Smith, C. A. (2004). "Use of complementary therapies in pregnancy: The perceptions of obstetricians and midwives in South Australia." <u>Australian and New Zealand</u> <u>Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology</u> **44**(1): 24-29.

Ganzera, M., Dharmaratne, H. R., Nanayakkara, N. P. and Khan, I. A. (2003). "Determination of saponins and alkaloids in Caulophyllum thalictroides (blue cohosh) by high-performance liquid chromatography and evaporative light scattering detection." <u>Phytochem Anal</u> **14**(1): 1-7.

Gardiner, P., Graham, R. E., Legedza, A. T., Eisenberg, D. M. and Phillips, R. S. (2006). "Factors associated with dietary supplement use among prescription medication users." <u>Arch</u> <u>Intern Med</u> **166**(18): 1968-1974.

Giaccari, A., Morviducci, L., Zorretta, D., Sbraccia, P., Leonetti, F., Caiola, A., Buongiorno, R. C., Bonadonna, R. C. and Tamurrano, G. (1995). "In vivo effects of glucosamine on insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity in the rat: possible relevance to the maladaptive responses to chronic hyperglycaemia." <u>Diabetologia</u> **38**(5): 518-524.

Gilchrist, R. B., Lane, M. and Thompson, J. G. (2008). "Oocyte- secreted factors: regulators of cumulus cell function and oocyte quality". <u>Hum Reprod Update</u> **14**(2): 159-177.

Gillman, M. W., Rifas-Shiman, S., Berkey, C. S., Field, A. E. and Colditz, G. A. (2003). "Maternal gestational diabetes, birth weight, and adolescent obesity." <u>Pediatrics</u> **111**(3): e221-226.

Gokcel, A., Bagis, T., Killicadag, E. B., Tarim, E. and Guvener, N. (2002). "Comparison of the criteria forgestational diabetes mellitus by NDDG and Carpenter and Coustan, and the outcomes of pregnancy." <u>J Endocrinol Invest</u> **25**(4): 357-361.

Goldberg, H. J., Whiteside, C. I., Hart, G. W. and Fantus, I. G. (2006). "Posttranslational, Reversible O-Glycosylation Is Stimulated by High Glucose and Mediates Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 Gene Expression and Sp1 Transcriptional Activity in Glomerular Mesangial Cells." <u>Endocrinol</u> **147**(1): 222-231.

Goto, Y., Noda, Y., Mori, T. and Nakano, M. (1993). "Increased generation of reactive oxygen species in embryos cultured in vitro". <u>Free Radic Biol Med</u> **15**(1): 69-75.

Gould, G. W., Thomas, H. M., Jess, T. J. & Bell, G. I.(1991). "Expression of human glucose transporters in Xenopus oocytes: kinetic characterisation and substrate specificities of the erythrocyte, liver, and brain isoforms." <u>Biochem</u> **30**(21): 5139-5145.

Gunn, T. R. and Wright, I. M. (1996). "The use of black and blue cohosh in labour." <u>N Z Med</u> J **109**(1032): 410-411.

Gutnisky, C., Dalvit, G. C., Pintos, L. N., Thompson, J. G., Beconi, M. T and Cetica, D. (2007). "Influence of hyaluronic acid synthesis and cumulus mucification on bovine oocyte in vitro maturation, fertilisation and embryo development." <u>Reprod Fertil Dev</u> **19**(3): 488-497.

Hammond, J., Jr. (1949). "Recovery and culture of tubal mouse ova." <u>Nature</u> **163**(4131): 28-29.

Han, O. H., Chen, M. M. and Holloszy, J. O. (2003). "Glucosamine and glucose induce insulin resistance by different mechanisms in rat skeletal muscle". <u>Am J Physiol Endocrinol</u> <u>Metab</u> **285**(6): 1267-1272.

Han, I., Oh, E. S. and Kudlow, J. E. (2000). "Responsiveness of the state of O-linked N-acetylglucosamine modification of nuclear pore protein p62 to the extracellular glucose concentration." <u>Biochem J</u> **350 Pt 1**: 109-114.

Han, J., Xu, J., Epstein, P. N. and Liu, Y. Q. (2005). "Long-term effect of maternal obesity on pancreatic beta cells of offspring: reduced beta cell adaptation to high glucose and high-fat diet challenges in adult female mouse offspring." <u>Diabetologia</u> **48**(9): 1810-1818.

Hansen, J. P. (1986). "Older maternal age and pregnancy outcome: a review of the literature." <u>Obstet Gynecol Surv</u> **41**(11): 726-742.

Hanson, U., Persson, B. and Thunell, S. (1990). "Relationship between haemoglobin A1C in early type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetic pregnancy and the occurrence of spontaneous abortion and fetal malformation in Sweden." <u>Diabetologia</u> **33**(2): 100-104.

Harris, S. E., Adriaens, I., Leese, H. J., Gosden, R. G. and Picton, H. M. (2007). "Carbohydrate metabolism by murine ovarian follicles and oocytes grown in vitro." <u>Reproduction</u> **134**(3): 415-424.

Harris, M. I., Flegal, K. M., cowie, C. C., Eberhardt, M. S., Goldstein, D. E., Little, R. R., Wiedmeyer, H. M. and Byrd-Holt, D. D. (1998). "Prevalence of diabetes, impaired fasting glucose, and impaired glucose tolerance in U.S. adults. The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **21**(4): 518-524.

Harris, S. E., Gopichandran, N., Picton, H. M., Leese, H. J. and Orsi, N. M. (2005). "Nutrient concentrations in murine follicular fluid and the female reproductive tract." <u>Theriogenology</u> **64**(4): 992-1006.

Harvey, A. J., Kind, K. L., Pantaleon, M., Armstrong, D. T. and Thompson, J. G. (2004). "Oxygen-regulated gene expression in bovine blastocysts." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **71**(4):1108-1119.

Hashimoto, S., Minami, N., Yamada, M. and Imal, H. (2000). "Excessive concentrations of glucose during in vitro maturation impairs the developmental competence of bovine oocytes

after in vitro fertilization: relevance to intracellular reactive oxygen species and glutathione contents". <u>Mol Reprod Dev 56(4)</u>: 520-526.

Hawkins, M., Barzilal, N., Chen, W., Angelov, I., Hu, M., Cohen, P. and Rossetti, L. (1996). "Increased hexosamine availability similarly impairs the action of insulin and IGF-1 on glucose disposal". <u>Diabetes</u> **45**(12): 1734-1743.

Hawkins, M., Barzilai, N., Liu, r., Hu, M., Chen, W. and Rossetti, L. (1997). "Role of the glucosamine pathway in fat-induced insulin resistance." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **99**(9): 2173-2182.

Hawthorne, G., Robson,S., Ryall, E. A., Sen, D., Roberts, S. H. and Ward Platt, M. P. (1997). "Prospective population based survey of outcome of pregnancy in diabetic women: results of the Northern Diabetic Pregnancy Audit, 1994." <u>BMJ</u> **315**(7103): 279-281.

Heart, E., Choi, W. S. and Sung, C. K. (2000). "Glucosamine-induced insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes". Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab **278**(1): E103-E112.

Heart, E. and Sung, C. K. (2002). "Glucose transport by osmotic shock and vandate is impaired by glucosamine". Biochem Biophys Res Comm **292**(2): 308-311.

Hedderson, M. M., Ferrara, A. and Sacks, D. A. (2003). "Gestational diabetes mellitus and lesser degrees of pregnancy hyperglycemia: association with increased risk of spontaneous preterm birth." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **102**(4): 850-856.

Herberg, L. and Kley, H. K. (1975). "Adrenal function and the effect of a high-fat diet on C57BL/6J and C57BL/6J-ob/ob mice." <u>Horm Metab Res</u> **7**(5): 410-415.

Herrick, J. R., Brad, A. M and Krisher, R. L. (2006). "Chemical manipulation of glucose metabolism in porcine oocytes: effects on nuclear and cytoplasmic maturation in vitro." <u>Reproduction</u> **131**(2): 289-298.

Hillier, T. A., Pedula, K. L., Schmidt, M. M., Mullen, J. A., Charles, M. A. and Pettitt, D. J. (2007). "Childhood obesity and metabolic imprinting: the ongoing effects of maternal hyperglycemia." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **30**(9): 2287-2292.

Hogan, A., Heyner, S., Charron, M. J., Copeland, N. G., Gilbert, D. J., Jenkins, N. A., Thorens, B. and Schultz, G. A. (1991). "Glucose transporter gene expression in early mouse embryos." <u>Development</u> **113**(1):363-372.

Hollyer, T., Boon, H., Georgousis, A., Smith, M. and Einarson, A. (2002). "The use of CAM by women suffering from nausea and vomiting during pregnancy." <u>BMC Complement Altern</u> <u>Med</u> 2: 5-11.

Holmang, A., Nilsson, C., Niklasson, M., Larsson, B. M. and Lonroth, P. (1999). "Induction of insulin resistance by glucosamine reduces blood flow but not interstitial levels of either glucose or insulin." <u>Diabetes</u> **48**(1): 106-111.

Hopman, W. M., Towheed, T. E., Gao, Y., Berger, C., Joseph, L., Vik, S. A., Hanley, D. A., Carran, J. and Anastassiades, T. (2006). "Prevalence of and factors associated with glucosamine use in Canada." <u>Osteoarthritis Cartilage</u> **14**(12): 1288-1293.

Horal, M., Zhang, Z., Stanton, R., Virkamaki, A. and Loeken, M. R. (2004). "Activation of the hexosamine pathway causes oxidative stress and abnormal embryo gene expression: involvement in diabetic teratogenesis." <u>Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol</u> **70**(8): 519-527.

Hresko, R. C., Heimberg, H., Chi, M. M-Y. and Mueckler, M. (1998). "Glucosamine-induced insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes is caused by depletion of intracellular ATP". <u>J Biol</u> <u>Chem</u> **273**(32): 20658-20668.

Hull, S. R. and Carraway, K. L. (1988). "Mechanism of expression of Thomsen-Friedenreich (T) antigen at the cell surface of a mammary adenocarcinoma." <u>FASEB J</u> **2**(8): 2380-2384.

Iwata, H., Akamatsu, S., Minami, N. and Yamada, M. (1998). "Effects of antioxidants on the development of bovine IVM/IVF embryos in various concentrations of glucose." <u>Theriogenology</u> **50**(3): 365-375.
James, D. E., Brown, R., Navarro, J. & Pilch, P.F. (1988). "Insulin-regulatable tissues express a unique insulin-sensitive glucose transport protein". <u>Nature</u> **333**(6169): 183-185.

Jancar, N., Kopitar, A. N., Ihan, A., Virant Klun, I. and Bokal, E. V. (2007). "Effects of apoptosis and reactive oxygen species production in human granulosa cells in oocyte fertilization and blastocyst development". <u>J Assist Reprod Genet</u> **24**(2-3): 91-97.

Jansen, S., Esmaeilpour, T., Pantaleon, M. and Kaye, P. L. (2006). "Glucose affects monocarboxylate cotransporter (MCT) 1 expression during mouse preimplantation development". <u>Reprod</u> **131**(3): 469-479.

Jawerbaum, A., Gonzalez, E. T., Faletti, A., Novaro, V., Vitullo, A. and Gimeno, M. A. (1996). "Altered prostanoid production by cumulus-oocyte complexes in a rat model of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." <u>Prostaglandins</u> **52**(3): 209-219.

Jenkins, J. B., Omori, T., Guan, Z., Vgontzas, A. N., Bixler, E. O. and Fang, J. (2006). "Sleep is increased in mice with obesity induced by high-fat food." <u>Physiol Behav</u> **87**(2): 255-262.

Jensen, D. M., Damm, P., Moelsted-Pedersen, P., Ovesen, P., Westergaard, J. G., Moeller, M. and Beck-Nielsen, H. (2004). "Outcomes in type 1 diabetic pregnancies: a nationwide, population-based study." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **27**(12): 2819-2823.

Jensen, D. M., Damm, P., Sorensen, B., Molsted-Pedersen, L., Westergaard, J. G., Klebe, J. and Beck-Nielsen, H. (2001). "Clinical impact of mild carbohydrate intolerance in pregnancy: a study of 2904 nondiabetic Danish women with risk factors for gestational diabetes mellitus." <u>Am J Obstet Gynecol</u> **185**(2): 413-419.

Johnstone, F. D., Lindsay, R. S. and Steel, J. (2006). "Type 1 diabetes and pregnancy: trends in birth weight over 40 years at a single clinic." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **107**(6): 1297-1302.

Jones, T. K. and Lawson, B. M. (1998). "Profound neonatal congestive heart failure caused by maternal consumption of blue cohosh herbal medication." <u>J Pediatr</u> **132**(3 Pt 1): 550-552.

Jordan, K. M., Sawyer, S., Coakley. P., Smith, H, E., Cooper, C. and Arden. N. K. (2004). "The use of conventional and complementary treatments for knee osteoarthritis in the community." <u>Rheumatology (Oxford)</u> **43**(3): 381-384.

Jorritsma, R., César, M. L., Hermans, J. T., Kruitwagen, C. L., Vos, P.L. & Kruip, T. A. (2004). "Effects of non-esterified fatty acids on bovine granulose cells and developmental potential of oocytes in vitro." <u>Anim Reprod Sci</u> **81**(3): 225-235.

Jovanovic, L., Knopp, R. H., Kim, H., Cefalu, W. T., Zhu, X. D., Lee, Y. J., Simpson, J. L. and Mills, J. L. (2005). "Elevated pregnancy losses at high and low extremes of maternal glucose in early normal and diabetic pregnancy: evidence for a protective adaptation in diabetes." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **28**(5): 1113-1117.

Ju, H., Rumbold, A. R., Willson, K. J. and Crowther, C. A. (2008). "Borderline gestational diabetes mellitus and pregnancy outcomes." <u>BMC Pregnancy Childbirth</u> **8**(1): 31.

Jungheim, E. S., Louden, E. D., Chi, M. M., Frolova, A. I., Riley, J, K. & Moley, K. H. (2011). "Preimplantation exposure of mouse embryos to palmitic acid results in fetal growth restriction followed by catch up growth in offspring." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **85**(4): 678-683(a).

Jungheim, E. S., Macones, G. A., Odem, R. R., Patterson, B. W., Lanzendorf, S. E., Ratts, V. S. & Moley, K. H. (2011). "Association between free fatty acids, cumulus oocyte morphology and ovarian function during in vitro fertilization." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **95**(6): 1970-1974(b).

Jungheim, E. S., Schoeller, E. L., Marquard, K. L., Louden, E. D., Schaffer, J. E. and Moley, K. H. (2010). "Diet-induced obesity model: abnormal oocytes and persistant growth abnormalities in the offspring". <u>Endocrinol</u> **151**(8): 4039-4046.

Kalter, H. (2002). "Of diabetic mothers and their babies." Reprod Toxicol 16(2): 181.

Kaneto, H., Xu, G., song, K. H., Suzuma, K., Bonner-Weir, S., Sharma, A. and Weir, C. (2001). "Activation of the hexosamine pathway leads to deterioration of pancreatic beta-cell function through the induction of oxidative stress." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **276**(33): 31099-31104.

Kanji, M. I., Toews, M. L and Carper, W. R. (1976). "A kinetic study of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **251**(8): 2258-2262.

Karja, N. W. K., Kikuchi, K., Fahrudin, M., Ozawa, M., Somfai, T., Ohnuma, K., Noguchi, J., Kaneko, H. and Nagai, T. (2006). "Development to the blastocyst stage, the oxidative state, and the quality of early developmental stage of porcine embryos cultured in alteration of glucose concentrations in vitro under different oxygen tensions". <u>Reprod Biol Endocrinol</u> **4**: 54-66.

Kaufman, D. W., Kelly, J. P., Rosenberg, L., Anderson, T. E. and Mitchell, A. A. (2002). "Recent patterns of medication use in the ambulatory adult population of the United States: the Slone survey." <u>JAMA</u> **287**(3): 337-344.

Kawanaka, K., Han, D. H., Nolte, L. A., Hansem P. A., Nakatani, A. and Holloszy, J. O. (1999). "Decreased insulin stimulated GLUT 4 translocation in glycogen supercompensated muscles of exercised rats". <u>Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab</u> **276**(5): E907-E912.

Kayano, T., Fukumoto, H., Eddy, R. L., Fan, Y. S., Byers, M. G., Shows, T. B. & Bell, G. I. (1988). "Evidence for a family of human glucose transporter-like proteins. Sequence and gene localization of a protein expressed in fetal skeletal muscle and other tissues." <u>JBC</u> **263**(30): 15245–15248.

Keim, A. L., Chi, M. M. and Moley, K. H. (2001). "Hyperglycemia-induced apoptotic cell death in the mouse blastocyst is dependent on expression of p53." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **60**(2): 214-224.

Khan, I. Y., Taylor, P.D., Dekou, V., Seed, P.T., Lakasing, L., Graham, D., dominiczak, A. F., Hanson, M. A. and Poston, L. (2003). "Gender-linked hypertension in offspring of lard-fed pregnant rats." <u>Hypertension</u> **41**(1): 168-175.

Khatir, H., Anouassi, A. and Tibary, A. (2007). "Effect of follicular size on in vitro developmental competence of oocytes and viability of embryos after transfer in the dromedary (Camelus dromedarius)." <u>Anim Reprod Sci</u> **99**(3-4): 413-420(a).

Khatir, H., Anouassi, A. and Tibary, A. (2007). "Quality and developmental ability of dromedary (Camelus dromedarius) embryos obtained by IVM/IVF, in vivo matured/IVF or in vivo matured/fertilized oocytes." <u>Reprod Domest Anim</u> **42**(3): 263-270 (b).

Kim, Y. B., Zhu, J. S., Zierath, J. R., Shen H. Q., Baron, A. D. and Kahn, B. B. (1999). "Glucosamine infusion in rats rapidly impairs insulin stimulation of phosphoinositol 3-kinase but does not alter activation of Akt/ protein kinase B in skeletal muscle". <u>Diabetes</u> **48**(2): 310-320.

Kimura, K., Iwata, H. and Thompson, J. G. (2008). "The effect of glucosamine concentration on the development and sex ratio of bovine embryos". Anim Reprod Sci **103**(3-4): 228-238.

Kimura, K., Spate, L. D., Green, M. P. and Roberts, R. M. "Effects of D-glucose concentration, D-fructose, and inhibitors of enzymes of the pentose phosphate pathway on the development and sex ratio of bovine blastocysts." (2005). <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> 72(2): 201-7.

Kind, K. L., Collett, R. A., Harvey, A. J. and Thompson, J. G. (2005). "Oxygen-regulated expression of GLUT-1, GLUT-3, and VEGF in the mouse blastocyst." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **70**(1): 37-44.

King, H., Aubert, R. E. and Herman, W. H. (1998). "Global burden of diabetes, 1995-2025: prevalence, numerical estimates, and projections." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **21**(9): 1414-1431.

Kirchick, H. J., Keyes, P. L. and Frye, B. E. (1978). "Etiology of anovulation in the immature alloxan-diabetic rat treated with pregnant mare's serum gonadotropin: absence of the preovulatory luteinizing hormone surge." <u>Endocrinology</u> **102**(6): 1867-1873.

Kitzmiller, J. L., Gavin, L. A., Gin, G. D., Jovanovic-Peterson, L., Main, K. E. and Zigrang, W. D. (1991). "Preconception care of diabetes. Glycemic control prevents congenital anomalies." <u>JAMA</u> **265**(6): 731-736.

Kodaman, P. H. and Behrman, H. R. (1999). "Hormone-regulated and glucose-sensitive transport of dehydroascorbic acid in immature rat granulosa cells." <u>Endocrinology</u> **140**(8): 3659-3665.

Kol, S., Ben-Shlomo, I., Ruutiainen, K., Ando, M., Davies-Hill, T. M., Rohan, R. M., Simpson, I. A. and Adashi, E. Y. (1997). "The midcycle increase in ovarian glucose uptake is associated with enhanced expression of glucose transporter 3. Possible role for interleukin-1, a putative intermediary in the ovulatory process." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **99**(9): 2274-2283.

Kolm-Litty, V., Sauer, U., Nerlich, A., Lehmann, R. and Schleicher, E. D. (1998). "High glucose-induced transforming growth factor beta1 production is mediated by the hexosamine pathway in porcine glomerular mesangial cells." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **101**(1): 160-169.

Konety, B. R., Nangia, A. K., Nguyen, T. S., Thomas, A. and Getzenberg, R. H. (1999). "Effect of prenatal vitamin D (calcitriol) exposure on the growth and development of the prostate." <u>Prostate</u> **41**(3): 181-189.

Konrad, R. J., Liu, K. and Kudlow, J. E. (2000). "A modified method of islet isolation preserves the ability of pancreatic islets to increase protein O-glycosylation in response to glucose and streptozotocin." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> **381**(1): 92-98.

Koranyi, L., Bourey, R. E., James, D., Mueckler, M., Fiedorek, F. T. (Jr). & Permutt, M. A. (1991). "Glucose transporter gene expression in rat brain: Pretranslational changes associated with chronic insulin-induced hypoglycaemia, fasting , and diabetes." <u>Mol Cell Neurosci</u> **2**(3): 244-252.

Kostalova, L., Leskova, L., Kapellerova, A. and Strbak, V. (2001). "Body mass, plasma leptin, glucose, insulin and C-peptide in offspring of diabetic and non-diabetic mothers." <u>Eur J</u> <u>Endocrinol</u> **145**(1): 53-58.

Kralik, S. F., Liu, P., Leffler, B. J. and Elmendorf, J. S. (2002). "Ceramide and glucosamine antagonism of alternate signaling pathways regulating insulin- and osmotic shock-induced glucose transporter 4 translocation." <u>Endocrinology</u> **143**(1): 37-46.

Lane, M., Gardner, D. K. (2004). <u>Preparation of gametes, in vitro maturation, in vitro</u> <u>fertilisation and embryo recovery and transfer.</u> In: 'A Laboratory Guide to the Mammalian Embryo',. (Eds Gardner, D. K., M. Lane, and A. J. Watson.) pp. 24-40. (Oxford University Press: New York).

Lapi, F., Vannacci, A., Moschini, M., Cipollini, F., Morsuillo, M., Gallo, E., Banchelli, G., Cecchi, E., Pirro, M. D., Giovannini, M. G., Caraglia, M. T., Gori, L., Firenzuolli, F. and Mugelli, A. (2008). "Use, Attitudes and Knowledge of Complementary and Alternative Drugs (CADs) Among Pregnant Women: a Preliminary Survey in Tuscany." <u>eCAM</u>: nen031.

Lazzari, G., Wrenzycki, C., Hermann, D., Duchi, R., Kruip, T., Niemann, H. and Galli, C. (2002). "Cellular and molecular deviations in bovine in vitro-produced embryos are related to the large offspring syndrome." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **67**(3): 767-775.

Le Floch, J. P., Escuyer, P., Baudin, E., Baudin, D. and Perlemuter, L. (1990). "Blood glucose area under the curve. Methodological aspects." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **13**(2): 172-175.

Leese, H. J. and Barton, A. M. (1985). "Production of pyruvate by isolated mouse cumulus cells." <u>J Exp Zool</u> **234**(2): 231-236.

Leoni, G. G., Bebbere, D., Succu, S., Berlinguer, F., Mossa, F., Galioto, M., Bogliolo, S. and Naitana, S. (2007). "Relations between relative mRNA abundance and developmental competence of ovine oocytes." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **74**(2): 249-257.

Leppens-Luisier, G., Urner, F. and Sakkas, D. (2001). "Facilitated glucose transporters play a crucial role throughout mouse preimplantation embryo development." <u>Hum Reprod</u> **16**(6): 1229-1236.

Lequarre, A. S., Grisart, B., Moreau, B., Schuurbiers, N., Massip, A. and Dessy, F. (1997). "Glucose metabolism during bovine preimplantation development: analysis of gene expression in single oocytes and embryos." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **48**(2): 216-226.

Leroy, J. L., Vanholder, T., Mateusen, B., Christophe, A., Opsomer, G, de Kruif, A., Genicot, G. & Van Soom, A. (2005). "Non-esterified fatty acids in follicular fluid of dairy cows and their effect on developmental capacity of bovine oocytes in vitro." <u>Reprod</u> 130(4): 485 – 495.

Liu, K., Paterson, A. J., Chin, e. and Kudlow, J. E. (2000). "Glucose stimulates protein modification by O-linked GlcNAc in pancreatic beta cells: linkage of O-linked GlcNAc to beta cell death." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **97**(6): 2820-2825.

Lonergan, P., Gutierrez-Adan, A., Rizos, D., Pintado, B., de la Fuente, J. and Boland, M. P. (2003). "Relative messenger RNA abundance in bovine oocytes collected in vitro or in vivo before and 20 hr after the preovulatory luteinizing hormone surge." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **66**(3): 297-305.

Luciano, A. M., Lodde, V., Beretta, M. S., Colleoni, S., Lauria, A and Modina, S. (2005). "Developmental capability of denuded bovine oocyte in a co-culture system with intact cumulus-oocyte complexes: role of cumulus cells, cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate, and glutathione." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **71**(3): 389-397.

Macintosh, M. C., Fleming, K. M., Bailey, J. A., Doyle, P., Modder, J., Acolet, D., Golightly, S and Miller, A. (2006). "Perinatal mortality and congenital anomalies in babies of women with type 1 or type 2 diabetes in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland: population based study." <u>BMJ</u> **333**(7560): 177 -183.

MacLennan, A. H., Myers, S. P. and Taylor, A. W. (2006). "The continuing use of complementary and alternative medicine in South Australia: costs and beliefs in 2004." <u>Med</u> <u>J Aust</u> 184(1): 27-31.

MacLennan, A. H., Wilson, D. H. Taylor, A. W. (2002). "The Escalating Cost and Prevalence of Alternative Medicine." <u>Preventive Medicine</u> **35**(2): 166-173.

Madsen-Bouterse, S. A., Xu, Y., Petty, H. R. and Romero, R. (2008). "Quantification of O-GlcNAc protein modification in neutrophils by flow cytometry." <u>Cytometry A</u> **73**(7): 667-672.

Magee, M. S., Walden, C. E., Benedetti, T. J. and Knopp, R. H. (1993). "Influence of diagnostic criteria on the incidence of gestational diabetes and perinatal morbidity." <u>JAMA</u> **269**(5): 609-615.

Malcolm, J. C., Lawson, M. L., Gaboury, I., Lough, G. and Keely, E. (2006). "Glucose tolerance of offspring of mother with gestational diabetes mellitus in a low-risk population." <u>Diabet Med</u> **23**(5): 565-570.

Marshall, S., Bacote, V and Traxinger, R. R. (1991). "Discovery of a metabolic pathway mediating glucose-induced desensitization of the glucose transport system. Role of hexosamine biosynthesis in the induction of insulin resistance." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **266**(8): 4706-4712(a).

Marshall, W. and Carpenter, M. W. (2007). "Gestational diabetes, pregnancy hypertension, and late vascular disease." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **30 Suppl 2**: S246-250.

Marshall, S., Garvey, W. T and Traxinger, R. R. (1991). "New insights into the metabolic regulation of insulin action and insulin resistance: role of glucose and amino acids." <u>FASEB J</u> **5**(15): 3031-3036 (b).

Marshall, S., Nadeau, O. and Yamasaki, K. (2004). "Dynamic actions of glucose and glucosamine on hexosamine biosynthesis in isolated adipocytes: differential effects on glucosamine 6-phosphate, UDP-N-acetylglucosamine, and ATP levels." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **279**(34): 35313-35319.

Marshall, S., Nadeau, O and Yamasaki, K. (2005). "Glucosamine-induced activation of glycogen biosynthesis in isolated adipocytes. Evidence for a rapid allosteric control mechanism within the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **280**(12): 11018-11024 (a).

Marshall, S., Yamasaki, K. and Okuyama, R. (2005). "Glucosamine induces rapid desensitization of glucose transport in isolated adipocytes by increasing GlcN-6-P levels." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **329**(3): 1155-1161(b).

Martin, J. M. and G. Bambers (1965). "Insulin secretion in glucosamine-induced hyperglycemia in rats." <u>Am J Physiol</u> **209**(4): 797-802.

Martin, J. A., Hamilton, B. E., Sutton, P. D., Ventura, S. J., Menacker, F. and Munson, M. L. (2003). "Births: final data for 2002." <u>Natl Vital Stat Rep</u> **52**(10): 1-113.

Martin, J. A., Hamilton, B. E., Sutton, P. D., Ventura, S. J., Menacker, F. and Munson, M. L. (2005). "Births: final data for 2003." <u>Natl Vital Stat Rep</u> **54**(2): 1-116.

Martin, M. M. and Hurley, L. S. (1977). "Effect of large amounts of vitamin E during pregnancy and lactation." <u>Am J Clin Nutr</u> **30**(10): 1629-1637.

Marty, N., Dallaporta, M., Foretz, M., Emery, M., Tarussio, D., Bady, I., Binnert, C., Beermann, F. & Thorens, B. (2005). "Regulation of glucagon secretion by glucose transporter type 2 (glut 2) and astrocyte-dependent glucose sensors." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **115**(12): 3545-3553.

Matthews, J. A., Belof, J. L., Acevedo,-Duncan, M. and Potter, R. L. (2007). "Glucosamineinduced increase in Akt phosphorylation corresponds to increased endoplasmic reticulum stress in astroglial cells". <u>Mol Cell Biochem</u> **298**(1-2): 109-123.

McClain, D. A. (2002). "Hexosamines as mediators of nutrient sensing and regulation in diabetes." <u>J Diabetes Complications</u> **16**(1): 72-80.

McElvy, S. S., Miodovnik, M., Rosenn, B., Khoury, J. C., Siddiqi, T., Dignan, P. S. and Tsang, R. C. (2000). "A focused preconceptional and early pregnancy program in women with type 1 diabetes reduces perinatal mortality and malformation rates to general population levels." <u>J Matern Fetal Med</u> **9**(1): 14-20.

Messier, C., Whately, K., Liang, J., Du, L. and Puissant, D. (2007). "The effects of a high-fat, high-fructose, and combination diet on learning, weight, and glucose regulation in C57BL/6 mice." <u>Behav Brain Res</u> **178**(1): 139-145.

Miki, T., Sakaue, M. and Kasuya, M. (2002). "In vivo administration of glucosamine inhibited phosphotidylinositol 3-kinase activity without affecting tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor or insulin receptor substrate in rat adipocytes". <u>Kobe J Med Sci</u> **48**(3-4): 105-114.

Miles, P. D. G., Higo, K. and Olefsky, J. M. (2001). "Exercise-Stimulated Glucose Turnover in the Rat Is Impaired by Glucosamine Infusion." <u>Diabetes</u> **50**(1): 139-142.

Miles, P. D., Higo, K., Romeo, d. M., Lee, M. K., Rafaat, K. and Olefsky, J. M. (1998). "Troglitazone prevents hyperglycemia induced but not glucosamine induced insulin resistance". <u>Diabetes</u> **47**(3): 395-400.

Miletic, T., Aberle, N., Mikulandra, F., Karelovic, D., Zakani, Z., Banovic, I., Tadin, I., Perisa, M., Ognjenovic, M. and Tadic, C. (2002). "Perinatal outcome of pregnancies in women aged 40 and over." <u>Coll Antropol</u> **26**(1): 251-258.

Miller, E., J. Hare, W., Cloherty, J. P., Dunn, P. J., Gleason, R. E., Soeldner, J. S. and Kitzmiller, J. L. (1981). "Elevated maternal hemoglobin A1c in early pregnancy and major congenital anomalies in infants of diabetic mothers." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **304**(22): 1331-1334.

Minge, C. E., Bennett, B. D., Norman, R. J. and Robker, R. L. (2008). "Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist rosiglitazone reverses the adverse effects of diet-induced obesity on oocyte quality." <u>Endocrinology</u> **149**(5): 2646-2656.

Mokdad, A. H., Ford, E. S., Bowman, B. A., Dietz, W. H., Vinicor, F., Bales, V. S. and Marks, J. S. (2003). "Prevalence of obesity, diabetes, and obesity-related health risk factors, 2001." <u>JAMA</u> **289**(1): 76-79.

Moley, K. H., Chi, M. M., Knudson, C. M., Korsmeyer, S. J. and Mueckler, M. M. (1998). "Hyperglycemia induces apoptosis in pre-implantation embryos through cell death effector pathways." <u>Nat Med</u> **4**(12): 1421-1424 (a).

Moley, K. H., Chi, M. M., Manchester, J. K., McDougal, D. B. and Lowry, O. H. (1996). "Alterations of intraembryonic metabolites in preimplantation mouse embryos exposed to elevated concentrations of glucose: a metabolic explanation for the developmental retardation seen in preimplantation embryos from diabetic animals." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **54**(6): 1209-1216. Moley, K. H., Chi, M. M-Y. and Mueckler, M. M. (1998). "Maternal hyperglycemia alters glucose transport and utilization in mouse pre-implantation embryos". <u>Am J Physiol</u> <u>Endocrinol Metab</u> **275** (1): E38-E47 (b).

Moley, K. H., Vaughn, W. K., DeCherney, A. H. and Diamond, M. P. (1991). "Effect of diabetes mellitus on mouse pre-implantation embryo development." <u>J Reprod Fertil</u> **93**(2): 325-332.

Monauni, T., Zenti, M. G., Cretti, A., Daniels, M. C., Targher, G., Caruso, B., Caputo, M., McClain, D., Del Prato, S., giacarri, A., Muggeo, M., Bonora, E. and Bonadonna, R. C. (2000). "Effects of glucosamine infusion on insulin secretion and insulin action in humans." <u>Diabetes</u> **49**(6): 926-935.

Morita, Y., Tsutsumi, O., Hosoya, I., Taketani, Y., Oka, Y. and Kato, T. (1992). "Expression and possible function of glucose transporter protein GLUT1 during preimplantation mouse development from oocytes to blastocysts." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **188**(1): 8-15.

Morton, K. M., Herrmann, D., Sieg, B., Struckmann, C., Maxwell, W. M., Rath, D., Evans, G., Lucas-Hahn, A., Niemann, H. and Wrenzycki, C. (2007). "Altered mRNA expression patterns in bovine blastocysts after fertilisation in vitro using flow-cytometrically sex-sorted sperm." <u>Molecular Reproduction and Development</u> **74**(8): 931-940.

Mueckler, M., Caruso, C., Baldwin, S. A., Panico, M., Morris, H. R,m Allard, W. J., Lienhard, G. E. & Lodish, H. F. (1985). "Sequence and structure of a human glucose transporter." <u>Science</u> **229**(4717): 941-945.

Muniyappa, R., Karne, R. J., Hall, G., Crandon, S. K., Bronstein, J. A., Ver, M. R., Hortin, G. L. and Quon, M. J. (2006). "Oral glucosamine for 6 wekks does nor cause or worsen insulin resistance or endothelial dysfunction in lean or obese subjects". <u>Diabetes</u> **55**(11): 3142-3150.

Munoz-Gutierrez, M., Blache, D., Martin, G. B. and Scaramuzzi, R. J. (2002). "Folliculogenesis and ovarian expression of mRNA encoding aromatase in anoestrous sheep after 5 days of glucose or glucosamine infusion or supplementary lupin feeding." <u>Reproduction</u> **124**(5): 721-731.

Munoz-Gutierrez, M., Blache, D., Martin, G. B. and Scaramuzzi, R. J. (2004). "Ovarian follicular expression of mRNA encoding the type I IGF receptor and IGF-binding protein-2 in sheep following five days of nutritional supplementation with glucose, glucosamine or lupins." <u>Reproduction</u> **128**(6): 747-756.

Murakami, S., Kondo, Y. and Nagate, T. (2000). "Effects of long-term treatment with taurine in mice fed a high-fat diet: improvement in cholesterol metabolism and vascular lipid accumulation by taurine." <u>Adv Exp Med Biol</u> **483**: 177-186.

Naidu, S., Wilkinson, J. M. and Simpson, M. D. (2005). "Attitudes of Australian Pharmacists Toward Complementary and Alternative Medicines." <u>Ann Pharmacother</u> **39**(9): 1456-1461.

Nandi, S., Girish Kumar, V., Manjunathu, B. M., Ramesh, H. S. and Gupta, P. S. (2008). "Follicular fluid concentrations of glucose, lactate and pyruvate in buffalo and sheep, and their effects on cultured oocytes, granulosa and cumulus cells." <u>Theriogenology</u> **69**(2): 186-196.

Nasr-Esfahani, M. H., aitken, J. R. and Johnson, M. H. (1990). "Hydrogen peroxide levels in mouse oocytes and early cleavage stage embryos developed in vitro or in vivo". <u>Development</u> **109**(2): 501-507.

Navarrete Santos, A., Tonack, S., Kirstein, M., Kietz, S. & Fischer, B. (2004). "Two insulinresponsive glucose transporter isoforms and the insulin receptor are developmentally expressed in rabbit preimplantation embryos." <u>Reproduction</u>. **128**(5): 517-526.

Nawrocki, J. F., Kirsten, E. S. and Fisher, R. I. (1988). "Biochemical and structural properties of a Hodgkin's disease-related membrane protein." <u>J Immunol</u> **141**(2): 672-680.

Nelson, R. G., Morgenstern, H. and Bennett, P. H. (1998). "Intrauterine diabetes exposure and the risk of renal disease in diabetic Pima Indians." <u>Diabetes</u> **47**(9): 1489-1493.

Nelson, B. A. Robinson, K. A and Buse, M. G. (2000). "High glucose and glucosamine induce insulin resistance via different mechanisms in 3T3-L1 adipocytes." <u>Diabetes</u> **49**(6): 981-991.

Nelson, B. A., Robinson, K. A. and Buse, M. G. (2002). "Defective Akt activation is associated with glucose- but not glucosamine-induced insulin resistance." <u>Am J Physiol</u> <u>Endocrinol Metab</u> **282**(3): E497-506.

Neves, R. H., Alencar, A. C., Aguila, M. B., Mandarim-de-Lacerda, A. C., Machado-Silva, J. R. and Gomes, D. C. (2006). "Hepatic stereology of Schistosomiasis mansoni infected-mice fed a high-fat diet." <u>Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz</u> **101 Suppl 1**: 253-260.

Nielsen, G. L., Sorensen, H. T., Nielsen, P. H., Sabroe, S. and Olsen, J. (1997). "Glycosylated hemoglobin as predictor of adverse fetal outcome in type 1 diabetic pregnancies." <u>Acta Diabetol</u> **34**(3): 217-222.

Niemann, H. and Wrenzycki, C. (2000). "Alterations of expression of developmentally important genes in preimplantation bovine embryos by in vitro culture conditions: implications for subsequent development." <u>Theriogenology</u> **53**(1): 21-34.

Nishimoto, H., Matsutani, R., Yamamoto, S., Takahashi, T., Hayashi, K. G., Miyamoto, A., Hamano, S. and Tetsuka, M. (2006). "Gene expression of glucose transporter (GLUT) 1, 3 and 4 in bovine follicle and corpus luteum." <u>J Endocrinol</u> **188**(1): 111-119.

Nishio, Y., Warren, C. E., Buczek,-Thomas, J. A., Rulfs, J., Koya, D., Aiello, L. P., Feener, E. P., Miller, T. B. (Jr)., Dennis, J. W. and King, G. L. (1995). "Identification and characterization of a gene regulating enzymatic glycosylation which is induced by diabetes and hyperglycemia specifically in rat cardiac tissue." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **96**(4): 1759-1767.

Noda, Y., Matsumoto, H., Umaoka, Y., Tatsumi, K., Kishi, J. and Mori, T. (1991). "Involvement of superoxide radicals in the mouse 2 cell block". <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **28**(4): 356-360. Nordeng, H. and Havnen, G. C. (2005). "Impact of socio-demographic factors, knowledge and attitude on the use of herbal drugs in pregnancy." <u>Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand</u> **84**(1): 26-33.

Norman, P., Moss, I., Sian, M., Gosling, M. and Powell, Jl. (2002). "Maternal and postnatal vitamin D ingestion influences rat aortic structure, function and elastin content." <u>Cardiovasc</u> <u>Res</u> **55**(2): 369-374.

Nybo Andersen, A. M., Wohlfahrt, J., christens, P., Olsen, J. and Melbye, M. (2000). "Maternal age and fetal loss: population based register linkage study." <u>BMJ</u> **320**(7251): 1708-1712.

Oates, P. J. The Polyol Pathway and diabetic peripheral neuropathy. In: Tomlinson, D. R., editor. *Neurobiology of Diabetic Neuropathy.* Vol 50. London, UK: Academic Press; 2002. pp. 325-392. (International Review of Neurobiology).

Oliveira, A. T., Lopes, R. F. and Rodriques, J. L. (2006). "Gene expression and developmental competence of bovine embryos produced in vitro with different serum concentrations." <u>Reprod Domest Anim</u> **41**(2):129-136.

Orsi, N. M., Gopichandran, N., Leese, H. J., Picton, H. M. and Harris, S. E. (2005). "Fluctuations in bovine ovarian follicular fluid composition throughout the oestrous cycle." <u>Reproduction</u> **129**(2): 219-228.

Palasz, A. T., Brena, P. B., De La Fuente, J. and Gutierrez-Adan, A. (2008). "The effect of different zwitterionic buffers and PBS used for out-of-incubator procedures during standard in vitro embryo production on development, morphology and gene expression of bovine embryos." <u>Theriogenology</u> **70**(9): 1461-1470.

Pantaleon, M., Harvey, M. B., Pascoe, W. S., James, D. E. and Kaye, P. L. (1997). "Glucose transporter GLUT3: ontogeny, targeting, and role in the mouse blastocyst." <u>Proc Natl Acad</u> <u>Sci U S A</u> **94**(8):3795-3800.

Pantaleon, M., Scott, J. and Kaye, P. L. (2008). "Nutrient sensing by the early mouse embryo: Hexosamine biosynthesis and glucose signalling during preimplantation development". <u>Biol Reprod</u> **78**(4): 595-600.

Pantaleon, M., Tan, H. Y., Kafer, G. R. and Kaye, P. L. (2010). "Toxic effects of hyperglycemia are mediated by the hexosamine signalling pathway and O-linked glycosylation in early embryos". <u>Biol Reprod</u> **82**(4): 751-758.

Park, J., Kwon, H. and Kim, Y. (2007). "Proteomic analysis of O-GlcNAc modifications derived from streptozotocin and glucosamine induced beta-cell apoptosis." <u>J Biochem Mol Biol</u> **40**(6): 1058-1068.

Pasquali, R., Patton, L. and Gambineri, A. (2007). "Obesity and infertility." <u>Curr Opin</u> <u>Endocrinol Diabetes Obes</u> **14**(6): 482-487.

"Patterns of medication use in the United States 2005: A report from the Slone Survey."2005.Available:<u>http://www.bu.edu/slone/SloneSurvey/AnnualRpt/SloneSurveyWebR</u> eport2005.pdf. [accessed June 7 2007].

Patti, M. E., Virkamaki, A., Landaker, E. J., Kahn, C. R. and Yki-Jarvinen, H. (1999). "Activation of the hexosamine pathway by glucosamine in vivo induces insulin resistance of early postreceptor insulin signaling events in skeletal muscle." <u>Diabetes</u> **48**(8): 1562-1571.

Pedersen, J. and Molsted-Pedersen, L. M. (1978). "Congenital malformations: the possible role of diabetes care outside pregnancy." <u>Ciba Found Symp</u>(63): 265-271.

Pedersen, M. E., Ozdas, O. B., Farstad, W., Tverdal, A. and Olsaker, I. (2005). "Effects of bovine oviduct epithelial cells, fetal calf serum and bovine serum albumin on gene expression in single bovine embryos produced in the synthetic oviduct fluid culture system." <u>Reprod Fertil Dev</u> **17**(8): 751-757.

Penney, G. C., Mair, G. and Pearson, D. W. (2003). "Outcomes of pregnancies in women with type 1 diabetes in Scotland: a national population-based study." <u>BJOG</u> **110**(3): 315-318.

Persiani, S., Roda, E., Rovati, L. C., Locatelli, M., Giacovelli, G. and Roda, A. (2005). "Glucosamine oral bioavailability and plasma pharmacokinetics after increasing doses of crystalline glucosamine sulfate in man". <u>Osteoarthritis Cartilage</u> **13**(12): 1041-1049.

Pettitt, D. J., Baird, H. R., Aleck, K. A., Bennett, P. H. and Knowler, W. C. (1983). "Excessive obesity in offspring of Pima Indian women with diabetes during pregnancy." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **308**(5): 242-245.

Pettitt, D. J., Knowler, W. c., Bennett, P. H., Aleck, K. A. and Baird, H. R. (1987). "Obesity in offspring of diabetic Pima Indian women despite normal birth weight." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **10**(1): 76-80.

Pettitt, D. J., Nelson, R. G., Saad, M. F., Bennett, P. H. and Knowler, W. C. (1993). "Diabetes and obesity in the offspring of Pima Indian women with diabetes during pregnancy." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **16**(1): 310-314.

Pham, T., Cornea, A., Blick, K. E., Jenkins, A. and Scofield, R. H. (2007). "Oral glucosamine in doses used to treat osteoarthritis worsens insulin resistance." <u>Am J Med Sci</u> **333**(6): 333-339.

Phelan, S. A., Ito, M. and Loeken, M. R. (1997). "Neural tube defects in embryos of diabetic mice: role of the Pax-3 gene and apoptosis." <u>Diabetes</u> **46**(7): 1189-1197.

Pinn, G. and Pallett, L. (2002). "Herbal medicine in pregnancy." <u>Complementary Therapies in</u> <u>Nursing and Midwifery</u> **8**(2): 77-80.

Poston, L., A. Briley, L., Seed, P. T., Kelly, J. F. and Shennan, A. H. (2006). "Vitamin C and vitamin E in pregnant women at risk for pre-eclampsia (VIP trial): randomised placebocontrolled trial." <u>Lancet</u> **367**(9517): 1145-1154.

Pouwels, M. J., Jacobs, J. R., Span, P. N., Lutterman, J. A., Smits, P. and Tack, C. J. (2001). "Short-term glucosamine infusion does not affect insulin sensitivity in humans." J Clin Endocrinol Metab **86**(5): 2099-2103.

Preis, K. A., Seidel, G. Jr. and Gardner, D. K. (2005). "Metabolic markers of developmental competence for in vitro-matured mouse oocytes." <u>Reproduction</u> **130**(4): 475-483.

Preis, K. A., Seidel, G. E. Jr. and Gardner, D. K. (2007). "Reduced oxygen concentration improves the developmental competence of mouse oocytes following in vitro maturation." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **74**(7): 893-903.

Pujalte, J. M., Llavore, E. P. and Yiescupidez, F. R. (1980). "Double blind clinical evaluation of oral glucosamine sulphate in the basic treatment of osteoarthritis". <u>Curr Med Res Opin</u> **7**(2): 110-114.

Pujol, M., Lopez-Bejar, M. and Paramio, M. T. (2004). "Developmental competence of heifer oocytes selected using the brilliant cresyl blue (BCB) test." <u>Theriogenology</u> **61**(4): 735-744.

Ratchford, A. M., Chang, A. S., Chi, M. M., Sheridan, R. and Moley, K. L. (2007). "Maternal diabetes adversely affects AMP-activated protein kinase activity and cellular metabolism in murine oocytes." <u>Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab</u> **293**(5): E1198-1206.

Ratchford, A. M., Esguerra, C. R. and Moley, K. H. (2008). "Decreased oocyte-granulosa cell gap junction communication and connexin expression in a type 1 diabetic mouse model." <u>Mol Endocrinol</u> **22**(12): 2643-2654.

Ratner, R. E. (2007). "Prevention of type 2 diabetes in women with previous gestational diabetes." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **30 Suppl 2**: S242-245.

Reece, E. A. (2008). "Obesity, diabetes, and links to congenital defects: a review of the evidence and recommendations for intervention." <u>J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med</u> **21**(3): 173-180.

Refolo, L. M., Salton, S. R., Anderson, J. P., Mehta, P. and Robakis, N. K. (1989). "Nerve and epidermal growth factors induce the release of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor from PC 12 cell cultures." <u>Biochem Biophys Res Commun</u> **164**(2): 664-670.

Reginster, J. Y., Bruyere, O., Fraikin, G. and Henrotin, Y. (2007). "Current role of glucosamine in the treatment of osteoarthritis." <u>Rheumatology</u> **46**(5): 731-735.

Reginster, J. Y., Derolsy, R., Rovati, L. C., Lee, R. L., Lejeune, E., Bruyere, O., Giacovelli, G., Henrotin, Y., Dacre, J. E. and Gosset, C. (2001). "Long term effects of glucosamine sulfate on osteoarthritis progression: a randomised, placebo-controlled clinical trial". <u>Lancet</u> **357**(9252): 251-256.

Rho, G. J., Kim, B. S. D. S., Son, W. J., Cho, S. R., Kim, J. G., B, M. K. and Choe, S. Y. (2007). "Influence of in vitro oxygen concentrations on preimplantation embryo development, gene expression and production of Hanwoo calves following embryo transfer." <u>Mol Reprod</u> <u>Dev</u> **74**(4): 486-496.

Rief, S., Sinowatz, F., Dtojkovic, M., Einspanier, R., Wolf, E. and Prelle, K. (2002). "Effects of a novel co-culture system on development, metabolism and gene expression of bovine embryos produced in vitro." <u>Reproduction</u> **124**(4): 543-556.

Rieger, C., Poppino, R., Sheridan, R., Moley, K., Mitra, R. and Gottlieb, D. (2007). "Polony analysis of gene expression in ES cells and blastocysts." <u>Nucleic Acids Res</u> 35(22):*e*151.

Rizos, D., Ward, F., Duffy, P., Boland, M. P. and Lonergan, P. (2002). "Consequences of bovine oocyte maturation, fertilization or early embryo development in vitro versus in vivo: implications for blastocyst yield and blastocyst quality." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **61**(2): 234-248.

Rizos, D., Pintado, B., de la Fuente, J., Lonergran, P. and Gutierrez-Adan, A. (2007). "Development and pattern of mRNA relative abundance of bovine embryos cultured in the isolated mouse oviduct in organ culture." <u>Mol Reprod Dev</u> **74**(6): 716-723.

Rizzo, T. A., Silverman, B. L., Metzger, B. E. and Cho, N. H. (1997). "Behavioral adjustment in children of diabetic mothers." <u>Acta Paediatr</u> **86**(9): 969-974.

Roberts, R., latropoulou, A., Ciantar, D., Stark., J., Becker, D. L., Franks, S. and Hardy, K. (2005). "Follicle-stimulating hormone affects metaphase I chromosome alignment and increases aneuploidy in mouse oocytes matured in vitro." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **72**(1): 107-118.

Roberts, R., Stark, J., latropoulou, A., Becker, D. L., Franks, S. and Hardy, K. (2004). "Energy substrate metabolism of mouse cumulus-oocyte complexes: response to folliclestimulating hormone is mediated by the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway and is associated with oocyte maturation." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **71**(1): 199-209.

Robker, R. L., Akinson, L. K., Bennett, B. D., Thrupp, P. N., Cjura, L. R., Russell, D. L., Lane, M. & Norman, R. J. (2009). "Obese women exhibit differences in ovarian metabolites, hormones, and gene expression compared with moderate-weight women." <u>J Clin Endocrinol Metab</u> 94(5): 1533-40.

Robinson, K. A., Sens, D. a. and Buse, M. G. (1993). "Pre-exposure to glucosamine induces insulin resistance of glucose transport and glycogen synthesis in isolated rat skeletal muscles. Study of mechanisms in muscle and in rat-1 fibroblasts overexpressing the human insulin receptor." <u>Diabetes</u> **42**(9): 1333-1346.

Robinson, K. A., Weinstein, M. L., Lindenmayer, G. E. and Buse, M. G. (1995). "Effects of diabetes and hyperglycemia on the hexosamine synthesis pathway in rat muscle and liver." <u>Diabetes</u> **44**(12): 1438-1446.

Rosenn, B., Miodovnik, M., Combs, C. A., Khoury, J. and Siddiqi, T. A. (1991). "Preconception management of insulin-dependent diabetes: improvement of pregnancy outcome." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **77**(6): 846-849.

Rosenn, B., Miodovnik, M., Combs, C. A., Khoury, J. and Siddiqi, T. A. (1994). "Glycemic thresholds for spontaneous abortion and congenital malformations in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." <u>Obstet Gynecol</u> **84**(4): 515-520.

Rossetti, L., Hawkins, M., Chen, W., Gindi, J. and Barzilai, N. (1995). "In vivo glucosamine infusion induces insulin resistance in normoglycemic but not in hyperglycemic conscious rats." <u>J Clin Invest</u> **96**(1): 132-140.

Rothman, K. J., Moore, L. L., Singer, M. R., Nguyen, U. S., Mannino, S. and Milunsky, A. (1995). "Teratogenicity of high vitamin A intake." <u>N Engl J Med</u> **333**(21): 1369-1373.

Rudlowski, C., Moser, M., Becker, A. J., Rath, W., Buttner, R., Schroder, W. and Schurmann, A. (2004). "GLUT1 mRNA and protein expression in ovarian borderline tumors and cancer." <u>Oncology</u> **66**(5): 404-410.

Rumberger, J., Wu, T., Hering, M. A. and Marshall, S. (2003). "Role of hexosamine biosynthesis in glucose-mediated up-regulation of lipogenic enzyme mRNA levels: effects of glucose, glutamine, and glucosamine on glycerophosphate dehydrogenase, fatty acid synthase, and acetyl-CoA carboxylase mRNA levels." J Biol Chem. **278**(31): 28547-28552.

Sagirkaya, H., Misirlioglu, M., Kaya, A., First, N. L. Parrish, J. J. and Memili, E. (2007). "Developmental potential of bovine oocytes cultured in different maturation and culture conditions." <u>Anim Reprod Sci</u> **101**(3-4): 225-240.

Saito, O., Hiroi, M. and Kato, T. (1994). "Development of glucose utilization studied in single oocytes and preimplantation embryos from mice". <u>Biol Reprod</u> **50**(2): 266-270.

Sakal, K. and Clemmons, D. R. (2003). "Glucosamine induces ressitance to insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) and insulin in HepG2 cell cultures: biological significance of IGF-1/ insulin hybrid receptors". <u>Endocrinol</u> **144**(6): 2388-2395.

Sakatani, M., Kobayashi, S. and Takahashi, M. (2004). "Effect of heat shock on in vitro development and intracellular oxidative state of bovine preimplantation embryos". <u>Mol</u> <u>Reprod Dev</u> **67**(1): 17-82.

Sakatani, M., Yamanaka, K., Kobayashi, S. and Takahashi, M. (2008). "Heat shock- derived reactive oxygen species induces embryonic mortality in in vitro early stage bovine embryos". <u>J Reprod Dev</u> **54**(6): 496-501.

Sawitzke, A. D., Shi, H., Finco, M. F., Dunlop, D. D., Bingham, C. O. (3rd)., Harris, C. L., Singer, N. G., Bradley, D. J., Silver, D., Jackson, C. G., Lane, N. E., Oddis, C. V., Wolfe, F., Lisse, J., Furst, D. E., Reda, D. J., Moskowitz, R. W., Williams, H. J. and Clegg, D. O. (2008). "The effect of glucosamine and/or chondroitin sulfate on the progression of knee osteoarthritis: a report from the glucosamine/chondroitin arthritis intervention trial." <u>Arthritis Rheum</u> **58**(10): 3183-3191.

Sayeski, P. P. and J. E. Kudlow (1996). "Glucose Metabolism to Glucosamine Is Necessary for Glucose Stimulation of Transforming Growth Factor-α Gene Transcription." Journal of Biological Chemistry **271**(25): 15237-15243.

Schultz, G. A., Hogan, A., Watson, A. J., Smith, R. M. and Heyner, S. (1992). "Insulin, insulin-like growth factors and glucose transporters: temporal patterns of gene expression in early murine and bovine embryos." <u>Reprod Fertil Dev</u> **4**(4): 361-371.

Scroggie, D. A., Albright, A. and Harris, M. D. (2003). "The effect of glucosamine-chondroitin supplementation on glycosylated hemoglobin levels in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a placebo-controlled, double-blinded, randomized clinical trial". <u>Arch Intern Med</u> **14**(13): 1587-1590.

Setnikar, I., Giachetti, C. and Zanolo, G. (1984). "Absorption, distribution and excretion of radioactivity after a single intravenous or oral administration of [14C] glucosamine to the rat." <u>Pharmatherapeutica</u> **3**(8): 538-550.

Setnikar, I., Giacchetti, C. and Zanolo, G. (1986). "Pharmacokinetics of glucosamine in the dog and in man." <u>Arzneimittelforschung</u> **36**(4): 729-735.

Setnikar, I., Palumbo, R., Canali, S. and Zanolo, G. (1993). "Pharmacokinetics of glucosamine in man." <u>Arzneimittelforschung</u> **43**(10): 1109-1113.

Shand, A. W., Bell, J. C., McElduff, A., Morris, J. and Roberts, C. L. (2008). "Outcomes of pregnancies in women with pre-gestational diabetes mellitus and gestational diabetes mellitus; a population-based study in New South Wales, Australia, 1998-2002." <u>Diabet Med</u> **25**(6): 708-715.

Shankar, R. R., Zhu, J. S. and Baron, A. D. (1998). "Glucosamine infusion in rats mimics the beta-cell dysfunction of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." <u>Metabolism</u> **47**(5): 573-577.

Silverman, B. L., Metzger, B. E., Cho, N. H. and Loeb, C. A. (1995). "Impaired glucose tolerance in adolescent offspring of diabetic mothers. Relationship to fetal hyperinsulinism." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **18**(5): 611-617.

Silverman, B. L., Rizzo, T. A., Cho, N. H. and Metzger, B. E. (1998). "Long-term effects of the intrauterine environment. The Northwestern University Diabetes in Pregnancy Center." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **21 Suppl 2**: B142-149.

Silverman, B. L., Rizzo, T., Green O. C., Cho, N. H., Winters, R. J., Ogato, E. S., Richards, G. E. and Metzger, B. E. (1991). "Long-term prospective evaluation of offspring of diabetic mothers." <u>Diabetes</u> **40 Suppl 2**: 121-125.

Singh, B. & Armstrong, D. T. (1997). "Insulin-like growth factor-1, a component of serum that enables porcine cumulus cells to expand in response to follicle stimulating hormone in vitro." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **56**(6): 1370-1375.

Singh, S. R. and Levine, M. A. (2006). "Natural health product use in Canada: analysis of the National Population Health Survey." <u>Can J Clin Pharmacol</u> **13**(2): e240-250.

Sivojelezova, A., Koren, G. and Einarson, A. (2007). "Glucosamine use in pregnancy: an evaluation of pregnancy outcome." <u>J Womens Health (Larchmt)</u> **16**(3): 345-348.

Skipper, E. (1933). "Diabetes mellitus and pregnancy: A clinical and analytical study (With special observations upon Thirty-three cases." <u>QJM</u> **2**(26):353-380.

Small, M., Cassidy, L., Leiper, J. M., Paterson, K. R., Lunan, C. B. and MacCuish, A. C. (1986). "Outcome of pregnancy in insulin-dependent (type 1) diabetic women between 1971 and 1984." <u>Q J Med</u> **61**(236): 1159-1169.

Smith, D. E. and Gridley, T. (1992). "Differential screening of a PCR-generated mouse embryo cDNA library: glucose transporters are differentially expressed in early postimplantation mouse embryos." <u>Development</u> **116**(3): 555-561.

Soler, N. G., Walsh, C. H. and Malins, J. M. (1976). "Congenital Malformations in Infants of Diabetic Mothers." QJM **45**(2): 303-313.

Srinivason, V., Tatu, U., Mohen, V. and Balasubramantam, M. (2009). "Molecular convergence of hexosamine biosynthetic pathway and ER stress leading to insulin resistance in L6 skeletal muscle cells". <u>Mol Cell Biochem</u> **328**(1-2): 217-224.

Stampinato, D., Giaccari, A., Trischitta, V., Costanzo, B. V., Morviducci, L., Buongiorno, A., Di Mario, U., Vigneri, R. and Frittitta, L. (2003). "Rats that are made insulin resistant by glucosamine treatment have impaired skeletal muscle insulin receptor phosphorylation". <u>Metabolism</u> **52**(9): 1092-1095.

Stankiewicz, M., SMITH, C., Alvino, H. and Norman, R. (2007). "The use of complementary medicine and therapies by patients attending a reproductive medicine unit in South Australia: A prospective survey." <u>Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology</u> **47**(2): 145-149.

Steel, J. M., Johnstone, F. D., Hepburn, D. A. and Smith, A. F. (1990). "Can prepregnancy care of diabetic women reduce the risk of abnormal babies?" <u>BMJ</u> **301**(6760): 1070-1074.

Stella, C. L., O'Brien, J. M., Forrester, K. J., Barton, J. R., Istwan, N., Rhea, D. and Sibai, B.
M. (2008). "The coexistence of gestational hypertension and diabetes: influence on pregnancy outcome." <u>Am J Perinatol</u> 25(6): 325-329.

Strandberg, T. E., Andersson, S., Jarvenpaa, A. L. and McKeigue, P. M. (2002). "Preterm birth and licorice consumption during pregnancy." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **156**(9): 803-805.

Strandberg, T. E., Jarvenpaa, A. L., Vanhanen, H. and mcKeigue, P. M. (2001). "Birth outcome in relation to licorice consumption during pregnancy." <u>Am J Epidemiol</u> **153**(11): 1085-1088.

Suchanek, E., V. Simunic, V., Juretic., D Grizelj, V. (1994). "Follicular fluid contents of hyaluronic acid, follicle-stimulating hormone and steroids relative to the success of in vitro fertilization of human oocytes." <u>Fertil Steril</u> **62**(2): 347-352.

Suhonen, L., Hiilesmaa, V. and Teramo, K. (2000). "Glycaemic control during early pregnancy and fetal malformations in women with type I diabetes mellitus." <u>Diabetologia</u> **43**(1): 79-82.

Sutton, M. L., Cetica, P. D., Beconi, M. T., Kind, K. L., Gilchrist, R. B. and Thompson, J. G. (2003). "Influence of oocyte-secreted factors and culture duration on the metabolic activity of bovine cumulus cell complexes." <u>Reproduction</u> **126**(1): 27-34.

Sutton-McDowall, M. L., Gilchrist, R. B and Thompson, J. G. (2004). "Cumulus expansion and glucose utilisation by bovine cumulus-oocyte complexes during in vitro maturation: the influence of glucosamine and follicle-stimulating hormone." <u>Reproduction</u> **128**(3): 313-319.

Sutton-McDowall, M. L., Gilchrist, R. B. and Thompson, J. G. (2005). "Effect of hexoses and gonadotrophin supplementation on bovine oocyte nuclear maturation during in vitro maturation in a synthetic follicle fluid medium." <u>Reprod Fertil Dev</u> **17**(4): 407-415.

Sutton-McDowall, M. L., Mitchell, M., Cetica, P., Dalvit, G., Pantaleon, M., Lane, M., Gilchrist, R. B. and Thompson, J. G. (2006). "Glucosamine supplementation during in vitro maturation inhibits subsequent embryo development: possible role of the hexosamine pathway as a regulator of developmental competence." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **74**(5): 881-888.

Takao, Y., Akazawa, S., Matsumoto, K., Takino, H., akazawa, M., Trocino, R. A., Maeda, Y., Okuno. S., Kawasaki, E. and Uotoni, S. (1993). "Glucose transporter gene expression in rat conceptus during high glucose culture." <u>Diabetologia</u> **36**(8): 696-706.

Tal, M., Liang, Y., Najafi, H., Lodish, H. F. & Matschinsky, F. M. (1992). "Expression and function of GLUT-1 and GLUT-2 glucose transporter isoforms in cells of cultured rat pancreatic islets." <u>JBC</u> **267**(24): 17241-17247.

Talbot, P. (1984). "Hyaluronidase dissolves a component in the hamster zona pellucida." J <u>Exp Zool.</u> **229**(2): 309-316.

Tam, W. H., Ma, R. C., Yang, X., Ko, T., Tong, P. C., Cockram, C. S., Sahoto, D. S., Rogers, M. S. and Chan, J. C. (2008). "Glucose intolerance and cardiometabolic risk in children exposed to maternal gestational diabetes mellitus in utero." <u>Pediatrics</u> **122**(6): 1229-1234.

Tang, J., Neidigh, J. L., Cooksey, R. C and McClain, D. A. (2000). "Transgenic mice with increased hexosamine flux specifically targeted to beta-cells exhibit hyperinsulinemia and peripheral insulin resistance." <u>Diabetes</u> **49**(9): 1492-1499.

Tannis, A. J., Barban, J. and conquer, J. A. (2004). "Effect of glucosamine supplementation on fasting and non-fasting plasma glucose and serum insulin concentrations in healthy individuals." <u>Osteoarthritis Cartilage</u> **12**(6): 506-511.

Tapadinhas, M. J., Rivera, I. C. and Bignamini, A. A. (1982). "Oral glucosamine sulphate in the management of arthrosis: report on a multi-centre open investigation in Portugal." <u>Pharmatherapeutica</u> **3**(3): 157-168.

Tarin, J. J., Vendrell, F. J., Ten, J. and Cano, A. (1998). "Antioxidant therapy counteracts the disturbing effects of diamide and maternal aging on meiotic division and chromosomal segregation in mouse oocytes". <u>Mol Hum Reprod</u> **4**(3): 281-288.

Tatemoto, H., Sakurai, N. and Muto, N. (2000). "Protection of porcine oocytes against apoptotic cell death caused by oxidative stress during in vitro maturation: role of cumulus cells". <u>Biol Reprod</u> **63**(3): 805-810.

Temple, R., Aldridge, V., Greenwood, R., Heyburn, P., Sampson, M. and Stanley, K. (2002). "Association between outcome of pregnancy and glycaemic control in early pregnancy in type 1 diabetes: population based study." <u>BMJ</u> **325**(7375): 1275-1276.

Thomas, R. E., Armstrong, D. T. and Gilchrist, R. B. (2004). "Bovine cumulus cell-oocyte gap junctional communication during in vitro maturation in response to manipulation of cell-specific cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosophate levels." <u>Biol Reprod</u> **70**(3): 548-56.

Thomson, M. J., Williams, M. G. and Frost, S. C. (1997). "Development of insulin resistance in 3T3-L1 adipocytes". <u>J Biol Chem</u> **272**(12): 7759-7764.

Torres, C. R. and Hart, G. W. (1984). "Topography and polypeptide distribution of terminal Nacetylglucosamine residues on the surfaces of intact lymphocytes. Evidence for O-linked GlcNAc." J Biol Chem **259**(5): 3308-3317.

Tortoriello, D. V., McMinn, J. and Chua, S. C. (2004). "Dietary-induced obesity and hypothalamic infertility in female DBA/2J mice." <u>Endocrinology</u> **145**(3): 1238-1247.

Traxinger, R. R. and Marshall, S. (1992). "Insulin regulation of pyruvate kinase activity in isolated adipocytes. Crucial role of glucose and the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway in the expression of insulin action." <u>J Biol Chem</u> **267**(14): 9718-9723.

Uldry, M., Ibberson, M., Hosokawa, M. and Thorens, B. (2002). "GLUT2 is a high affinity glucosamine transporter." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **524**(1-3): 199-203.

van de Leemput, E. E., Vos, P. L., Zeinstra, E. C., Bevers, M. M., van der Weijden, G. C. and Dieleman, S. J. (1999). "Improved in vitro embryo development using in vivo matured oocytes from heifers superovulated with a controlled preovulatory LH surge." <u>Theriogenology</u> **52**(2): 335-349.

van der Hyden, B. C., Caron, P. J., Buccione, R and Eppig, J. J. (1990). "Developmental pattern of the secretion of cumulus expansion-enabling factor by mouse oocytes and the role of oocytes in promoting granulosa cell differentiation." <u>Dev Biol</u> **140**(2): 307-317.

Van Hoeck, V., Sturmey, R. G., Bermejo-Alvarez, P., Rizos, D., Gutierrez-Adan, A., Leese, H. J., Bols, P. E. & Leroy, J. L. (2011). "Elevated non-esterified fatty acid concentrations during bovine oocyte maturation compromise early embryo physiology." <u>PLoS</u> <u>One</u> **6**(8): e23181.

Veerababu, G., Tang, J., Hoffman, R. T., Daniels, M. C., Hebert, L. F. (Jr)., Crook, E. D., Cooksey, R. C. and McClain, D. A. (2000). "Overexpression of glutamine: fructose-6-

phosphate amidotransferase in the liver of transgenic mice results in enhanced glycogen storage, hyperlipidemia, obesity, and impaired glucose tolerance." <u>Diabetes</u> **49**(12): 2070-2078.

Veselá, J., Čikos, Š., Hlinka, D., Rehák, P, Baran, V. and Koppel, J. (1995). "Effects of impaired insulin secretion on the fertilization of mouse oocytes." <u>European Society for</u> <u>Human Reproduction and Embryology</u> **10**(12): 3233-3236.

Viana, M., Castro, M., Barbas, C., Herrera, E. and Bonet, B. (2003). "Effect of different doses of vitamin E on the incidence of malformations in pregnant diabetic rats." <u>Ann Nutr</u> <u>Metab</u> **47**(1): 6-10.

Virkamaki, A., Daniels, M. C., Hamalainen, S., Utriainen, T., McClain, D. and Yki-Jarvinen, H. (1997). "Activation of the hexosamine pathway by glucosamine in vivo induces insulin resistance in multiple insulin sensitive tissues." <u>Endocrinology</u> **138**(6): 2501-2507.

Virkamaki, A. and Yki-Jarvinen, H. (1999). "Allosteric regulation of glycogen synthase and hexokinase by glucosamine-6-phosphate during glucosamine-induced insulin resistance in skeletal muscle and heart." <u>Diabetes</u> **48**(5): 1101-1107.

Vohr, B. R., McGarvey, S. T. and Tucker, R. (1999). "Effects of maternal gestational diabetes on offspring adiposity at 4-7 years of age." <u>Diabetes Care</u> **22**(8): 1284-1291.

Vosseller, K., Wells, L., Lane, M. D. and Hart, G. W. (2002). "Elevated nucleocytoplasmic glycosylation by O-GlcNAc results in insulin resistance associated with defects in Akt activation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes." <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A</u> **99**(8): 5313-5318.

Waechter, C. J. and Harford, J. B. (1977). "Evidence for the enzymatic transfer of Nacetylglucosamine from UDP--N-acetylglucosamine into dolichol derivative and glycoproteins by calf brain membranes." <u>Arch Biochem Biophys</u> **181**(1):185-198.

Wakefield, S. L., Lane, M., Schulz, S. J., Hebart, M. L., Thompson, J. G. and Mitchell, M. (2008). "Maternal supply of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids alter mechanisms involved

in oocyte and early embryo development in the mouse." <u>Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab</u> **294**(2): E425-334.

Walker, A. (1928). "Diabetes Mellitus and Pregnancy." Proc R Soc Med 21(3):377-385.

Wallis, M. G., Smith, M. E., Kolka, C. M., Zhang, L., Richards, S. M., Rattigan, S. and Clark,
M. G. (2005). "Acute glucosamine induced insulin resistance in muscle in vivo is associated with impaired capillary recruitment." <u>Diabetologia</u> 48(10): 2131-2139.

Wang, J., Liu, R., Hawkins, M., Barzilai, N. and Rossetti, L. (1998). "A nutrient-sensing pathway regulates leptin gene expression in muscle and fat." <u>Nature</u> **393**(6686): 684-688.

Wang, Q., Ratchford, A. M., Chi, M. M-Y., Schoeller, E., Frolova, A., Schedl, T. and Moley, K.
H. (2009). "Maternal Diabetes Causes Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Meiotic Defects in Murine Oocytes." <u>Molecular Endocrinology</u> 23(10): 1603-1612.

Weiden, S. and Wood, I. J. (1958). "The fate of glucosamine hydrochloride injected intravenously in man." <u>J Clin Pathol</u> **11**(4): 343-349.

Wells, L. and Hart, G. W. (2003). "O-GlcNAc turns twenty: functional implications for posttranslational modification of nuclear and cytosolic proteins with a sugar." <u>FEBS Lett</u> **546**(1): 154-158.

White, A. P. (1948). "Diabetes and Pregnancy, its effects on the fetus, infant and child." <u>Am J</u> <u>Dis Child</u> **75**(3):472-480.

Whiteman, D. C., Sadeghi, S., Pandeya, N., Smithers, B. M., Gotley, D. C., Bain, C. J., Webb, P. M. and Green, A. C. (2008). "Combined effects of obesity, acid reflux and smoking on the risk of adenocarcinomas of the oesophagus." <u>Gut</u> **57**(2): 173-180.

Wilkinson, J. M. and Jelinek, H. (2009). "Complementary medicine use among attendees at a rural health screening clinic." <u>Complement Ther Clin Pract</u> **15**(2): 80-84.

Williams, S. A., Blache, D., Martin, G. B., Foot, R., Blackberry, M. A. and Scaramuzzi, R. J. (2001). "Effect of nutritional supplementation on quantities of glucose transporters 1 and 4 in sheep granulosa and theca cells." <u>Reproduction</u> **122**(6): 947-956.

Wold, R. S., Lopez, S. T., Yau, C. L., Butler, L. M., Pareo-Yubbeh, S. L., Waters, D. L., Garry, P. J. and Baumgartner, R. N. (2005). "Increasing trends in elderly persons' use of nonvitamin, nonmineral dietary supplements and concurrent use of medications." <u>J Am Diet</u> <u>Assoc</u> **105**(1): 54-63.

Wrenzycki, C., Herrmann, D., Carnwath, J. W. and Niemann, H. (1998). "Expression of RNA from developmentally important genes in preimplantation bovine embryos produced in TCM supplemented with BSA." <u>J Reprod Fertil</u> **112**(2): 387-398.

Wu, L. L-Y., Dunning, K. R., Yang, X., Russell, D. L., Lane, M., Norman, R. J. & Robker, R.
L. (2010). "High-fat diet causes lipotoxicity responses in cumulus oocyte complexes and decreased fertilisation rates." <u>Reproduct Devel</u> **151**(1): 5438-5446.

Wu, J. S. & Lever, J. E. (1987). "Purification and reconstitution of a 75-kilodalton protein identified as a component of the renal Na+/glucose symporter." <u>Biochemistry</u> **26**(22): 5958-5962.

Wyman, A., Pinto, A. B., Sheridan, R. and Moley, K. H. (2008). "One-cell zygote transfer from diabetic to nondiabetic mouse results in congenital malformations and growth retardation in offspring." <u>Endocrinology</u> **149**(2): 466-469.

Xiang, Z. F., Zhang, J. Z., Li, Xue B., Xie, H. B. & Wang, Q. H. (2010). "Comparison of gene expression between cumulus oocyte complexes and naked oocytes by suppression subtractive hybridization in swine." <u>The Free Library</u>. Retrieved May 11, 2012 from <u>http://www.thefreelibrary.com/Comparison of gene expression between cumulus oocyte complexes and...-a0218449479</u>.

Xing, D., Feng, W., Not, L. G., Miller, A. P., Zhang, Y., Chen, Y. F., Majid-Hassan, E., Chatham, J. C. and Oparil, S. (2008). "Increased protein O-GlcNAc modification inhibits

inflammatory and neointimal responses to acute endoluminal arterial injury." <u>Am J Physiol</u> <u>Heart Circ Physiol</u> **295**(1): H335-342.

Yang, H. W., Hwang, K. J., Kwon, H. C., Kim, H. S., Choi, K. C. and Oh, K. S. (1998). "Detection of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and apoptosis in human fragmented embryos". <u>Hum Reprod</u> **13**(4): 998-1002.

Yao, P. J. and Coleman, P. D. (1998). "Reduction of O-linked N-acetylglucosamine-modified assembly protein-3 in Alzheimer's disease." <u>J Neurosci</u> **18**(7): 2399-2411.

Yki-Jarvinen, H., Virkamaki, A., Daniels, M. C., McClain, D. and Gottschalk, W. K. (1998). "Insulin and glucosamine infusions increase O-linked N-acetyl-glucosamine in skeletal muscle proteins in vivo." <u>Metabolism</u> **47**(4): 449-455.

Yoshikawa, H., Tajiri, Y., Sako, Y., Hashimato, T., Umeda, F. and Nawata, H. (2002). "Glucosamine-induced beta-cell dysfunction: a possible involvement of glucokinase or glucose-transporter type 2." <u>Pancreas</u> **24**(3): 228-234.

Yoshino, K., Takeda, N., Sugimoto, M., Nakashima, K., Okumara, S., Hattori, J., Sasaki, A., Kawachi, S., Takami, R. and Yasuda, K. (1999). "Differential effects of troglitazone and D-chiroinositol on glucosamine-induced insulin resistance in rats". <u>Metabolism</u> **48**(11): 1418-1423.

Yu, J. G., Boies, S. M. and Olefsky, J. M. (2003). "The effect of oral glucosamine sulfate on insulin sensitivity in humans". <u>Diabetes Care</u> **26**(6): 1941-1942.

Zain, M. M. and Norman, R. J. (2008). "Impact of obesity on female fertility and fertility treatment." <u>Womens Health (Lond Engl)</u> **4**(2): 183-194.

Zhou, J., Bievre, M. and Bondy, C. A. (2000). "Reduced GLUT1 expression in Igf1-/- null oocytes and follicles." <u>Growth Horm IGF Res</u> **10**(3): 111-117.

Zigman, J. M., Nakano, Y., Coppari, R., Balthasar, N., Marcus, J. N., Lee, C. E., Jones, J. E., Deysher, A. E., Waxman, A. R., White, R. D., Williams, T. D., Lachey, J. L., Seeley, R. J., Lowell, B. B. and Elmquist, J. K. (2005). "Mice lacking ghrelin receptors resist the development of diet-induced obesity." J Clin Invest **115**(12): 3564-3572.